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     This Current Report on Form 8-K is filed by ViaSat, Inc., a Delaware corporation, in connection with the matters described herein.

Item 5. Other Events.

     On December 12, 2001, we acquired all outstanding preferred units of U.S. Monolithics, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company (“USM”), from Wildblue
Communications, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Wildblue”), pursuant to a Unit Purchase Agreement dated as of December 12, 2001 (the “Wildblue
Agreement”). The preferred units comprise approximately 35% of the outstanding equity interests of USM. In addition, on December 14, 2001 we entered into
another Unit Purchase Agreement to acquire all outstanding common units of USM (the “USM Agreement”). The aggregate purchase price for the preferred and
common units of USM is approximately $30 million. The acquisition of the common units is subject to customary closing conditions and is expected to occur in
early January 2002. After the closing, we will become the sole equity holder of USM, which will continue its business as our wholly-owned subsidiary.

     Under the terms of the Wildblue Agreement, we exchanged (a) a secured promissory note in the amount of $6,000,000, (b) an unsecured promissory note in
the amount of $500,000 and (c) a credit of $3,500,000 against certain payment obligations of Wildblue under a commercial agreement that we entered into with
Wildblue concurrently with the signing of the Wildblue Agreement, for all of the outstanding preferred units of USM. The unsecured note bears interest at the rate
of 5% per annum, with all principal and interest due on January 31, 2002. The secured note also bears interest at the rate of 5% per annum, with all principal and
interest due on the earlier of: (1) January 31, 2002, and (2) the occurrence of specified events. In addition, we entered into a security agreement with Wildblue
pledging a portion of the preferred units of USM to secure our payment obligations under the secured note.

     Under the terms of the USM Agreement, subject to certain adjustments that may occur at the closing, we will exchange (a) an aggregate of 1,163,190 shares of
our common stock and (b) $760,214 in cash (the “Acquisition Consideration”) for all of the outstanding common units of USM. The Acquisition Consideration is
subject to certain closing adjustments as to the mix of shares of common stock and cash to be issued to certain sellers at the closing. The USM Agreement also
provides that approximately 65% of the Acquisition Consideration will be placed in escrow for the purpose of securing the indemnification obligations of the
sellers. The portion of the Acquisition Consideration placed in escrow is to be released in three equal annual installments, subject to any indemnification claims.
The shares of our common stock to be issued under the USM Agreement will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933. The USM Agreement
obligates us to file a registration statement registering approximately 35% of the shares (1) within 45 days of the closing, if the closing occurs in 2001, or
(2) within 90 days of the closing, if the closing occurs in 2002.

     Founded in 1998, USM is primarily focused on developing proprietary gallium arsenide (GaAs) millimeter wave Integrated Circuits (MMICs) for use in
broadband communications. USM’s systems background and proprietary capabilities have also enabled them to design power amplifiers, frequency block
upconverters, and entire transceivers for the high frequency, broadband markets. USM also has strong capabilities with respect to high frequency packaging.

     The foregoing description of the Wildblue Agreement, the USM Agreement, the promissory notes, the security agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereby does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of such agreements, which are attached hereto as Exhibits 10.1
through 10.5 and incorporated herein by reference. The press release issued by ViaSat on December 19, 2001 regarding the above-described transactions is
attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and incorporated herein by reference. Also attached hereto as Exhibits 99.2 and 99.3 are historical financial statements of USM,
which may not have been prepared in certain respects in accordance with applicable SEC and accounting regulations.
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Item 7. Exhibits.

(c)  Exhibits.

   
Exhibit   
Number  Description of Exhibit

 
10.1  Unit Purchase Agreement dated as of December 12, 2001 by and between ViaSat, Inc. and Wildblue Communications, Inc.

 
10.2*

 

Secured Note dated December 12, 2001 by ViaSat, Inc. in favor of Wildblue Communications, Inc. Portions of this Exhibit (indicated
by asterisks) have been omitted under a request for confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934.

 
10.3  Unsecured Note dated December 12, 2001 by ViaSat, Inc. in favor of Wildblue Communications, Inc.

 
10.4  Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of December 12, 2001 by and between ViaSat, Inc. and Wildblue Communications, Inc.

 
10.5

 
Unit Purchase Agreement dated as of December 14, 2001 by and among ViaSat, Inc. and the parties identified under the heading
“Sellers” on the signature pages thereto.

 
23.1  Consent of Nelson Lambson & Co., PLC.

 
99.1  Press Release, dated December 19, 2001.

 
99.2  Audited Financial Statements of U.S. Monolithics, LLC, for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.

 
99.3

 
Unaudited Balance Sheet, Income Statement and Statement of Cash Flows of U.S. Monolithics, LLC, for the nine-month period
ended September 30, 2001.

 
*

 
A request for confidential treatment with respect to portions of this Exhibit that have been omitted (indicated by asterisks) is currently
pending.
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SIGNATURE

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
hereunto duly authorized.

Date: December 19, 2001 VIASAT, INC.

 By: /s/ Gregory D. Monahan

Gregory D. Monahan
Vice President-Administration, General
Counsel and Secretary
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EXHIBIT INDEX

   
Exhibit   
Number  Description of Exhibit

 
10.1  Unit Purchase Agreement dated as of December 12, 2001 by and between ViaSat, Inc. and Wildblue Communications, Inc.

 
10.2*

 

Secured Note dated December 12, 2001 by ViaSat, Inc. in favor of Wildblue Communications, Inc. Portions of this Exhibit (indicated
by asterisks) have been omitted under a request for confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934.

 
10.3  Unsecured Note dated December 12, 2001 by ViaSat, Inc. in favor of Wildblue Communications, Inc.

 
10.4  Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of December 12, 2001 by and between ViaSat, Inc. and Wildblue Communications, Inc.

 
10.5

 
Unit Purchase Agreement dated as of December 14, 2001 by and among ViaSat, Inc. and the parties identified under the heading
“Sellers” on the signature pages thereto.

 
23.1  Consent of Nelson Lambson & Co., PLC.

 
99.1  Press Release, dated December 19, 2001.

 
99.2  Audited Financial Statements of U.S. Monolithics, LLC, for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.

 
99.3

 
Unaudited Balance Sheet, Income Statement and Statement of Cash Flows of U.S. Monolithics, LLC, for the nine-month period
ended September 30, 2001.

 
* A request for confidential treatment with respect to portions of this Exhibit that have been omitted (indicated by asterisks) is currently

pending.
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                             UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 

        This Unit Purchase Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into as of 

December 12, 2001 by and between ViaSat, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the 

"Buyer"), and Wildblue Communications, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the 

"Seller"). The Buyer and the Seller are referred to collectively herein as the 

"Parties." 

 

        The Seller owns the Units (as defined below) representing all of its 

equity interests in U.S. Monolithics, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company 

(the "Company"). 

 

        This Agreement contemplates a transaction in which (a) the Buyer will 

purchase from the Seller, and the Seller will sell to the Buyer, the Units, (b) 

the Buyer will become a substitute member of the Company, and (c) the Buyer and 

the Seller will amend certain existing agreements by and between them, on the 

terms set forth herein. 

 

        Now, therefore, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises 

herein made, and in consideration of the representations, warranties, and 

covenants herein contained, the Parties agree as follows. 

 

        1. Definitions. 

 

        "Adverse Consequences" means all actions, suits, proceedings, hearings, 

investigations, charges, complaints, claims, demands, injunctions, judgments, 

orders, decrees, rulings, damages, dues, penalties, fines, costs, amounts paid 

in settlement, Liabilities, obligations, Taxes, liens, losses, expenses, and 

fees, including arbitration costs, court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees 

and expenses. 

 

        "Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 of the regulations 

promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

 

        "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Buyer" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Buyer Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a) 

below. 

 

        "Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(b) below. 

 

        "Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(b) below. 

 

        "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 

        "Company" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Confidential Information" means any information concerning the 

businesses and affairs of the Company that is not already generally available to 

the public. 

 

        "D&L Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 3(h) below. 
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        "Escrow Agreement" means the Escrow Agreement in form and substance as 

set forth in Exhibit A hereto. 

 

        "Liability" means any liability (whether known or unknown, whether 

asserted or unasserted, whether absolute or contingent, whether accrued or 

unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated, and whether due or to become 

due), including any liability for Taxes. 

 

        "New Development Agreement" means the Agreement for Satellite Modem and 

Wildblue Satellite Terminal and Satellite Modem Termination System Development, 

Production and Purchase by and between the Buyer and the Seller in form and 

substance as set forth in Exhibit B hereto. 

 

        "Operating Agreement" means the Company's Amended and Restated Operating 

Agreement (as amended to date). 

 

        "Party" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Patent Application" has the meaning set forth in Section 5(d) below. 

 

        "Person" means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, an 

association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated 

organization, or a governmental entity (or any department, agency, or political 

subdivision thereof). 

 

        "Pledge Agreement" means the Pledge and Security Agreement in form and 

substance as set forth in Exhibit D hereto. 

 

        "Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a) below. 

 

        "SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

 

        "Secured Note" means the secured promissory note in the aggregate 

principal amount of Six Million U.S. Dollars (US$6,000,000) in form and 

substance as set forth in Exhibit C-1 hereto. 

 

        "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

 

        "Security Interest" means any mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance, 

charge, or other security interest of any kind. 

 

        "Seller" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Seller Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(c) 

below. 

 

        "Tax" means any federal, state, local, or foreign income, gross 

receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, 

premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Code Section 

59A), customs duties, membership interests, franchise, profits, withholding, 

social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, real property, personal 

property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on 

minimum, 
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estimated, or other tax or similar charge of any kind whatsoever, including any 

interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether disputed or not. 

 

        "Tax Return" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or 

information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or 

attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof. 

 

        "Units" means 16,153,846.15 Class B Units (as defined in the Operating 

Agreement). 

 

        "Unsecured Note" means the unsecured promissory note in the aggregate 

principal amount of Five Hundred Thousand U.S. Dollars (US$500,000) in form and 

substance as set forth in Exhibit C-2 hereto. 

 

        2. Purchase and Sale of the Units and the Closing. 

 

                (a) Purchase and Sale of the Units. On and subject to the terms 

of this Agreement, the Buyer shall purchase from the Seller, and the Seller 

shall sell to the Buyer the Units, which Units represent all of the Seller's 

equity interests in the Company, for consideration of Ten Million U.S. Dollars 

(US$10,000,000) (the "Purchase Price") payable as follows: (i) the Secured Note, 

(ii) the Unsecured Note, and (iii) a credit of Three Million Five Hundred 

Thousand U.S. Dollars (US$3,500,000) against the Seller's payment obligations to 

the Buyer under the New Development Agreement. 

 

                (b) The Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated 

by this Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place at the offices of Latham & 

Watkins, 12636 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300, San Diego, CA 92130 commencing at 

9:00 a.m. local time on December 12, 2001, or such other date as the Buyer and 

the Seller may mutually determine (the "Closing Date"). 

 

                (c) Deliveries at the Closing. 

 

                        (i) At the Closing, the Seller will deliver to the 

Buyer: 

 

                                (A) this Agreement duly executed by the Seller; 

 

                                (B) certificates representing the Units, duly 

                        endorsed in blank or accompanied by duly executed 

                        assignment documents provided, however, that 

                        certificates representing 9,692,307.69 of the Units duly 

                        endorsed in blank or accompanied by duly executed 

                        assignment documents shall be delivered to the Escrow 

                        Agent (as defined in the Escrow Agreement) by the 

                        Seller, on behalf of the Buyer, and shall be governed by 

                        the Escrow Agreement; 

 

                                (C) an officer's certificate attaching 

                        resolutions duly adopted by the Seller's board of 

                        directors approving this Agreement and the transactions 

                        contemplated hereby; 
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                                (D) an opinion, addressed to the Buyer, and 

                        dated as of the Closing Date, in form and substance 

                        reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer; 

 

                                (E) reasonable evidence that David M. Brown and 

                        Thomas E. Moore have resigned as managers of the Company 

                        as of the Closing; 

 

                                (F) reasonable evidence that the Company has 

                        waived all rights of first offer with respect to the 

                        Units under Section 14.7 of the Operating Agreement; 

 

                                (G) the New Development Agreement duly executed 

                        by the Seller; 

 

                                (H) the Pledge Agreement duly executed by the 

                        Seller; 

 

                                (I) the Escrow Agreement duly executed by the 

                        Seller; 

 

                                (J) the Patent Assignment in form and substance 

                        as set forth in Exhibit E attached hereto duly executed 

                        by the Seller; and 

 

                                (K) all other certificates, opinions, 

                        instruments, and other documents reasonably required of 

                        the Seller to effect the transactions contemplated 

                        hereby, in each case reasonably satisfactory in form and 

                        substance to the Buyer. 

 

                        (ii) At the Closing, the Buyer will deliver to the 

                        Seller: 

 

                                (A) this Agreement duly executed by the Buyer; 

 

                                (B) the Secured Note and the Unsecured Note, 

                        each duly executed by the Buyer; 

 

                                (C) an officer's certificate attaching 

                        resolutions duly adopted by the Buyer's board of 

                        directors approving this Agreement and the transactions 

                        contemplated hereby; 

 

                                (D) an opinion, addressed to the Seller, and 

                        dated as of the Closing Date, in form and substance 

                        reasonably satisfactory to the Seller; 

 

                                (E) reasonable evidence that the Buyer has 

                        agreed in writing to be bound by the Operating Agreement 

                        and to become a substitute member of the Company; 

 

                                (F) the New Development Agreement duly executed 

                        by the Buyer; 

 

                                (G) the Pledge Agreement duly executed by the 

                        Buyer; 

 

                                (H) the Escrow Agreement duly executed by the 

                        Buyer; and 
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                                (I) all other certificates, opinions, 

                        instruments, and other documents reasonably required of 

                        the Buyer to effect the transactions contemplated 

                        hereby, in each case reasonably satisfactory in form and 

                        substance to the Seller. 

 

        3. Representations and Warranties Concerning the Transaction. The Seller 

hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer that: 

 

                (a) Organization of the Seller. The Seller is duly organized, 

validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware 

with all requisite corporate power and authority to carry on its business as 

currently conducted and to own, lease, use and operate its assets. 

 

                (b) Authorization of Transaction. The Seller has full corporate 

power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its 

obligations hereunder. This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding 

obligation of the Seller, enforceable in accordance with its terms and 

conditions, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, 

insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws now or hereafter in 

effect relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to the 

limitations imposed by general equitable principles. The Seller need not give 

any notice to, make any filing with, or obtain any authorization, consent, or 

approval of any government, governmental agency or third party in order to 

consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, other than such 

notices, filings, authorizations, consents and approvals the failure to obtain 

or make would not have a material adverse effect on the Buyer or the Company. 

 

                (c) Noncontravention. Subject to the Company delivering the 

waiver contemplated by Section 2(c)(i)(F), neither the execution and the 

delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated 

hereby will (i) violate any constitution, statute, regulation, rule, injunction, 

judgment, order, decree, ruling, charge, or other restriction of any government, 

governmental agency, or court to which the Seller is subject or any provision of 

its charter or bylaws or (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a 

default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to 

accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel, or require any notice under any 

material agreement, contract, lease, license, instrument, or other arrangement 

to which the Seller is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its 

assets is subject (or result in the imposition of any Security Interest upon any 

of its assets). 

 

                (d) Brokers' Fees. The Seller has no Liability or obligation to 

pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder, or agent with respect to the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement for which the Buyer could become 

liable or obligated. 

 

                (e) Investment. The Seller (i) understands that the Secured Note 

and the Unsecured Note have not been, and will not be, registered under the 

Securities Act, or under any state securities laws, and are being offered and 

sold in reliance upon federal and state exemptions for transactions not 

involving any public offering, (ii) is acquiring the Secured Note and the 

Unsecured Note solely for its own account for investment purposes, and not with 

a view to the distribution thereof, (iii) is a sophisticated investor with 

knowledge and experience in business and financial matters, (iv) has received 

certain information concerning the Buyer and has had the 

 

 

                                       5 



 

 

opportunity to obtain additional information as desired in order to evaluate the 

merits and the risks inherent in holding the Secured Note and the Unsecured 

Note, and (v) is an Accredited Investor. 

 

                (f) The Units. The Seller holds of record and owns beneficially 

the Units, free and clear of any restrictions on transfer (other than any 

restrictions under the Securities Act and state securities laws), Taxes, 

Security Interests, options, warrants, purchase rights, contracts, commitments, 

equities, claims, and demands. The Seller is not a party to any option, warrant, 

purchase right, or other contract or commitment that could require the Seller to 

sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of any of the Units (other than this 

Agreement). The Seller is not a party to any voting trust, proxy, or other 

agreement or understanding with respect to the voting of any of the Units. Upon 

the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the Buyer will acquire 

good and marketable title to the Units, free and clear of any restrictions on 

transfer (other than any restrictions under the Securities Act and state 

securities laws), Taxes, Security Interests, options, warrants, purchase rights, 

contracts, commitments, equities, claims and demands. 

 

                (g) Tax Advice. The Seller has reviewed with its own tax 

advisors the federal, state and local tax consequences of the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement. The Seller is relying solely on such advisors 

and not on any statements or representations of the Company or the Buyer or any 

of their respective agents. 

 

                (h) Company Delivery. The Company has delivered to the Seller 

the First Article Prototype in accordance with Section 1.2 of the Development 

and License Agreement dated March 24, 2000 between iSKY, Inc. (now known as the 

Seller) and the Company (the "D&L Agreement") that meets all requirements and 

specifications under the D&L Agreement. The Company is not in default under, or 

in breach of, the D&L Agreement. 

 

        4. Representations and Warranties of the Buyer. The Buyer represents and 

warrants to the Seller that: 

 

                (a) Organization of the Buyer. The Buyer is a corporation duly 

organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the State of 

Delaware with all requisite corporate power and authority to carry on its 

business as currently conducted and to own, lease, use and operate its assets. 

 

                (b) Authorization of Transaction. The Buyer has full corporate 

power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its 

obligations hereunder. This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding 

obligation of the Buyer, enforceable in accordance with its terms and 

conditions, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, 

insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws now or hereafter in 

effect relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to the 

limitations imposed by general equitable principles. The Buyer need not give any 

notice to, make any filing with, or obtain any authorization, consent, or 

approval of any government or governmental agency in order to consummate the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement, other than such notices, filings, 

authorizations, consents and approvals the failure to obtain or make would not 

have a material adverse effect on the Seller. 
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                (c) Noncontravention. Neither the execution and the delivery of 

this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will 

(i) violate any constitution, statute, regulation, rule, injunction, judgment, 

order, decree, ruling, charge, or other restriction of any government, 

governmental agency, or court to which the Buyer is subject or any provision of 

its charter or bylaws or (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a 

default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to 

accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel, or require any notice under any 

material agreement, contract, lease, license, instrument, or other arrangement 

to which the Buyer is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its 

assets is subject. 

 

                (d) Brokers' Fees. The Buyer has no Liability or obligation to 

pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder, or agent with respect to the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement for which the Seller could become 

liable or obligated. 

 

                (e) Investment. The Buyer (i) understands that the Units have 

not been, and will not be registered under the Securities Act, or under any 

state securities laws, and are being offered and sold in reliance upon federal 

and state exemptions for transactions not involving any public offering, (ii) is 

familiar with SEC Rule 144, as presently in effect, and understands the resale 

limitations imposed thereby and by the Securities Act, including without 

limitation, the fact that the Buyer may not be able to sell the Units pursuant 

to Rule 144 unless current information about the Company is available to the 

public, which information is not now available and there are no present plans to 

make such information available, (iii) is not acquiring the Units with a view to 

or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof within the meaning of 

the Securities Act, (iv) is a sophisticated investor with knowledge and 

experience in business and financial matters, (v) has received certain 

information concerning the Company and has had the opportunity to obtain 

additional information as desired in order to evaluate the merits and the risks 

inherent in holding the Units, (vi) is able to bear the economic risk and lack 

of liquidity inherent in holding the Units, and (vii) is an Accredited Investor. 

 

                (f) Tax Advice. The Buyer has reviewed with its own tax advisors 

the federal, state and local tax consequences of the transactions contemplated 

by this Agreement. The Buyer is relying solely on such advisors and not on any 

statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents. 

 

        5. Post-Closing Covenants. The Parties agree as follows with respect to 

the period following the Closing. 

 

                (a) General. In case at any time after the Closing any further 

action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, 

each of the Parties will take such further action (including the execution and 

delivery of such further instruments and documents) as the other Party may 

reasonably request, all at the sole cost and expense of the requesting Party 

(unless the requesting Party is entitled to indemnification therefor under 

Section 6 below). 

 

                (b) Litigation Support. In the event and for so long as any 

Party actively is contesting or defending against any action, suit, proceeding, 

hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand in connection with 

(i) any transaction contemplated under this 
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Agreement or (ii) any fact, situation, circumstance, status, condition, 

activity, practice, plan, occurrence, event, incident, action, failure to act, 

or transaction on or prior to the Closing Date involving the Company, the other 

Party will cooperate with the contesting or defending Party and its counsel in 

the contest or defense, make available its personnel, and provide such testimony 

and access to its books and records as shall be necessary in connection with the 

contest or defense, all at the sole cost and expense of the contesting or 

defending Party (unless the contesting or defending Party is entitled to 

indemnification therefor under Section 6 below). 

 

                (c) Confidentiality. The Seller will treat and hold as such all 

Confidential Information, refrain from using any Confidential Information except 

in connection with this Agreement, and deliver promptly to the Buyer or destroy, 

at the request and option of the Buyer, all tangible embodiments (and all 

copies) of the Confidential Information that are in its possession (except as 

permitted under existing agreements between the Seller and the Company). In the 

event that the Seller is requested or required (by oral question or request for 

information or documents in any legal proceeding, interrogatory, subpoena, civil 

investigative demand, or similar process) to disclose any Confidential 

Information, that Seller will notify the Buyer promptly of the request or 

requirement so that the Buyer may seek an appropriate protective order or waive 

compliance with the provisions of this Section 5(c). If, in the absence of a 

protective order or the receipt of a waiver hereunder, the Seller is, on the 

advice of counsel, compelled to disclose any Confidential Information to any 

tribunal or else stand liable for contempt, the Seller may disclose the 

Confidential Information to the tribunal; provided, however, that the Seller 

shall use its reasonable efforts to obtain, at the request of the Buyer, an 

order or other assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to such 

portion of the Confidential Information required to be disclosed as the Buyer 

shall designate. The foregoing provisions shall not apply to any Confidential 

Information that is generally available to the public immediately prior to the 

time of disclosure. 

 

                (d) Intellectual Property. The Company filed U.S. Patent 

Application No. 09/810,995 dated March 16, 2001 (the "Patent Application") 

directed towards RF forward power detection method using DC current detection. 

The Company will provide a copy of the Patent Application to the Seller, and, as 

soon as reasonably practicable after the Closing Date but in no event later than 

ten (10) business days after receiving a copy of the Patent Application from the 

Company, the Seller shall provide access to the Patent Application to all of the 

Seller's current employees (and shall make commercially reasonable efforts to 

provide such access to the Seller's former employees), if any, who the Seller 

reasonably believes might have contributed or presented a claim for inventorship 

in the Patent Application. Within ten (10) business days of receipt of the 

Patent Application from the Company, the Seller shall identify all such 

employees that the Seller reasonably believes should be named as inventors on 

the Patent Application, if any. If there are such employees of the Seller who 

the Seller reasonably believes should be added as inventors on the Patent 

Application, the Seller shall promptly notify the Company in writing. The Seller 

shall assign, and shall ensure that all such inventors (if necessary) assign, 

all their rights, title, and interest in the Patent Application to the Buyer or 

the Company as designated in writing by the Buyer. If the Seller concludes that 

none of its employees should be added as inventors on the Patent Application, it 

shall so notify the Buyer promptly in writing. The Seller shall treat the Patent 

Application as Confidential Information, shall provide the Buyer a list of all 

employees who reviewed the Patent Application and shall return to the Company 

any and all copies of the Patent Application. The Seller shall use commercially 

reasonable efforts to 
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ensure that none of its current or former employees or any other Person keeps 

any copies of the Patent Application. 

 

                (e) Escrow Agreement. The Parties shall negotiate in good faith 

and enter into an escrow agreement on or prior to January 31, 2002, in form and 

substance reasonably acceptable to each Party to provide an escrow for any 

payment obligations of the Seller to the Buyer that will become due after 

January 31, 2002, upon the delivery to the Seller by the Buyer of certain items 

in accordance with Section 17.1 of the New Development Agreement, it being 

understood that the Buyer shall, on behalf of the Seller, deliver to the escrow 

agent identified in the escrow agreement the amount of any such obligation up to 

Five Hundred Thousand U.S. Dollars (US$500,000) and any such amount delivered to 

the escrow agent by the Buyer shall be offset against any amounts due to the 

Seller by the Buyer under the Unsecured Note. 

 

                (f) Certain Taxes. All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, 

registration and other such Taxes and fees (including any penalties and 

interest) incurred in connection with this Agreement shall be paid by the Seller 

when due, and the Seller will, at its own expense, file all necessary Tax 

Returns and other documentation with respect to all such transfer, documentary, 

sales, use, stamp, registration and other Taxes and fees, and, if required by 

applicable law, the Buyer will, and will cause its Affiliates to, join in the 

execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation. 

 

        6. Remedies for Breaches of this Agreement. 

 

                (a) Indemnification by the Seller. The Seller shall indemnify 

and hold the Buyer and its Affiliates, successors and assigns and Persons 

serving as officers, directors, partners, managers, stockholders, members, 

employees and agents thereof (individually a "Buyer Indemnified Party" and 

collectively the "Buyer Indemnified Parties") harmless from and against any 

Adverse Consequences that may be sustained or suffered by any of them arising 

out of or based upon any of the following matters: 

 

                        (i) fraud, intentional misrepresentation or the willful 

                breach of any representations, warranties or covenants of the 

                Seller under this Agreement or in any certificate, Schedule, 

                Annex or Exhibit delivered pursuant hereto; and 

 

                        (ii) any breach of the representations and warranties 

                set forth in Section 3 or any covenant, agreement or obligation 

                of the Seller under this Agreement. 

 

                (b) Limitations on Indemnification by the Seller. Anything 

contained in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Liability of 

the Seller to provide any indemnification to any Buyer Indemnified Party and the 

right of the Buyer Indemnified Parties to indemnification under Section 6(a) 

shall be subject to the following provisions: 

 

                        (i) No claims for indemnification shall be made under 

                this Agreement against the Seller, and no indemnification shall 

                be payable to any Buyer Indemnified Party, with respect to 

                claims pursuant to Section 6(a)(ii) above, after the date that 

                is one year following the Closing (except for those claims that 

                were initiated prior to such one-year limitation). 
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                        (ii) In no event shall the maximum aggregate Liability 

                of the Seller under Section 6(a)(ii) exceed the Purchase Price. 

 

                        (iii) The Seller shall not be liable under Section 

                6(a)(ii) until the amount otherwise due to the Buyer Indemnified 

                Parties exceeds $100,000 in the aggregate, in which case the 

                Seller will be liable to the applicable Buyer Indemnified 

                Parties for the full amount due (including all amounts below 

                $100,000); provided, however, that this Section 6(b)(iii) shall 

                not apply to the Seller's payment obligations under Section 

                5(f). 

 

                        (iv) Claims for indemnification with respect to matters 

                set forth in Section 6(a)(i) shall not be subject to any of the 

                limitations set forth in this Section 6(b). 

 

                (c) Indemnification by the Buyer. The Buyer shall indemnify and 

hold the Seller and its Affiliates, successors and assigns and Persons serving 

as officers, directors, partners, managers, stockholders, members, employees and 

agents thereof (individually a "Seller Indemnified Party" and collectively the 

"Seller Indemnified Parties") harmless from and against any Adverse Consequences 

that may be sustained or suffered by any of them arising out of or based upon 

any of the following matters: 

 

                        (i) fraud, intentional misrepresentation or the willful 

                breach of any representations, warranties or covenants of the 

                Buyer under this Agreement or in any certificate, Schedule, 

                Annex or Exhibit delivered pursuant hereto; 

 

                        (ii) any breach of the representations and warranties 

                set forth in Section 4 or any covenant, agreement or obligation 

                of the Buyer under this Agreement; and 

 

                        (iii) any Liability arising from or in connection with 

                the ownership of the Units that arises after the Closing Date, 

                except to the extent such Adverse Consequences are attributable 

                to acts or circumstances occurring prior to the Closing Date. 

 

                (d) Limitation on Indemnification by the Buyer. Anything 

contained in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Liability of 

the Buyer to provide any indemnification to any Seller Indemnified Party and the 

right of the Seller Indemnified Parties to indemnification under Section 6(c) 

shall be subject to the following provisions: 

 

                        (i) No claims for indemnification shall be made under 

                this Agreement against the Buyer, and no indemnification shall 

                be payable to any Seller Indemnified Party, with respect to 

                claims asserted pursuant to Section 6(c)(ii) above, after the 

                date that is one year following the Closing (except for those 

                claims that were initiated prior to such one-year limitation). 

 

                        (ii) In no event shall the maximum aggregate Liability 

                of the Buyer under Section 6(c)(ii) exceed the Purchase Price. 

 

                        (iii) The Buyer shall not be liable under Section 

                6(c)(ii) until the amount otherwise due to the Seller 

                Indemnified Parties exceeds $100,000 in the 
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                aggregate, in which case the Buyer will be liable to the Seller 

                Indemnified Parties for the full amount due (including all 

                amounts below $100,000); provided, however, that this Section 

                6(d)(iii) shall not apply to the Buyer's obligations under 

                Section 6(c)(iii) above. 

 

                        (iv) Claims for indemnification with respect to the 

                matters set forth in Section 6(c)(i) shall not be subject to any 

                of the limitations set forth in this Section 6(d). 

 

                (e) Notice; Defense of Claims. An indemnified party shall make 

claims for indemnification hereunder by giving written notice thereof to the 

indemnifying party promptly on discovery and in any event within the period in 

which indemnification claims can be made hereunder. If indemnification is sought 

for a claim or Liability asserted by a third party, the indemnified party shall 

also give written notice thereof to the indemnifying party promptly after it 

receives notice of the claim or Liability being asserted, but the failure to do 

so shall not relieve the indemnifying party from any Liability except to the 

extent that it is materially prejudiced by the failure or delay in giving such 

notice. Such notice shall summarize the basis for the claim for indemnification 

and any claim or Liability being asserted by a third party. Within twenty (20) 

days after receiving such notice the indemnifying party shall give written 

notice to the indemnified party stating whether it disputes the claim for 

indemnification and whether it will defend against any third party claim or 

Liability at its own cost and expense. If the indemnifying party fails to give 

notice that it disputes an indemnification claim within twenty (20) days after 

receipt of notice thereof, it shall be deemed to have accepted and agreed to the 

claim, which shall become immediately due and payable. The indemnifying party 

shall be entitled to direct the defense against a third-party claim or Liability 

with counsel selected by it (subject to the consent of the indemnified party, 

which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) as long as the 

indemnifying party is conducting a good faith and diligent defense. The 

indemnified party shall at all times have the right to fully participate at its 

own expense in the defense of a third-party claim or Liability, directly or 

through counsel; provided, however, that if the named parties to the action or 

proceeding include both the indemnifying party and the indemnified party and the 

indemnified party is advised that representation of both parties by the same 

counsel would be inappropriate under applicable standards of professional 

conduct, the indemnified party may engage separate counsel at the expense of the 

indemnifying party. If no such notice of intent to dispute and defend a 

third-party claim or Liability is given by the indemnifying party, or if such 

good faith and diligent defense is not being or ceases to be conducted by the 

indemnifying party, the indemnified party shall have the right, at the expense 

of the indemnifying party, to undertake the defense of such claim or Liability 

(with counsel selected by the indemnified party), and to compromise or settle 

it, with consent of the indemnifying party, which consent shall not be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed. If the third party claim or Liability is one 

that by its nature cannot be defended solely by the indemnifying party, then the 

indemnified party shall make available such information and assistance as the 

indemnifying party may reasonably request and shall cooperate with the 

indemnifying party in such defense, at the expense of the indemnifying party. 

 

                (f) Non-Exclusive Remedy. The foregoing indemnification 

provisions are in addition to, and not in derogation of, any statutory, 

equitable, or common law remedy any Party may have for breach of representation, 

warranty, or covenant. No Seller Indemnified Party shall make any claim for 

indemnification against the Company by reason of the fact that he or it was a 
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manager, officer, employee, member or agent of the Company or was serving at the 

request of the Company as a partner, manager, trustee, director, officer, 

employee, or agent of another entity (whether such claim is for judgments, 

damages, penalties, fines, costs, amounts paid in settlement, losses, expenses, 

or otherwise and whether such claim is pursuant to any statute, charter 

document, bylaw, operating agreement, contract or otherwise) with respect to any 

action, suit, proceeding, complaint, claim, or demand brought by the Buyer 

against the Seller (whether such action, suit, proceeding, complaint, claim, or 

demand is pursuant to this Agreement, applicable law, or otherwise). 

 

                (g) Indemnification Payments. Any payments by a Party pursuant 

to Section 6 shall be considered an adjustment to the Purchase Price for all 

income and local tax purposes. 

 

        7. Miscellaneous. 

 

                (a) Press Releases and Public Announcements. No Party shall 

issue any press release or make any public announcement relating to the subject 

matter of this Agreement without the prior written approval of the Buyer and the 

Seller; provided, however, that any Party may make any public disclosure it 

believes in good faith is required by applicable law or any listing or trading 

agreement concerning its publicly-traded securities (in which case the 

disclosing Party will use its commercially reasonable efforts to advise the 

other Party prior to making the disclosure). 

 

                (b) No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as specifically set 

forth herein, this Agreement shall not confer any rights or remedies upon any 

Person other than the Parties and their respective successors and permitted 

assigns. 

 

                (c) Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the Exhibits, 

Annexes and Schedules identified herein) constitutes the entire agreement 

between the Parties and supersedes any prior understandings, agreements, or 

representations by the Parties, written or oral, to the extent they related in 

any way to the subject matter hereof. 

 

                (d) Succession and Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding 

upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and 

permitted assigns. No Party may assign either this Agreement or any of its 

rights, interests, or obligations hereunder without the prior written approval 

of the other party; provided, however, that the Buyer may (i) assign any or all 

of its rights and interests hereunder to one or more of its Affiliates and (ii) 

designate one or more of its Affiliates to perform its obligations hereunder (in 

any or all of which cases the Buyer nonetheless shall remain responsible for the 

performance of all of its obligations hereunder). 

 

                (e) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which 

together will constitute one and the same instrument. Each Party shall accept 

the facsimile signature of the other Party hereto and shall be bound by its own 

facsimile signature; provided, however, that the Parties shall exchange original 

signatures by overnight mail. 
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                (f) Headings. The section headings contained in this Agreement 

are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or 

interpretation of this Agreement. 

 

                (g) Notices. All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other 

communications hereunder shall be in writing. Any notice, request, demand, 

claim, or other communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given three 

business days after it is sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt 

requested, postage prepaid, and addressed to the intended recipient as set forth 

below: 

 

               If to the Seller: 

 

                      Wildblue Communications, Inc. 

                      4600 South Syracuse, Suite 500 

                      Denver, CO 80237 

                      Fax No.: 720-554-7500 

                      Attn: David Brown, General Counsel 

 

               Copy to: 

 

                      Brownstein Hyatt & Farber, P.C. 

                      410 Seventeenth Street 

                      22nd Floor 

                      Denver, CO 80202 

                      Fax No.: 303-223-0970 

                      Attn: John L. Ruppert, Esq. 

 

               If to the Buyer: 

 

                      ViaSat, Inc. 

                      6155 El Camino Real 

                      Carlsbad, CA 92009-1699 

                      Fax No.: 760-929-3926 

                      Attn:  Keven K. Lippert, Esq. 

 

               Copy to: 

 

                      Latham & Watkins 

                      12636 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300 

                      San Diego, CA 92130-2071 

                      Fax No.: 858-523-5450 

                      Attn:  Craig M. Garner, Esq. 

 

Any Party may send any notice, request, demand, claim, or other communication 

hereunder to the intended recipient at the address set forth above using any 

other means (including personal delivery, expedited courier, messenger service, 

telecopy, telex, or ordinary mail). Each such notice, request, demand, claim, or 

other communication shall be deemed to have been duly given 
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(i) if by fax, when such fax has been transmitted to the fax number set forth in 

this Section 7(g) and evidence of receipt is received or (ii) if given by any 

other means, upon delivery or refusal of delivery at the address set forth in 

this Section 7(g). Any Party may change the address to which notices, requests, 

demands, claims, and other communications hereunder are to be delivered by 

giving the other Party notice in the manner herein set forth. 

 

                (h) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and 

construed in accordance with the domestic laws of the State of California 

without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule 

(whether of the State of California or any other jurisdiction) that would cause 

the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of 

California. 

 

                (i) Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or waiver of any 

provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless the same shall be in writing 

and signed by the Buyer and the Seller. No waiver by any Party of any default, 

misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or covenant hereunder, whether 

intentional or not, shall be deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent 

default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or covenant hereunder or 

affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or subsequent such 

occurrence. 

 

                (j) Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that 

is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not 

affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions 

hereof or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in 

any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. 

 

                (k) Expenses. Each Party will bear its own costs and expenses 

(including legal fees and expenses) incurred in connection with this Agreement 

and the transactions contemplated hereby. The Seller agrees that the Company has 

not borne and shall not bear the Seller's costs and expenses (including any of 

their brokers' fees, legal fees and expenses) in connection with this Agreement 

or any of the transactions contemplated hereby. 

 

                (l) Construction. The Parties have participated jointly in the 

negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or 

question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed 

as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall 

arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any of 

the provisions of this Agreement. Any reference to any federal, state, local, or 

foreign statute or law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and 

regulations promulgated thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise. The 

word "including" shall mean including without limitation. The Parties intend 

that each representation, warranty, and covenant contained herein shall have 

independent significance. If any Party has breached any representation, 

warranty, or covenant contained herein in any respect, the fact that there 

exists another representation, warranty, or covenant relating to the same 

subject matter (regardless of the relative levels of specificity) that the Party 

has not breached shall not detract from or mitigate the fact that the Party is 

in breach of the first representation, warranty, or covenant. 

 

                (m) Incorporation of Exhibits, Annexes and Schedules. The 

Exhibits, Annexes and Schedules identified in this Agreement are incorporated 

herein by reference and made a part hereof. 
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                (n) Specific Performance. Each Party acknowledges and agrees 

that the other Party would be damaged irreparably in the event any of the 

provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their specific 

terms or otherwise are breached. Accordingly, each Party shall be entitled to an 

injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of the provisions of this 

Agreement and to enforce specifically this Agreement and the terms and 

provisions hereof in any action instituted in any court of the United States or 

any state thereof having jurisdiction over the Parties and the matter (subject 

to the provisions set forth in Section 7(o) below), in addition to any other 

remedy to which it may be entitled, at law or in equity. 

 

                (o) Mediation/Arbitration. If a dispute arises out of or relates 

to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, the Buyer and the Seller shall 

negotiate in good faith to settle such dispute, controversy or claim within 

fifteen (15) calendar days of notice thereof. If the Buyer and the Seller are 

unable to resolve such dispute, controversy or claim arising out of this 

Agreement or the performance, breach or termination thereof within fifteen (15) 

calendar days, it shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with the 

Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. The place 

of arbitration shall be Denver, Colorado. The arbitration shall be conducted by 

a neutral arbitrator selected by mutual agreement of the Buyer and the Seller 

within ten days after notice by either party to the other requesting such 

arbitration. If the Buyer and the Seller fail to agree within ten days on the 

selection of the arbitrator, an arbitrator shall be promptly appointed by the 

American Arbitration Association. Prior to issuing a final arbitration award, 

the arbitrator shall provide the Buyer and the Seller with a preliminary ruling 

and allow the Buyer and the Seller a reasonable period (not to exceed five (5) 

business days) to respond in writing to the preliminary ruling. Judgment upon 

the arbitration award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. 

The prevailing party shall be entitled to all costs of arbitration including, 

but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees and out-of-pocket expenses. The 

Parties shall be entitled to discovery in the same manner as though the dispute 

was within the jurisdiction of the County Court, Denver, Colorado. Except as 

otherwise required by law (or by the fiduciary duties of the Buyer's directors), 

all information resulting from or otherwise pertaining to any dispute shall be 

nonpublic and handled by the Buyer, the Seller and their respective agents in 

such a way as to prevent the public disclosure of such information. 
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        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement on 

as of the date first above written. 

 

BUYER                                       SELLER 

 

VIASAT, INC., a Delaware corporation        WILDBLUE COMMUNICATIONS, INC., 

                                            a Delaware corporation 

 

By: /s/ Gregory D. Monahan                  By: /s/ David M. Brown 

   ------------------------------------        --------------------------------- 

Name: Gregory D. Monahan                    Name: David M. Brown 

Title: VP General Counsel and Secretary     Title: Vice President 
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CERTAIN MATERIAL (INDICATED BY ASTERISKS) HAS BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS DOCUMENT 

PURSUANT TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT. THE OMITTED MATERIAL HAS BEEN 

FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGES COMMISSION. 

 

 

                                                                    EXHIBIT 10.2 

 

 

                                  SECURED NOTE 

 

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED. 

THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE SOLD OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION 

UNLESS SUCH SALE OR TRANSFER IS EXEMPT FROM THE REGISTRATION AND PROSPECTUS 

DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS OF SAID ACT. COPIES OF THE AGREEMENT COVERING THE 

ACQUISITION OF THIS NOTE MAY BE OBTAINED AT NO COST BY WRITTEN REQUEST MADE BY 

THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THIS NOTE TO THE SECRETARY OF VIASAT, INC. AT ITS 

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICES. 

 

Date: December 12, 2001                                               $6,000,000 

 

                                  VIASAT, INC. 

 

                             SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE 

 

        ViaSat, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("ViaSat"), for value received, 

promises to pay to Wildblue Communications, Inc., a Delaware corporation 

("Wildblue"), a principal amount equal to Six Million Dollars ($6,000,000), in 

lawful money of the United States of America, plus interest on the principal 

amount hereof, at a rate of interest equal to five percent (5%) per annum (the 

"Note Rate"). All principal and interest shall be due and payable on the earlier 

of: (i) ***, and (ii) January 31, 2002 (the "Maturity Date"). If payment of the 

principal amount of this Note, together with accrued unpaid interest thereon, is 

not paid in its entirety on the Maturity Date, then interest shall accrue on 

such unpaid principal and interest amount at the Note Rate plus two percent (2%) 

from and after such date of default to the date of the payment in full of such 

unpaid amount. In no event shall Wildblue be entitled to receive interest at an 

effective rate in excess of the maximum rate permitted by law. Following payment 

by ViaSat of all of its obligations hereunder, this Note shall be cancelled and 

shall no longer evidence an indebtedness for borrowed money. 

 

        1. Definitions. This Secured Promissory Note ("Note") has been issued 

pursuant to the Unit Purchase Agreement dated as of December 12, 2001 by and 

between ViaSat and Wildblue (the "Agreement"). Unless the context indicates 

otherwise, capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings given them in 

the Agreement. 

 

        2. Prepayment. ViaSat shall be entitled to prepay, without penalty, the 

principal balance outstanding under this Note in whole (but not in part) at any 

time; provided, however, that such prepayment shall also include all accrued 

interest. 

 

        3. Application of Payments. The proceeds of any payment or prepayment of 

this Note shall be applied in the following order: (a) first, against fees and 

expenses due and payable hereunder; (b) then to accrued and unpaid interest; and 

(c) finally to the then outstanding and unpaid principal hereunder. All payments 

shall be made in immediately available funds to the account and in accordance 

with the instructions set forth in Exhibit A hereto. 

 

*** CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED 



 

 

 

        4. Recording of Payments. All payments and prepayments of the principal 

and interest hereunder shall be recorded by Wildblue on Schedule I annexed 

hereto, and constituting a part hereof, which recordations shall constitute 

prima facie evidence of the accuracy of the information so recorded; provided, 

however, that the failure of Wildblue to make any such recordation shall not 

limit or otherwise affect the obligation of ViaSat hereunder or under the 

Agreement. 

 

        5. Assignment. Wildblue may transfer its interest in up to Five Million 

U.S. Dollars ($5,000,000) under this Note to Telesat Canada, in Wildblue's sole 

and absolute discretion. Wildblue shall notify ViaSat in writing within two (2) 

business days of such transfer. Wildblue shall not transfer all or any portion 

of (or any interest in) this Note to any other party, without the prior written 

consent of ViaSat, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The 

obligations of ViaSat hereunder shall not be transferable or assignable to any 

other party without the prior written consent of Wildblue, which consent shall 

not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

        6. Remedies. Upon a default by ViaSat hereunder, Wildblue shall be 

entitled to exercise all remedies otherwise permitted it by applicable law. 

 

        7. Certain Waivers. ViaSat hereby waives notice, demand for payment, 

presentment for payment, protest, notice to protest, notice of dishonor, notice 

of nonpayment, and diligence in taking any action to collect sums owing 

hereunder and all duty or obligation of Wildblue to effect, protect, perfect, 

retain or enforce any security for the payment of this Note or to proceed 

against any collateral before otherwise enforcing this Note. The nonexercise by 

Wildblue of any of its rights hereunder in any particular instance shall not 

constitute a waiver thereof in that or any subsequent instance. 

 

        8. Security. ViaSat's obligations under this Note are secured by a 

security interest in 9,692,307.69 Class B Units of U.S. Monolithics, LLC, an 

Arizona limited liability company, pursuant to the terms of the Pledge 

Agreement, dated as of even date herewith, by and between ViaSat and Wildblue. 

 

        9. Full Recourse. This Note is a full recourse obligation of ViaSat. 
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        10. Miscellaneous. The provisions set forth in Sections 7(b), 7(c), 

7(d), 7(f), 7(g), 7(h), 7(i), 7(j), 7(k), 7(l), 7(n), and 7(o) of the Agreement 

are incorporated herein by this reference; provided, however, that all 

references to the "Agreement" in such Sections shall mean this Note and not the 

Agreement and the terms "herein," "hereof," "hereto," and words of similar 

import in such Sections shall be references to this Note and not to the 

Agreement. 

 

                                            VIASAT, INC. 

 

                                            /s/ Gregory D. Monahan 

                                            --------------------------------- 

                                            By: Gregory D. Monahan 

                                            Its: Vice President--Administration, 

                                                 General Counsel and Secretary 

ATTEST: 

 

   /s/ Keven K. Lippert 

- -------------------------------- 

Name:  Keven K. Lippert 
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                                 UNSECURED NOTE 

 

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED. 

THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE SOLD OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION 

UNLESS SUCH SALE OR TRANSFER IS EXEMPT FROM THE REGISTRATION AND PROSPECTUS 

DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS OF SAID ACT. COPIES OF THE AGREEMENT COVERING THE 

ACQUISITION OF THIS NOTE MAY BE OBTAINED AT NO COST BY WRITTEN REQUEST MADE BY 

THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THIS NOTE TO THE SECRETARY OF VIASAT, INC. AT ITS 

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICES. 

 

Date: December 12, 2001                                                 $500,000 

 

                                  VIASAT, INC. 

 

                            UNSECURED PROMISSORY NOTE 

 

        ViaSat, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("ViaSat"), for value received, 

promises to pay to Wildblue Communications, Inc., a Delaware corporation 

("Wildblue"), a principal amount equal to Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($500,000), in lawful money of the United States of America, plus interest on 

the principal amount hereof, at a rate of interest equal to five percent (5%) 

per annum (the "Note Rate"). All principal and interest shall be due and payable 

on January 31, 2002 (the "Maturity Date"). If payment of the principal amount of 

this Note, together with accrued unpaid interest thereon, is not paid in its 

entirety on the Maturity Date, then interest shall accrue on such unpaid 

principal and interest at the Note Rate plus two percent (2%) from and after 

such date of default to the date of the payment in full of such unpaid amount. 

In no event shall Wildblue be entitled to receive interest at an effective rate 

in excess of the maximum rate permitted by law. Following payment by ViaSat of 

all of its obligations hereunder, this Note shall be cancelled and shall no 

longer evidence an indebtedness for borrowed money. 

 

        1. Definitions. This Unsecured Promissory Note ("Note") has been issued 

pursuant to the Unit Purchase Agreement dated as of December 12, 2001 by and 

between ViaSat and Wildblue (the "Agreement"). Unless the context indicates 

otherwise, capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings given them in 

the Agreement. 

 

        2. Prepayment. ViaSat shall be entitled to prepay, without penalty, the 

principal balance outstanding under this Note in whole or in part at any time; 

provided, however, that such prepayment shall also include all accrued interest 

on any principal amount prepaid. 

 

        3. Application of Payments. The proceeds of any payment or prepayment of 

this Note (including, without limitation, offsets pursuant to Section 4 hereof) 

shall be applied in the following order: (a) first, against fees and expenses 

due and payable hereunder; (b) then to accrued and unpaid interest; and (c) 

finally to the then outstanding and unpaid principal hereunder. Unless otherwise 

agreed to by ViaSat and Wildblue, all payments (other than those setoffs 

identified in Sections 4 or 5 hereof) shall be by certified check and sent to 

the address set forth for Wildblue in the Agreement. 

 

 



 

 

 

        4. Deliveries under Section 17.1 of the New Development Agreement. If 

prior to the Maturity Date any NRE Payments (as defined in Section 17.1 of the 

New Development Agreement ("Section 17.1")) become due and payable as a result 

of a delivery by ViaSat to Wildblue as identified in the column entitled "NRE 

Payment Event" of the table set forth in Section 17.1 (the "Table"), ViaSat 

shall be entitled to offset, as of the date of such delivery, the amount set 

forth in the column entitled "NRE Payment Amount" of the Table corresponding to 

such delivery, against any amounts due and owing to Wildblue under this Note. 

 

        5. Offset of Payments into Escrow. In accordance with Section 5(e) of 

the Agreement, ViaSat and Wildblue will enter into an escrow agreement on or 

prior to the Maturity Date to provide security for Wildblue's payment 

obligations to ViaSat under the New Development Agreement. All deposits made by 

ViaSat into the escrow under such escrow agreement shall be offset against 

amounts due and owing to Wildblue under this Note. 

 

        6. Recording of Payments. All payments and prepayments of the principal 

and interest hereunder (including, without limitation, offsets pursuant to 

Section 4 and Section 5 hereof) shall be recorded by Wildblue on Schedule I 

annexed hereto, and constituting a part hereof, which recordations shall 

constitute prima facie evidence of the accuracy of the information so recorded; 

provided, however, that the failure of Wildblue to make any such recordation 

shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of ViaSat hereunder or under 

the Agreement. 

 

        7. Assignment. Wildblue may not transfer its interest under this Note, 

in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of ViaSat, which consent 

shall not be unreasonably withheld. The obligations of ViaSat hereunder shall 

not be transferable or assignable to any other party without the prior written 

consent of Wildblue, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

        8. Remedies. Upon a default by ViaSat hereunder, Wildblue shall be 

entitled to exercise all remedies otherwise permitted it by applicable law. 

 

        9. Certain Waivers. ViaSat hereby waives notice, demand for payment, 

presentment for payment, protest, notice to protest, notice of dishonor, notice 

of nonpayment, and diligence in taking any action to collect sums owing 

hereunder. The nonexercise by Wildblue of any of its rights hereunder shall not 

constitute a waiver thereof in that or any subsequent instance. 
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        10. Miscellaneous. The provisions set forth in Sections 7(b), 7(c), 

7(d), 7(f), 7(g), 7(h), 7(i), 7(j), 7(k), 7(l), 7(n), and 7(o) of the Agreement 

are incorporated herein by this reference; provided, however, that all 

references to the "Agreement" in such Sections shall mean this Note and not the 

Agreement and the terms "herein," "hereof," "hereto," and words of similar 

import in such Sections shall be references to this Note and not to the 

Agreement. 

 

                                            VIASAT, INC. 

 

                                            /s/ Gregory D. Monahan 

                                            ------------------------------------ 

                                            By: Gregory D. Monahan 

                                            Its: Vice President--Administration, 

                                                 General Counsel and Secretary 

 

ATTEST: 

 

   /s/ Keven K. Lippert 

- ----------------------------------- 

Name: Keven K. Lippert 
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                         PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT 

 

                This Pledge and Security Agreement (this "Agreement"), dated as 

of December 12, 2001, is entered into by and between ViaSat, Inc., a Delaware 

corporation ("Pledgor"), and Wildblue Communications, Inc., a Delaware 

corporation ("Secured Party"). 

 

                                    RECITALS 

 

                A. Concurrently herewith, Pledgor has purchased 16,153,846.15 

Class B Units (the "Units") of U.S. Monolithics, LLC, an Arizona limited 

liability company (the "Company"), pursuant to a Unit Purchase Agreement dated 

as of December 12, 2001 by and between Secured Party and Pledgor (the "Purchase 

Agreement"). 

 

                B. As part of the consideration paid by Pledgor for the Units, 

Pledgor issued a secured promissory note of even date herewith in favor of 

Secured Party in the aggregate principal amount of Six Million U.S. Dollars 

(US$6,000,000) (the "Note"). 

 

                C. As security for the Note, Pledgor agreed to pledge to Secured 

Party 9,692,307.69 of the Units. 

 

                                    AGREEMENT 

 

                In consideration of the premises herein, and for other good and 

valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby 

acknowledged, Secured Party and Pledgor hereby agree as follows: 

 

        1. Definitions. 

 

                1.1 "UCC" shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code -- Secured 

Transactions as amended as the same may, from time to time, be in effect in the 

State of California; provided, however, in the event that, by reason of 

mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the attachment, perfection or 

priority of the security interest in any collateral is governed by the Uniform 

Commercial Code as in effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of 

California, the term "UCC" shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect 

in such other jurisdiction for purposes of the provisions hereof relating to 

such attachment, perfection or priority and for purposes of definitions related 

to such provisions. 

 

                1.2 All capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined 

herein, shall have the meanings provided in the Purchase Agreement. 

 

        2. Assignment, Pledge and Grant of Security Interest. 

 

                2.1 To secure the timely payment and performance of the Secured 

Obligations (as defined below), Pledgor hereby pledges to Secured Party, and 

grants to Secured Party a first priority security interest in all the estate, 

right, title and interest of Pledgor in and to 9,692,307.69 Class B Units of the 

Company (the "Pledged Collateral") represented by a certificate of interest 

 

 



 

 

 

in the Company in the name of Secured Party and duly assigned by Secured Party 

to Pledgor (the "Certificate"). 

 

                2.2 Within two business days of the date of this Agreement, (a) 

Secured Party, on behalf of Pledgor, will cause to be delivered and deposited 

into escrow (the "Escrow") with Computershare Trust Company, Inc., a Colorado 

corporation (the "Escrow Agent"), in pledge, the Certificate, and (b) Pledgor 

will deliver to the Escrow Agent undated unit powers signed in blank by Pledgor. 

The parties acknowledge and agree that the Escrow Agreement of even date 

herewith by and among Pledgor, Secured Party and the Escrow Agent (the "Escrow 

Agreement") shall exclusively govern the release of the Pledged Collateral from 

the Escrow. 

 

                2.3 This Agreement and all of the Pledged Collateral secure the 

payments and performance by Pledgor of the Note (the "Secured Obligations"). 

 

        3. Events of Default. The failure of Pledgor to pay to Secured Party all 

principal and interest due and owing under the Note by January 31, 2002 in the 

manner contemplated in Section 2 of the Escrow Agreement shall constitute an 

"Event of Default" hereunder. 

 

        4. Remedies Upon Event of Default. 

 

                4.1 If any Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, in 

addition to any and all remedies available to Secured Party under the Note: 

 

                (a) Secured Party may (but shall be under no obligation to) take 

possession of the Pledged Collateral as provided for in the Escrow Agreement. 

Secured Party may also, without notice except as specified below, sell by any 

lawful manner the Pledged Collateral or any part thereof in one or more lots at 

public or private sale, at any exchange, broker's board or at any of Secured 

Party's offices or elsewhere, for cash, on credit or for future delivery, and at 

such price or prices and upon such other terms as are commercially reasonable. 

Pledgor agrees that, to the extent notice of sale shall be required by law, at 

least ten (10) days' prior written notice to Pledgor of the time and place of 

any public sale or the time after which any private sale is to be made shall 

constitute reasonable notification. Secured Party shall not be obligated to make 

any sale of Pledged Collateral regardless of notice of sale having been given. 

Secured Party may adjourn any public or private sale from time to time by 

announcement at the time and place fixed therefor, and such sale may, without 

further notice, be made at the time and place to which it was so adjourned. All 

cash proceeds received by Secured Party in respect of any sale of, collection 

from, or other realization upon all or any part of the Pledged Collateral may, 

in the discretion of Secured Party, be held by Secured Party as collateral for, 

and/or then or at any time thereafter be applied in whole or in part against, 

all or any part of the Secured Obligations. Any surplus of such cash or cash 

proceeds held by Secured Party and remaining after payment in full of all the 

Secured Obligations shall be paid over to Pledgor or to whomsoever may be 

lawfully entitled to receive such surplus. 

 

                (b) Secured Party, at any time and from time to time, at its 

option and at the expense of Pledgor, may (i) transfer into its own name, or 

into the name of its nominee, all or any part of the Pledged Collateral, 

thereafter receiving all dividends, income or other distributions upon the 

Pledged Collateral; (ii) take control of, vote and manage all or any of the 

Pledged Collateral; and (iii) apply to the payment of any of the Secured 

Obligations, whether any 
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be due and payable or not, any moneys, including cash dividends and income from 

the Pledged Collateral, now or hereafter in the hands of Secured Party, on 

deposit or otherwise, belonging to Pledgor, as Secured Party, in its sole 

discretion, shall determine. 

 

                4.2 So long as no Event of Default has occurred and is 

continuing, Pledgor reserves the right to receive all income and other 

distributions in respect of the Pledged Collateral and exercise any and all 

voting and other consensual rights pertaining to the Pledged Collateral or any 

part thereof for any purpose not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. 

 

        5. Remedies Cumulative; Delay Not Waiver. 

 

                5.1 No right, power or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved 

to Secured Party is intended to be exclusive of any other right, power or 

remedy, and every such right, power and remedy shall, to the extent permitted by 

applicable law, be cumulative and in addition to every other right, power and 

remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or 

otherwise. The assertion or employment of any right or remedy hereunder shall 

not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any other appropriate 

right or remedy. Resort to any or all security now or hereafter held by Secured 

Party, may be taken concurrently or successively and in one or several 

consolidated or independent judicial actions or lawfully taken nonjudicial 

proceedings, or both. 

 

                5.2 No delay or omission of Secured Party to exercise any right 

or power accruing upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of 

Default as aforesaid shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed 

to be a waiver of any such Event of Default or an acquiescence therein. Every 

power and remedy given by this Agreement may be exercised from time to time, and 

as often as shall be deemed expedient, by Secured Party. 

 

        6. Further Assurances; Financing Statements. 

 

                6.1 Pledgor agrees that from time to time, at the expense of 

Pledgor, Pledgor shall promptly execute and deliver all further instruments and 

documents, and take all further action, that may be reasonably necessary, or 

that Secured Party may reasonably request, in order to protect the security 

interest granted or intended to be granted hereby or to enable Secured Party to 

exercise and enforce its rights and remedies hereunder with respect to the 

Pledged Collateral. 

 

                6.2 Pledgor shall, promptly upon request, provide to Secured 

Party all information and evidence it may reasonably request concerning the 

Pledged Collateral to enable Secured Party to enforce the provisions of this 

Agreement. 

 

        7. Place of Business; Location of Records. Unless Secured Party is 

otherwise notified by Pledgor, the chief executive office of Pledgor is, and all 

records of Pledgor concerning the Pledged Collateral are and will be, located at 

the following address: 

 

 

               ViaSat, Inc. 

               6155 El Camino Real 

               Carlsbad, CA  92009-1699 
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        8. Continuing Assignment and Security Interest; Transfer of Note. This 

Agreement shall create a continuing pledge and assignment of and security 

interest in the Pledged Collateral and shall (a) remain in full force and effect 

until payment in full of the Note; (b) be binding upon Pledgor and its 

successors and assigns; and (c) inure, together with the rights and remedies of 

Secured Party, to the benefit of Secured Party and its successors, transferees 

and assigns. The release of the security interest in any or all of the Pledged 

Collateral, the taking or acceptance of additional security, or the resort by 

Secured Party to any security it may have in any order it may deem appropriate, 

shall not affect the liability of any person on the indebtedness secured hereby. 

 

        9. Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon the payment and 

performance by Pledgor of the Secured Obligations. 

 

        10. Amendments; Waivers; Consents. No amendment, modification, 

termination or waiver of any provision of this Agreement, or consent to any 

departure by Pledgor therefrom, shall in any event be effective without the 

written concurrence of Secured Party and Pledgor. 

 

        11. Notices. All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other 

communications hereunder shall be in writing. Any notice, request, demand, 

claim, or other communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given three 

business days after it is sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt 

requested, postage prepaid, and addressed to the intended recipient as set forth 

below: 

 

If to Secured Party: 

 

                      Wildblue Communications, Inc. 

                      4600 South Syracuse, Suite 500 

                      Denver, CO 80237 

                      Fax No.: 720-554-7500 

                      Attn: David Brown, General Counsel 

 

With a copy to:       Brownstein Hyatt & Farber, P.C. 

                      410 Seventeenth Street, 22nd Floor 

                      Denver, CO 80202 

                      Fax No.: 303-223-0970 

                      Attn: John L. Ruppert, Esq. 

 

If to Pledgor: 

 

                      ViaSat, Inc. 

                      6155 El Camino Real 

                      Carlsbad, CA 92009-1699 

                      Fax No.: 760-929-3926 

                      Attn:  Keven K. Lippert, Esq. 

 

 

                                       4 



 

 

With a copy to:       Latham & Watkins 

                      12636 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300 

                      San Diego, CA 92130-2071 

                      Fax No.: 858-523-5450 

                      Attn:  Craig M. Garner, Esq. 

 

Any party may send any notice, request, demand, claim, or other communication 

hereunder to the intended recipient at the address set forth above using any 

other means (including personal delivery, expedited courier, messenger service, 

telecopy, telex, or ordinary mail). Each such notice, request, demand, claim, or 

other communication shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) if by fax, when 

such fax has been transmitted to the fax number set forth in this Section 11 and 

evidence of receipt is received or (ii) if given by any other means, upon 

delivery or refusal of delivery at the address set forth in this Section 11. Any 

party may change the address to which notices, requests, demands, claims, and 

other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving the other party 

notice in the manner herein set forth. 

 

        12. Governing Law. This Agreement, including all matters of 

construction, validity, performance and the creation, validity, enforcement or 

priority of the lien of, and security interests created by, this Agreement in or 

upon the Pledged Collateral shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

California, without reference to conflicts of law, except as required by 

mandatory provisions of law and except to the extent that the validity or 

perfection or priority of the lien and security interest hereunder, or remedies 

hereunder, in respect of the Pledged Collateral are governed by the laws of a 

jurisdiction other than the State of California. 

 

        13. Severability. The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if 

any clause or provision shall be held invalid or unenforceable in whole or in 

part in any jurisdiction, then such invalidity or unenforceability shall affect 

only such clause or provision, or part thereof, in such jurisdiction and shall 

not in any manner affect such clause or provision in any other jurisdiction, or 

any other clause or provision of this Agreement in any jurisdiction. 

 

        14. Headings Descriptive. The headings in this Agreement are for 

convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement 

for any other purpose or be given any substantive effect. 

 

        15. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any other written 

agreement executed in connection herewith, is intended by the parties as a final 

expression of their agreement and is intended as a complete and exclusive 

statement of the terms and conditions thereof. 

 

        16. Time. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 

 

        17. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which shall 

together constitute one and the same agreement. Each party shall accept the 

facsimile signature of the other party hereto and shall be bound by its own 

facsimile signature; provided, however, that the parties shall exchange original 

signatures by overnight mail. 
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        18. Mediation/Arbitration. If a dispute arises out of or relates to this 

Agreement, or the breach thereof, Pledgor and Secured Party shall negotiate in 

good faith to settle such dispute, controversy or claim within fifteen (15) 

calendar days of notice thereof. If Pledgor and Secured Party are unable to 

resolve such dispute, controversy or claim arising out of this Agreement or the 

performance, breach or termination thereof within fifteen (15) calendar days, it 

shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration 

Rules of the American Arbitration Association. The place of arbitration shall be 

Denver, Colorado. The arbitration shall be conducted by a neutral arbitrator 

selected by mutual agreement of Pledgor and Secured Party within ten days after 

notice by either party to the other requesting such arbitration. If Pledgor and 

Secured Party fail to agree within ten days on the selection of the arbitrator, 

an arbitrator shall be promptly appointed by the American Arbitration 

Association. Prior to issuing a final arbitration award, the arbitrator shall 

provide Pledgor and Secured Party with a preliminary ruling and allow Pledgor 

and Secured Party a reasonable period (not to exceed five (5) business days) to 

respond in writing to the preliminary ruling. Judgment upon the arbitration 

award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The prevailing 

party shall be entitled to all costs of arbitration including, but not limited 

to, reasonable attorneys' fees and out-of-pocket expenses. The parties shall be 

entitled to discovery in the same manner as though the dispute was within the 

jurisdiction of the County Court, Denver, Colorado. Except as otherwise required 

by law (or by the fiduciary duties of Pledgor's directors), all information 

resulting from or otherwise pertaining to any dispute shall be nonpublic and 

handled by Pledgor, Secured Party and their respective agents in such a way as 

to prevent the public disclosure of such information. 
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        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has caused this Pledge and 

Security Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above 

written. 

 

BUYER:                                      SELLER: 

 

VIASAT, INC., a Delaware corporation        WILDBLUE COMMUNICATIONS, INC., 

                                            a Delaware corporation 

 

By: /s/ Gregory D. Monahan                  By: /s/ David M. Brown 

   ------------------------------------        --------------------------------- 

Name: Gregory D. Monahan                    Name: David M. Brown 

Title: VP General Counsel and Secretary     Title: Vice President 
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                             UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 

                                  BY AND AMONG 

 

                                  VIASAT, INC. 

 

                                       AND 

 

                 THE PARTIES LISTED UNDER THE HEADING "SELLERS" 

 

                          ON THE SIGNATURE PAGES HERETO 

 

                                DECEMBER 14, 2001 

 

 



 

 

 

                                TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

                                                                         

1.  Definitions................................................................1 

 

 

2.  Purchase and Sale of the Class A Units.....................................6 

 

    (a)    Basic Transaction...................................................6 

    (b)    Purchase Price......................................................6 

    (c)    The Closing.........................................................6 

    (d)    Deliveries at the Closing...........................................6 

    (e)    Payment of Purchase Price...........................................6 

 

3.  Representations and Warranties Concerning the Transaction..................7 

 

    (a)    Representations and Warranties of the Sellers.......................7 

    (b)    Representations and Warranties of the Buyer.........................8 

 

4.  Representations and Warranties Concerning the Target.......................9 

 

    (a)    Organization, Qualification, and Corporate Power...................10 

    (b)    Capitalization.....................................................10 

    (c)    Noncontravention...................................................11 

    (d)    Brokers' Fees......................................................11 

    (e)    Title to Assets....................................................11 

    (f)    Subsidiaries.......................................................11 

    (g)    Financial Statements...............................................12 

    (h)    Events Subsequent to Most Recent Fiscal Year End...................12 

    (i)    Undisclosed Liabilities............................................14 

    (j)    Legal Compliance...................................................14 

    (k)    Tax Matters........................................................14 

    (l)    Real Property......................................................16 

    (m)    Intellectual Property..............................................17 

    (n)    Tangible Assets....................................................19 

    (o)    Inventory..........................................................19 

    (p)    Contracts..........................................................20 

    (q)    Notes and Accounts Receivable......................................21 

    (r)    Powers of Attorney.................................................21 

    (s)    Insurance..........................................................21 

    (t)    Litigation.........................................................22 

    (u)    Product Warranty...................................................22 

    (v)    Product Liability..................................................22 

    (w)    Employees..........................................................23 

    (x)    Employee Benefits..................................................23 

    (y)    Guaranties.........................................................25 

    (z)    Environment, Health, and Safety....................................25 

    (aa)   Certain Business Relationships with the Target.....................26 

    (bb)   Disclosure.........................................................26 

 

 

 

                                      -i- 

 



 

 

 

 

                                                                         

5.  Pre-Closing Covenants.....................................................26 

 

    (a)    General............................................................26 

    (b)    Notices and Consents...............................................26 

    (c)    Operation of Business..............................................26 

    (d)    Preservation of Business...........................................26 

    (e)    Full Access........................................................26 

    (f)    Notice of Developments.............................................26 

    (g)    Exclusivity........................................................27 

    (h)    Restricted Units...................................................27 

    (i)    Tax Election.......................................................27 

    (j)    Valuation of the Target's Assets for Income Tax Purposes...........27 

 

6.  Post-Closing Covenants....................................................27 

 

    (a)    General............................................................27 

    (b)    Litigation Support.................................................28 

    (c)    Transition.........................................................28 

    (d)    Confidentiality....................................................28 

    (e)    Stock Options......................................................29 

    (f)    Registration of Registrable Shares.................................29 

    (g)    Business Location..................................................31 

    (h)    Employment Matters.................................................31 

    (i)    Intellectual Property..............................................31 

 

7.  Conditions to Obligation to Close.........................................32 

 

    (a)    Conditions to Obligation of the Buyer..............................32 

    (b)    Conditions to Obligation of the Sellers............................33 

 

8.  Remedies for Breaches of This Agreement...................................34 

 

    (a)    Indemnification by the Sellers.....................................34 

    (b)    Limitations on Indemnification by the Sellers......................35 

    (c)    Indemnification by the Buyer.......................................36 

    (d)    Limitation on Indemnification by the Buyer.........................36 

    (e)    Notice; Defense of Claims..........................................36 

    (f)    Security for the Sellers' Indemnification Obligations..............37 

    (g)    Currency Exchange..................................................37 

    (h)    Held Back Consideration Not Exclusive..............................37 

 

9.  Tax Matters...............................................................38 

 

    (a)    Characterization of the Transaction................................38 

    (b)    Tax Periods Ending on or Before the Closing Date...................38 

    (c)    Tax Periods Beginning Before and Ending After the Closing Date.....39 

    (d)    Cooperation on Tax Matters.........................................39 

    (e)    Tax Sharing Agreements.............................................40 

    (f)    Certain Taxes......................................................40 

    (g)    Indemnification Payments...........................................40 

 

 

 

                                      -ii- 

 



 

 

 

                                                                         

10. Seller Representatives....................................................40 

 

    (a)    Appointment........................................................40 

    (b)    Election and Replacement...........................................40 

    (c)    Authority..........................................................40 

    (d)    No Liability of the Buyer..........................................41 

 

11. Termination...............................................................41 

 

    (a)    Termination of Agreement...........................................41 

    (b)    Effect of Termination..............................................42 

 

12. Miscellaneous.............................................................42 

 

    (a)    Nature of Certain Obligations......................................42 

    (b)    Legend.............................................................42 

    (c)    Press Releases and Public Announcements............................42 

    (d)    No Third-Party Beneficiaries.......................................43 

    (e)    Entire Agreement...................................................43 

    (f)    Succession and Assignment..........................................43 

    (g)    Counterparts.......................................................43 

    (h)    Headings...........................................................43 

    (i)    Notices............................................................43 

    (j)    Governing Law......................................................44 

    (k)    Amendments and Waivers.............................................44 

    (l)    Severability.......................................................45 

    (m)    Expenses...........................................................45 

    (n)    Termination of the Voting Trust Agreement..........................45 

    (o)    Construction.......................................................45 

    (p)    Incorporation of Exhibits, Annexes, and Schedules..................45 

    (q)    Specific Performance...............................................45 

    (r)    Mediation/Arbitration..............................................45 

 

 

 

                                     -iii- 

 



 

 

 

Schedule 1 -- Option Holder Consideration 

Schedule 2 -- Purchase Price Allocation 

Exhibits A1-A13 -- Purchase Price Schedule 

Exhibit B -- Historical Financial Statements 

Exhibit C -- Form of Opinion of Counsel to the Sellers 

Exhibit D -- Waiver Letter 

Exhibits E1-E2 -- Form of Non-Compete Agreements 

Exhibit F -- Form of Escrow Agreement 

Exhibit G -- Form of Opinion of Counsel to the Buyer 

Annex I -- Exceptions to the Sellers' Representations and Warranties Concerning 

           the Transaction 

Annex II -- Unit Option Holders 

Annex III -- Key Employees 

Annex IV -- Signatories to Non-Compete Agreement 

Disclosure Schedule -- Exceptions to Representations and Warranties Concerning 

                       the Target 

 

 

                                      -iv- 

 

 



 

 

 

                             UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 

        This Unit Purchase Agreement (this "Agreement") entered into as of 

December 14, 2001 by and among ViaSat, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the 

"Buyer"), and the parties listed under the heading "Sellers" on the signature 

pages hereto (collectively, the "Sellers"). The Buyer and the Sellers are 

referred to collectively herein as the "Parties." 

 

        The Sellers in the aggregate own all of the Class A Units (as defined 

below) of U.S. Monolithics, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company (the 

"Target"). 

 

        This Agreement contemplates a transaction in which the Buyer will 

purchase from the Sellers, and the Sellers will sell to the Buyer, all of the 

outstanding Class A Units of the Target on the terms and conditions set forth 

herein. 

 

        Now, therefore, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises 

herein made, and in consideration of the representations, warranties, and 

covenants herein contained, the Parties agree as follows. 

 

        1.     Definitions. 

 

        "Accredited Investor" has the meaning set forth in Regulation D 

promulgated under the Securities Act. 

 

        "Adjusted Option" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(e) below. 

 

        "Adverse Consequences" means all actions, suits, proceedings, hearings, 

investigations, charges, complaints, claims, demands, injunctions, judgments, 

orders, decrees, rulings, damages, dues, penalties, fines, costs, amounts paid 

in settlement, Liabilities, obligations, Taxes, liens, losses, expenses, and 

fees, including arbitration costs, court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees 

and expenses. 

 

        "Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 of the regulations 

promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act. 

 

        "Affiliated Group" means any affiliated group within the meaning of Code 

Section 1504(a) or any similar group defined under a similar provision of state, 

local or foreign law. 

 

        "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Allocation Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(a) below. 

 

        "Basis" means any past or present fact, situation, circumstance, status, 

condition, activity, practice, plan, occurrence, event, incident, action, 

failure to act, or transaction that forms or could form the basis for any 

specified consequence. 

 

        "Buyer" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

 



 

 

 

        "Buyer Common Stock" means the common stock, par value $.0001 per share, 

of the Buyer. 

 

        "Buyer Employee Plans" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(h) below. 

 

        "Buyer Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(a) 

below. 

 

        "Buyer Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(e) below. 

 

        "Class A Units" means the Class A Units of the Target as defined in the 

Target's Amended and Restated Operating Agreement (as amended to date). 

 

        "Class B Units" means the Class B Units of the Target as defined in the 

Target's Amended and Restated Operating Agreement (as amended to date). 

 

        "Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c) below. 

 

        "Closing Price" has the meaning set forth in Exhibit A-6 hereof. 

 

        "Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c) below. 

 

        "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 

        "Confidential Information" means any information concerning the 

businesses and affairs of the Target that is not already generally available to 

the public. 

 

        "Currency Exchange" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(g) below. 

 

        "Disclosure Schedule" has the meaning set forth in Section 4 below. 

 

        "Employee Benefit Plan" means any (a) nonqualified deferred compensation 

or retirement plan or arrangement that is an Employee Pension Benefit Plan, (b) 

qualified defined contribution retirement plan or arrangement that is an 

Employee Pension Benefit Plan, (c) qualified defined benefit retirement plan or 

arrangement that is an Employee Pension Benefit Plan (including any 

Multiemployer Plan), (d) Employee Welfare Benefit Plan or material fringe 

benefit plan or program, or (e) any bonus or other incentive compensation 

severance, option, equity based compensation, flexible spending, or similar 

plan, arrangement or practice. 

 

        "Employee Pension Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in ERISA 

Section 3(2). 

 

        "Employee Welfare Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in ERISA 

Section 3(1). 

 

        "Environmental Claims" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(a) below. 

 

        "Environmental, Health, and Safety Laws" means the Comprehensive 

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, and the Occupational Safety and Health 

Act of 1970, each as amended, together with all other laws (including rules, 

regulations, codes, plans, injunctions, judgments, orders, decrees, rulings, and 

charges thereunder) of federal, state, local, and foreign governments (and 
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all agencies thereof) concerning pollution or protection of the environment, 

public health and safety, or employee health and safety, including laws relating 

to emissions, discharges, releases, or threatened releases of pollutants, 

contaminants, or chemical, industrial, hazardous, or toxic materials or wastes 

into ambient air, surface water, ground water, or lands or otherwise relating to 

the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, 

transport, or handling of pollutants, contaminants, or chemical, industrial, 

hazardous, or toxic materials or wastes. 

 

        "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 

amended. 

 

        "Escrow Agent" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(f) below. 

 

        "Escrow Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a) below. 

 

        "Exchange Ratio" means 0.0406. 

 

        "Extremely Hazardous Substance" has the meaning set forth in Section 302 

of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, as amended. 

 

        "Fiduciary" has the meaning set forth in ERISA Section 3(21). 

 

        "Financial Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(g) below. 

 

        "Fraud Claims" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(a) below. 

 

        "GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles as 

in effect at a particular time. 

 

        "General Claims" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(a) below. 

 

        "Held Back Consideration" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d) 

below. 

 

        "Intellectual Property" means (a) all inventions (whether patentable or 

unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), all improvements thereto, 

and all patents, patent applications, and patent disclosures, together with all 

provisionals, reissuances, continuations, continuations-in-part, divisions, 

revisions, extensions, and reexaminations thereof, (b) all trademarks, service 

marks, trade dress, logos, brand names, trade names, domain names and corporate 

names, together with all translations, adaptations, derivations, and 

combinations thereof and including all goodwill associated therewith, and all 

applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith, (c) all 

copyrightable works, all copyrights, any and all website content, and all 

applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith, (d) all mask 

works and all applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith, 

(e) all trade secrets and confidential business information (including ideas, 

research and development, know-how, formulas, compositions, manufacturing and 

production processes and techniques, technical data, designs, drawings, 

specifications, research records, records of inventions, test information, 

customer and supplier lists, pricing and cost information, and business and 

marketing plans and proposals), (f) all source code and object versions of 

computer software (including data and related documentation and excluding any 

shrink-wrap licenses accompanying such software), (g) 
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all other proprietary rights, and (h) all copies and tangible embodiments 

thereof (in whatever form or medium), and any claims or causes of actions 

(pending, filed) arising out of or related to any infringement or 

misappropriation of any of the foregoing. 

 

        "Instrument" has the meaning set forth in Section 10(c) below. 

 

        "Knowledge" with respect to any Person means actual knowledge of such 

Person and, if such Person is an individual, any fact, matter or circumstance 

that an ordinary and prudent business person employed in the same capacity and 

in the same type and size of organization as such Person should have known. 

 

        "Liability" with respect to any Person means any liability of such 

Person (whether known or unknown, whether asserted or unasserted, whether 

absolute or contingent, whether accrued or unaccrued, whether liquidated or 

unliquidated, and whether due or to become due), including any liability for 

Taxes. 

 

        "Loan Agreement" means the Loan Agreement, dated as of September 14, 

2001, by and between the Buyer and the Target. 

 

        "Most Recent Balance Sheet" means the balance sheet contained within the 

Most Recent Financial Statements. 

 

        "Most Recent Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 

4(g) below. 

 

        "Most Recent Fiscal Month End" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(g) 

below. 

 

        "Most Recent Fiscal Year End" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(g) 

below. 

 

        "NASD" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(f)(iv) below. 

 

        "Multiemployer Plan" has the meaning set forth in ERISA Section 3(37). 

 

        "Options" means the right granted under the Target Plan to an employee, 

consultant or advisor of the Target to purchase Class A Units of the Target. 

 

        "Ordinary Course of Business" means the ordinary course of business 

consistent with past custom and practice (including with respect to quantity and 

frequency). 

 

        "Ownership Claims" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(a) below. 

 

        "Party" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Person" means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, an 

association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated 

organization, or a governmental entity (or any department, agency, or political 

subdivision thereof). 

 

        "Personnel" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(m) below. 
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        "Prohibited Transaction" means a transaction described in ERISA Section 

406 and Code Section 4975(c), to which a statutory, regulatory or administrative 

exemption does not apply. 

 

        "Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(b) below. 

 

        "Registrable Shares" means the shares of Buyer Common Stock identified 

on the lines entitled "Registrable Shares" of Exhibits A-1 through A-13 hereto. 

 

        "SEC" has the meaning set forth in Section 3(b)(ix) below. 

 

        "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

 

        "Securities Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended. 

 

        "Security Interest" means any mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance, 

charge, or other security interest of any kind. 

 

        "Seller Representatives" has the meaning set forth in Section 10(a) 

below. 

 

        "Sellers" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Subsidiaries" means all Persons in which the Target either owns capital 

stock or is a partner or is in some other manner affiliated through an 

investment or participation in the equity of such Person. 

 

        "Target" has the meaning set forth in the preface above. 

 

        "Target Employee" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(h) below. 

 

        "Target Plan" means the U.S. Monolithics, LLC 2000 Unit Incentive Plan 

(as amended to date). 

 

        "Tax" means any federal, state, local, or foreign income, gross 

receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, 

premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Code Section 

59A), customs duties, membership interests, franchise, profits, withholding, 

social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, real property, personal 

property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on 

minimum, estimated, or other tax or similar charge of any kind whatsoever, 

including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether disputed or not. 

 

        "Tax Claims" has the meaning set forth in Section 8(a) below. 

 

        "Tax Return" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or 

information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or 

attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof. 
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        2. Purchase and Sale of the Class A Units. 

 

                (a) Basic Transaction. On and subject to the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement, the Buyer agrees to purchase from each of the 

Sellers, and each of the Sellers agrees to sell to the Buyer, all of his Class A 

Units, free and clear of all Security Interests, for the consideration specified 

below in this Section 2. 

 

                (b) Purchase Price. The Buyer agrees to pay to each of the 

Sellers at the Closing the consideration identified for such Seller on the lines 

entitled "Purchase Price" of Exhibits A-1 through A-13 hereto in exchange for 

all of such Seller's Class A Units (the aggregate consideration received by all 

Sellers, the "Purchase Price"). 

 

                (c) The Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated by 

this Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place at the offices of Latham & 

Watkins, 12636 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300, San Diego, CA 92130 commencing at 

9:00 a.m. local time on the later of (i) January 4, 2002 or (ii) the business 

day following the satisfaction or waiver of all conditions to the obligations of 

the Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (other than 

conditions with respect to actions the respective Parties will take at the 

Closing itself) or such other date as the Buyer and the Seller Representatives 

may mutually determine (the "Closing Date"). 

 

                (d) Deliveries at the Closing. At the Closing, (i) the Sellers 

will deliver to the Buyer the various certificates, instruments, and documents 

referred to in Section 7(a) below, (ii) the Buyer will deliver to the Sellers 

the various certificates, instruments, and documents referred to in Section 7(b) 

below, (iii) each of the Sellers will deliver to the Buyer certificates 

representing all of his Class A Units, endorsed in blank or accompanied by duly 

executed assignment documents, (iv) the Buyer will deliver to each of the 

Sellers his portion of the Purchase Price as specified in Section 2(b) above, 

and (v) the Buyer will deliver to each of the Option holders set forth on 

Schedule 1 hereto the consideration identified opposite such holder's name on 

such Schedule. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at the Closing, the Buyer shall 

set aside and deposit into escrow in accordance with Section 8(f) the number of 

shares of Buyer Common Stock or cash (in U.S. dollars) identified for each 

Seller on the lines entitled "Held Back Consideration" of Exhibits A-1 through 

A-13 hereto (collectively, the "Held Back Consideration") as security for 

Sellers' indemnification obligations under this Agreement. 

 

                (e) Payment of Purchase Price. To the extent part of the 

consideration to be delivered to a Seller (or an Option holder) by the Buyer is 

cash consideration, the Buyer shall pay such cash amount, at Closing, by wire 

transfer of immediately available funds to such account or accounts of any such 

Seller (or Option holder) as designated in writing by the Seller Representatives 

not less than three business days prior to the Closing Date. To the extent part 

of the consideration to be delivered to a Seller consists of Buyer Common Stock, 

the Buyer shall deliver to such Seller, at Closing, a stock certificate 

representing the applicable number of shares of Buyer Common Stock in the name 

of such Seller. 
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        3. Representations and Warranties Concerning the Transaction. 

 

                (a) Representations and Warranties of the Sellers. Each of the 

Sellers represents and warrants to the Buyer that the statements contained in 

this Section 3(a) are correct and complete as of the date of this Agreement and 

will be correct and complete as of the Closing Date (as though made then and as 

though the Closing Date were substituted for the date of this Agreement 

throughout this Section 3(a)) with respect to himself or itself, except as set 

forth in Annex I attached hereto. 

 

                        (i) Authorization of Transaction. The Seller has full 

                power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to 

                perform his obligations hereunder. This Agreement constitutes 

                the valid and legally binding obligation of the Seller, 

                enforceable in accordance with its terms and conditions, except 

                as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, 

                insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws now 

                or hereafter in effect relating to or affecting creditors' right 

                generally and subject to the limitations imposed by general 

                equitable principles. The Seller need not give any notice to, 

                make any filing with, or obtain any authorization, consent, or 

                approval of any government, governmental agency or other third 

                party in order to consummate the transactions contemplated by 

                this Agreement. 

 

                        (ii) Noncontravention. Neither the execution and the 

                delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the 

                transactions contemplated hereby will violate any constitution, 

                statute, regulation, rule, injunction, judgment, order, decree, 

                ruling, charge, or other restriction of any government, 

                governmental agency, or court to which the Seller is subject. 

 

                        (iii) Brokers' Fees. The Seller has no Liability or 

                obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, 

                advisor, finder, or agent with respect to the transactions 

                contemplated by this Agreement for which the Buyer could become 

                liable or obligated. 

 

                        (iv) Investment. If the Seller is receiving shares of 

                Buyer Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement, the Seller (A) 

                understands that the shares of Buyer Common Stock issued 

                pursuant to this Agreement have not been, and, other than as 

                contemplated in Section 6(f) below, will not be, registered 

                under the Securities Act, or under any state securities laws, 

                and are being offered and sold in reliance upon federal and 

                state exemptions for transactions not involving any public 

                offering, (B) is acquiring his portion of the Buyer Common Stock 

                issued pursuant to this Agreement solely for his own account for 

                investment purposes, and not with a view to the distribution 

                thereof, (C) is a sophisticated investor with knowledge and 

                experience in business and financial matters, (D) has received 

                certain information concerning the Buyer and has had the 

                opportunity to obtain additional information as desired in order 

                to evaluate the merits and the risks inherent in holding Buyer 

                Common Stock, (E) is able to bear the economic risk and lack of 

                liquidity inherent in holding Buyer Common Stock, and (F) is an 

                Accredited Investor. 
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                        (v) Class A Units. The Seller holds of record and owns 

                beneficially the Class A Units set forth next to his name in 

                Section 4(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, free and clear of any 

                restrictions on transfer (other than any restrictions under the 

                Securities Act and state securities laws), Taxes, Security 

                Interests, options, warrants, purchase rights, contracts, 

                commitments, equities, claims, and demands. The Seller is not a 

                party to any option, warrant, purchase right, or other contract 

                or commitment that could require the Seller to sell, transfer, 

                or otherwise dispose of any Class A Units (other than this 

                Agreement). The Seller is not a party to any voting trust, 

                proxy, or other agreement or understanding with respect to the 

                voting of any Class A Units. Upon the consummation of the 

                transactions contemplated hereby, the Buyer will acquire good 

                and marketable title to all of the Class A Units of the Seller, 

                free and clear of any restrictions on transfer (other than any 

                restrictions under the Securities Act and state securities 

                laws), Taxes, Security Interests, options, warrants, purchase 

                rights, contracts, commitments, equities, claims, and demands. 

 

                (b) Representations and Warranties of the Buyer. The Buyer 

represents and warrants to the Sellers that the statements contained in this 

Section 3(b) are correct and complete as of the date of this Agreement and will 

be correct and complete as of the Closing Date (as though made then and as 

though the Closing Date were substituted for the date of this Agreement 

throughout this Section 3(b)). 

 

                        (i) Organization of the Buyer. The Buyer is a 

                corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good 

                standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. 

 

                        (ii) Authorization of Transaction. The Buyer has full 

                corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this 

                Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. This 

                Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation 

                of the Buyer, enforceable in accordance with its terms and 

                conditions, except as enforceability may be limited by 

                applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or 

                other similar laws now or hereafter in effect relating to or 

                affecting creditors' right generally and subject to the 

                limitations imposed by general equitable principles. Other than 

                filings that may be required pursuant to applicable state 

                securities laws and Regulation D of the Securities Act, the 

                Buyer need not give any notice to, make any filing with, or 

                obtain any authorization, consent, or approval of any government 

                or governmental agency in order to consummate the transactions 

                contemplated by this Agreement other than such other notices, 

                filings, authorizations, consents and approvals the failure to 

                obtain or make would not have a material adverse effect on the 

                Sellers. 

 

                        (iii) Noncontravention. Neither the execution and the 

                delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the 

                transactions contemplated hereby will violate any constitution, 

                statute, regulation, rule, injunction, judgment, order, decree, 

                ruling, charge, or other restriction of any government, 

                governmental agency, or court to which the Buyer is subject or 

                any provision of its charter or bylaws. 
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                        (iv) Brokers' Fees. The Buyer has no Liability or 

                obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, 

                advisor, finder, or agent with respect to the transactions 

                contemplated by this Agreement for which any Seller could become 

                liable or obligated. 

 

                        (v) Investment. The Buyer is not acquiring the Class A 

                Units with a view to or for sale in connection with any 

                distribution thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act. 

 

                        (vi) Litigation. There are no legal proceedings pending 

                or, to the Knowledge of the Buyer, threatened that are 

                reasonably likely to prohibit or restrain the ability of the 

                Buyer to enter into this Agreement or consummate the 

                transactions contemplated hereby. 

 

                        (vii) Issuance of Shares. Upon issuance of the Buyer 

                Common Stock to the Sellers in accordance with Section 2 above 

                for the consideration expressed therein, the Buyer Common Stock 

                will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and 

                nonassessable. 

 

                        (viii) Capitalization of the Buyer. The authorized 

                capital stock of the Buyer consists of 105,000,000 shares, 

                100,000,000 of which are classified as Buyer Common Stock and 

                5,000,000 shares of which are classified as preferred stock, par 

                value $.0001 per share. As of December 13, 2001, 22,656,335 

                shares of Buyer Common Stock were issued and outstanding. 

 

                        (ix) Nasdaq National Market. The Buyer Common Stock is 

                listed on the Nasdaq National Market and there are no 

                proceedings to revoke or suspend such listing. 

 

                        (x) SEC Filings; Reports. Except for correspondence 

                relating to confidential treatment requests, the Buyer has 

                heretofore made available to the Sellers the Buyer's Form 10-K 

                for the year ended March 31, 2001 and each and every filing or 

                communication with the United States Securities and Exchange 

                Commission ("SEC") since the date thereof or otherwise modifying 

                such 10-K. As of its date, except for any information corrected 

                or superseded by subsequent filings with the SEC, such reports 

                did not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to 

                state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary 

                to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances 

                under which they were made, not misleading. The audited 

                consolidated financial statements of the Buyer and its 

                subsidiaries, and the certified notes thereto included in the 

                10-K have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and present 

                fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial 

                position of the Buyer and its subsidiaries as of the date 

                thereof and the results of their consolidated operations and 

                changes in consolidated financial position for the periods then 

                ended. 

 

        4. Representations and Warranties Concerning the Target. The Sellers 

represent and warrant to the Buyer that the statements contained in this Section 

4 are correct and complete as of the 
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date of this Agreement and will be correct and complete as of the Closing Date 

(as though made then and as though the Closing Date were substituted for the 

date of this Agreement throughout this Section 4), except as set forth in the 

disclosure schedule delivered by the Sellers to the Buyer on the date hereof 

(the "Disclosure Schedule"). The Disclosure Schedule will be arranged in 

paragraphs corresponding to the lettered and numbered paragraphs contained in 

this Section 4. Each section of the Disclosure Schedule qualifies the 

correspondingly numbered representation and warranty of this Agreement to the 

extent specified therein and such other representations and warranties of this 

Agreement to the extent a matter in such section is disclosed in such a way as 

to make its relevance to the information called for by such other representation 

and warranty of this Agreement reasonably apparent. 

 

                (a) Organization, Qualification, and Corporate Power. The Target 

is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing, and in good 

standing under the laws of the State of Arizona. The Target is duly authorized 

to conduct business and is in good standing under the laws of each jurisdiction 

where such qualification is required, except where the failure to be so 

qualified would not have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition, operations, results of operations, or future prospects of the Target. 

Section 4(a) of the Disclosure Schedule lists each jurisdiction in which the 

Target is qualified or authorized to do business. The Target has full 

organizational power and authority and all licenses, permits, and authorizations 

necessary to carry on the business in which it is engaged and in which it 

presently proposes to engage and to own and use the properties owned and used by 

it. Section 4(a) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all such licenses, permits and 

authorizations. The Sellers have delivered to the Buyer correct and complete 

copies of the articles of organization and operating agreement of the Target 

(each as amended to date). The minutes of proceedings of the members and 

managers of the Target (containing the records of meetings of the members, the 

managers, and any committees of the managers), the records of its members and 

the number and class of Class A Units held by its members, and any other records 

evidencing equity interests in the Target are correct and complete. The Target 

is not in default under or in violation of any provision of its articles of 

organization or its operating agreement (each as amended to date). 

 

                (b) Capitalization. The equity interests of the Target consists 

of 30,000,000 issued and outstanding Class A Units and 16,153,846.15 issued and 

outstanding Class B Units. All of the issued and outstanding Class A Units have 

been duly authorized, are validly issued, fully paid, and nonassessable, are 

held of record by the Sellers as set forth in Section 4(b) of the Disclosure 

Schedule and were issued in compliance with all applicable state and federal 

securities laws. All of the issued and outstanding Class B Units have been duly 

authorized, are validly issued, fully paid, and nonassessable and were issued in 

compliance with all applicable state and federal securities laws. Section 4(b) 

of the Disclosure Schedule lists all outstanding or authorized Options, 

warrants, purchase rights, subscription rights, conversion rights, exchange 

rights, or other contracts or commitments that could require the Target to 

issue, sell, or otherwise cause to become outstanding any of its equity 

interests. All such issued and outstanding Options, warrants, purchase rights, 

subscription rights, conversion rights, exchange rights or other contracts or 

commitments were issued in compliance with all applicable state and federal 

securities laws. With respect to each issued and outstanding Option, Section 

4(b) of the Disclosure Schedule also lists the holder thereof, the number and 

type of equity interest of the Target issuable thereunder, the exercise price 

therefor, the exercise period, the vesting schedule and the status of the 

holders thereof as employees or consultants of the Target. There are no voting 
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trusts, proxies, or other agreements or understandings with respect to the 

voting of the equity interests of the Target. 

 

                (c) Noncontravention. Neither the execution and the delivery of 

this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will 

(i) violate any constitution, statute, regulation, rule, injunction, judgment, 

order, decree, ruling, charge, or other restriction of any government, 

governmental agency, or court to which the Target is subject or any provision of 

the articles of organization or operating agreement (each as amended to date) of 

the Target or (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default 

under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to 

accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel, or require any notice under any 

material agreement, contract, lease, license, instrument, or other arrangement 

to which the Target is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its 

assets is subject (or result in the imposition of any Security Interest upon any 

of its assets). The Target is not required to give notice to, make any filing 

with, or obtain any authorization, consent, or approval of any government, 

governmental agency or other third party in order for the Parties to consummate 

the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

 

                (d) Brokers' Fees. The Target does not have any Liability or 

obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, advisor, finder, or 

agent with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

 

                (e) Title to Assets. Except for properties and assets disposed 

of in the Ordinary Course of Business since the date of the Most Recent Balance 

Sheet, the Target has good and marketable title to, or a valid leasehold 

interest in, the properties and assets used by it, located on its premises, or 

shown on the Most Recent Balance Sheet or acquired after the date thereof, free 

and clear of all Security Interests, other than mechanic's, materialmen's, and 

similar liens, liens for Taxes not yet due and payable, and other liens arising 

in the Ordinary Course of Business and not incurred in connection with the 

borrowing of money. 

 

                (f) Subsidiaries. Section 4(f) of the Disclosure Schedule sets 

forth all of the Subsidiaries of the Target. All references in this Agreement to 

the Target, unless the context indicates otherwise, shall be deemed to mean the 

Target and its Subsidiaries. Section 4(f) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth 

for each Subsidiary of the Target: (i) its jurisdiction of incorporation, (ii) 

the number of shares of authorized capital stock of each class of its capital 

stock, and (iii) the number of issued and outstanding shares of each class of 

its capital stock. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of 

each Subsidiary of the Target have been duly authorized and are validly issued, 

fully paid, and nonassessable and were issued in compliance with all applicable 

state and federal securities laws. The Target holds of record and owns 

beneficially all of the outstanding shares of each Subsidiary of the Target, 

free and clear of any restrictions on transfer (other than restrictions under 

the Securities Act and state securities laws), Taxes, Security Interests, 

options, warrants, purchase rights, contracts, commitments, equities, claims, 

and demands. There are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, purchase 

rights, subscription rights, conversion rights, exchange rights, or other 

contracts or commitments that could require the Target to sell, transfer, or 

otherwise dispose of any capital stock of any of its Subsidiaries or that could 

require any Subsidiary of the Target to issue, sell, or otherwise cause to 

become outstanding any of its own capital stock. There are no outstanding stock 

appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation, or similar rights with 

respect to any 
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Subsidiary of the Target. There are no voting trusts, proxies, or other 

agreements or understandings with respect to the voting of any capital stock of 

any Subsidiary of the Target. 

 

                (g) Financial Statements. Attached hereto as Exhibit B are the 

following financial statements (collectively, the "Financial Statements"): (i) 

audited balance sheets and statements of operation, changes in members' equity, 

and cash flow as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 1999 and 

December 31, 2000 (the "Most Recent Fiscal Year End") for the Target; and (ii) 

unaudited balance sheets and statements of operation, changes in members' 

equity, and cash flow (the "Most Recent Financial Statements") as of and for the 

nine months ended September 30, 2001 (the "Most Recent Fiscal Month End") for 

the Target. The Financial Statements (including the notes thereto) have been 

prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the 

periods covered thereby, present fairly the financial condition of the Target as 

of such dates and the results of operations of the Target for such periods, are 

correct and complete in all material respects, and are consistent with the books 

and records of the Target (which books and records are correct and complete in 

all material respects); provided, however, that the Most Recent Financial 

Statements are subject to normal year-end adjustments (which will not be 

material individually or in the aggregate) and lack footnotes and other 

presentation items. 

 

                (h) Events Subsequent to Most Recent Fiscal Year End. Since the 

Most Recent Fiscal Year End, there has not been any material adverse change in 

the business, financial condition, operations, results of operations, or future 

prospects of the Target. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, since 

that date: 

 

                        (i) The Target has not sold, leased, transferred, or 

                assigned any of its assets, tangible or intangible, other than 

                for a fair consideration in the Ordinary Course of Business; 

 

                        (ii) The Target has not entered into any agreement, 

                contract, lease, or license (or series of related agreements, 

                contracts, leases, and licenses) either involving more than 

                $25,000 or outside the Ordinary Course of Business; 

 

                        (iii) No party (including the Target) has accelerated, 

                terminated, modified, or cancelled any agreement, contract, 

                lease, or license (or series of related agreements, contracts, 

                leases, and licenses) involving more than $25,000 to which the 

                Target is a party or by which it is bound; 

 

                        (iv) The Target has not imposed any Security Interest 

                upon any of its assets, tangible or intangible, other than the 

                Security Interest on its assets in favor of the Buyer, 

                mechanic's, materialmen's, and similar liens, liens for Taxes 

                not yet due and payable, and other liens arising in the Ordinary 

                Course of Business and not incurred in connection with the 

                borrowing of money; 

 

                        (v) The Target has not made any capital expenditure (or 

                series of related capital expenditures) either involving more 

                than $25,000 or outside the Ordinary Course of Business; 
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                        (vi) The Target has not made any capital investment in, 

                any loan to, or any acquisition of the securities or assets of, 

                any other Person (or series of related capital investments, 

                loans, and acquisitions) either involving more than $25,000 or 

                outside the Ordinary Course of Business; 

 

                        (vii) The Target has not issued any note, bond, or other 

                debt security, other than notes in favor of the Buyer, or 

                created, incurred, assumed, or guaranteed any indebtedness for 

                borrowed money or capitalized lease obligation either involving 

                more than $25,000 singly or $50,000 in the aggregate; 

 

                        (viii) The Target has not delayed or postponed the 

                payment of accounts payable and other Liabilities outside the 

                Ordinary Course of Business; 

 

                        (ix) The Target has not cancelled, compromised, waived, 

                or released any right or claim (or series of related rights and 

                claims) either involving more than $10,000 or outside the 

                Ordinary Course of Business; 

 

                        (x) The Target has not granted any license or sublicense 

                of any rights under or with respect to any Intellectual 

                Property; 

 

                        (xi) There has been no change made or authorized in the 

                articles of organization or the operating agreement of the 

                Target; 

 

                        (xii) The Target has not issued, sold, or otherwise 

                disposed of any of its equity interests, or granted any options, 

                warrants, or other rights to purchase or obtain (including upon 

                conversion, exchange, or exercise) any of its equity interests; 

 

                        (xiii) The Target has not declared, set aside, or paid 

                any dividend or made any distribution with respect to its equity 

                interests (whether in cash or in kind) or redeemed, purchased, 

                or otherwise acquired any of its equity interests; 

 

                        (xiv) The Target has not experienced any damage, 

                destruction, or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) to 

                its property; 

 

                        (xv) The Target has not made any loan to, or entered 

                into any other transaction with, any of its managers, officers, 

                or employees outside the Ordinary Course of Business; 

 

                        (xvi) The Target has not entered into any employment 

                contract or collective bargaining agreement, written or oral, or 

                modified the terms of any existing such contract or agreement; 

 

                        (xvii) The Target has not granted any increase in the 

                base compensation of any of its managers, officers, or employees 

                outside the Ordinary Course of Business; 
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                        (xviii) The Target has not adopted, amended, modified, 

                or terminated any bonus, profit-sharing, incentive, severance, 

                or other plan, contract, or commitment for the benefit of any of 

                its managers, officers, or employees (or taken any such action 

                with respect to any other Employee Benefit Plan); 

 

                        (xix) The Target has not made any other change in 

                employment terms for any of its managers, officers, or employees 

                outside the Ordinary Course of Business; 

 

                        (xx) The Target has not made or pledged to make any 

                charitable or other capital contribution outside the Ordinary 

                Course of Business; 

 

                        (xxi) There has not been any other material occurrence, 

                event, incident, action, failure to act, or transaction outside 

                the Ordinary Course of Business involving the Target, other than 

                any material occurrence, event or incident relating to the 

                industry in which the Target operates in general that does not 

                have a materially disproportionate effect on the Target relative 

                to most other industry participants; and 

 

                        (xxii) The Target has not committed to any of the 

                foregoing. 

 

                (i) Undisclosed Liabilities. The Target does not have any 

material Liability (and there is no Basis for any present or future action, 

suit, proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand 

against it giving rise to any material Liability), except for (i) Liabilities 

set forth on the face of the Most Recent Balance Sheet (rather than in any notes 

thereto) and (ii) Liabilities that have arisen after the Most Recent Fiscal 

Month End in the Ordinary Course of Business (none of which results from, arises 

out of, relates to, is in the nature of, or was caused by any breach of 

contract, breach of warranty, tort, infringement, or violation of law). 

 

                (j) Legal Compliance. The Target (and its respective 

predecessors, if any) has complied in all material respects with all applicable 

laws (including rules, regulations, codes, plans, injunctions, judgments, 

orders, decrees, rulings, and charges thereunder) of federal, state, local, and 

foreign governments (and all agencies thereof), and no action, suit, proceeding, 

hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, demand, or notice has been 

filed or commenced against it alleging any failure so to comply. 

 

                (k) Tax Matters. 

 

                        (i)  Since its inception, the Target has at all times 

                been properly characterized as a partnership for U.S. federal 

                and all applicable state income tax purposes. 

 

                        (ii) The Target has filed all Tax Returns that it was 

                required to file prior to the Closing Date. All such Tax Returns 

                were correct and complete in all material respects. All Taxes 

                owed by the Target (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) and 

                required to be reflected on Tax Returns due prior to the Closing 

                Date have been paid. 
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                        (iii) No claim has ever been made by an authority in a 

                jurisdiction where the Target does not file Tax Returns that it 

                is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction, and the 

                jurisdictions in which the Target is subject to taxation is set 

                forth on Section 4(k) of the Disclosure Schedule. 

 

                        (iv) There are no Security Interests on any of the 

                assets of the Target that arose in connection with any failure 

                (or alleged failure) to pay any Tax. 

 

                        (v) The Target has withheld and paid all Taxes required 

                to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid 

                or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, 

                unitholder, or other third party. 

 

                        (vi) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, the Target does 

                not expect any authority to assess any additional Taxes for any 

                period for which Tax Returns have been filed. There is no 

                dispute or claim concerning any Tax Liability of the Target 

                either (A) claimed or raised by any authority in writing or (B) 

                otherwise, to the Knowledge of the Sellers. Section 4(k) of the 

                Disclosure Schedule lists all federal, state, local, and foreign 

                income Tax Returns filed with respect to the Target for Taxable 

                periods ended on or after December 31, 2000, indicates those Tax 

                Returns that have been audited, and indicates those Tax Returns 

                that currently are the subject of audit. The Target has 

                delivered to the Buyer correct and complete copies of all 

                federal income Tax Returns, examination reports, and statements 

                of deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by the Target. 

 

                        (vii) The Target currently is not the beneficiary of any 

                extension of time within which to file any Tax Return. The 

                Target has not waived any statute of limitations in respect of 

                Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax 

                assessment or deficiency. No power of attorney is outstanding 

                with respect to any Tax for which the Target may be responsible. 

 

                        (viii) The Target is not a party to any Tax allocation 

                or sharing agreement. The Target (A) has not been a member of an 

                Affiliated Group filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return 

                or (B) does not have any Liability for the Taxes of any Person 

                (other than the Target) under Reg. Section 1.1502-6 (or any 

                similar provision of state, local, or foreign law), as a 

                transferee or successor, by contract, or otherwise. The Target 

                is not included in a combined, unitary or similar Tax Return. 

 

                        (ix) The unpaid Taxes of the Target (A) did not, as of 

                the Most Recent Fiscal Month End, exceed the reserve for Tax 

                Liability (rather than any reserve for deferred Taxes 

                established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax 

                income) set forth on the face of the Most Recent Balance Sheet 

                (rather than in any notes thereto) delivered to the Buyer prior 

                to the signing hereof and (B) do not exceed that reserve as 

                adjusted for Taxes arising in the Ordinary Course of Business 

                (e.g., FICA and state employment taxes) and for the passage of 

                time through the Closing Date in accordance with the past custom 

                and practice of the Target in filing its Tax Returns. The unpaid 

                Taxes of the Target (other than Taxes 
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                required to be reflected on Tax Returns due prior to the Closing 

                Date) as of the Closing Date do not exceed $30,000. 

 

                (l) Real Property. 

 

                        (i) The Target does not own any real property. 

 

                        (ii) Section 4(l) of the Disclosure Schedule lists and 

                describes briefly all real property leased or subleased to the 

                Target. The Sellers have delivered to the Buyer correct and 

                complete copies of the leases and subleases listed in Section 

                4(l) of the Disclosure Schedule (as amended to date). With 

                respect to each lease and sublease listed in Section 4(l) of the 

                Disclosure Schedule: 

 

                                (A) the lease or sublease is legal, valid, 

                        binding, enforceable, and in full force and effect; 

 

                                (B) the lease or sublease will continue to be 

                        legal, valid, binding, enforceable, and in full force 

                        and effect on identical terms following the consummation 

                        of the transactions contemplated hereby; 

 

                                (C) neither the Target nor, to the Knowledge of 

                        any of the Sellers, any other party to the lease or 

                        sublease is in breach or default, and no event has 

                        occurred that, with notice or lapse of time, would 

                        constitute a breach or default or permit termination, 

                        modification, or acceleration thereunder; 

 

                                (D) neither the Target nor, to the Knowledge of 

                        any of the Sellers, any other party to the lease or 

                        sublease has repudiated any provision thereof; 

 

                                (E) there are no disputes, oral agreements, or 

                        forbearance programs in effect as to the lease or 

                        sublease; 

 

                                (F) with respect to each sublease, the 

                        representations and warranties set forth in subsections 

                        (A) through (E) above are true and correct with respect 

                        to the underlying lease; 

 

                                (G) the Target has not assigned, transferred, 

                        conveyed, mortgaged, deeded in trust, or encumbered any 

                        interest in the leasehold or subleasehold; 

 

                                (H) all facilities leased or subleased 

                        thereunder have received all material approvals of 

                        governmental authorities (including licenses and 

                        permits) required in connection with the operation 

                        thereof and have been operated and maintained in all 

                        material respects in accordance with applicable laws, 

                        rules, and regulations; 
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                                (I) all facilities leased or subleased 

                        thereunder are supplied with utilities and other 

                        services necessary for the operation of said facilities; 

                        and 

 

                                (J) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the owner 

                        of the facility leased or subleased has good and 

                        marketable title to the parcel of real property, free 

                        and clear of any Security Interest, easement, covenant, 

                        or other restriction, except for installments of special 

                        easements not yet delinquent and recorded easements, 

                        covenants, and other restrictions that do not impair the 

                        current use, occupancy, or value, or the marketability 

                        of title, of the property subject thereto. 

 

                (m) Intellectual Property. 

 

                        (i) The Target owns or has the right to use, execute, 

                reproduce, display, perform, modify, enhance, distribute, 

                prepare derivative works of, and to make, have made, sell, 

                convey, transfer or assume without payments to any other Person, 

                all Intellectual Property necessary or desirable for the 

                operation of the business of the Target as presently conducted 

                and as presently proposed to be conducted. Each item of 

                Intellectual Property owned or used by the Target immediately 

                prior to the Closing hereunder will be owned or available for 

                use by the Target on identical terms and conditions immediately 

                subsequent to the Closing hereunder. The Target has taken all 

                actions it reasonably believes is required to maintain and 

                protect each item of Intellectual Property that it owns or uses. 

 

                        (ii) The Target has not interfered with, infringed upon, 

                misappropriated, or otherwise come into conflict with any 

                Intellectual Property rights of third parties, and none of the 

                Sellers, the managers and officers of the Target has ever 

                received any charge, complaint, claim, demand, or notice 

                alleging any such interference, infringement, misappropriation, 

                or violation (including any claim that the Target must license 

                or refrain from using any Intellectual Property rights of any 

                third party). To the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, no third 

                party has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated, or 

                otherwise come into conflict with any Intellectual Property 

                rights of the Target. 

 

                        (iii) Section 4(m)(iii) of the Disclosure Schedule 

                identifies each patent or registration that has been issued to 

                the Target with respect to any of its Intellectual Property, 

                identifies each pending patent application or application for 

                registration that the Target has made with respect to any of its 

                Intellectual Property, and identifies each license, agreement, 

                or other permission that the Target has granted to any third 

                party with respect to any of its Intellectual Property (together 

                with any exceptions). The Sellers have delivered to the Buyer 

                correct and complete copies of all such patents, registrations, 

                applications, licenses, agreements, and permissions (as amended 

                to date) and have made available to the Buyer correct and 

                complete copies of all other written documentation evidencing 

                ownership and prosecution (if applicable) of each such item. 

                Section 4(m)(iii) of the Disclosure 
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                Schedule also identifies each trade name or unregistered 

                trademark used by the Target in connection with its business. 

                With respect to each item of Intellectual Property required to 

                be identified in Section 4(m)(iii) of the Disclosure Schedule: 

 

                                (A) the Target possesses all right, title, and 

                        interest in and to the item, free and clear of any 

                        Security Interest, license, or other restriction; 

 

                                (B) the item is not subject to any outstanding 

                        injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge; 

 

                                (C) no action, suit, proceeding, hearing, 

                        investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand is 

                        pending or, to the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, is 

                        threatened that challenges the legality, validity, 

                        enforceability, registrations, use, or ownership of the 

                        item; and 

 

                                (D) the Target has never agreed to indemnify any 

                        Person for or against any interference, infringement, 

                        misappropriation, or other conflict with respect to the 

                        item. 

 

                        (iv) Section 4(m)(iv) of the Disclosure Schedule 

                identifies each item of Intellectual Property that any third 

                party owns and that the Target uses pursuant to license, 

                sublicense, agreement, or permission. The Sellers have delivered 

                to the Buyer correct and complete copies of all such licenses, 

                sublicenses, agreements, and permissions (as amended to date). 

                With respect to each item of Intellectual Property required to 

                be identified in Section 4(m)(iv) of the Disclosure Schedule: 

 

                                (A) the license, sublicense, agreement, or 

                        permission covering the item is legal, valid, binding, 

                        enforceable, and in full force and effect; 

 

                                (B) the license, sublicense, agreement, or 

                        permission will continue to be legal, valid, binding, 

                        enforceable, and in full force and effect on identical 

                        terms following the consummation of the transactions 

                        contemplated hereby (including the assignments and 

                        assumptions referred to in Section 2 above); 

 

                                (C) neither the Target nor, to the Knowledge of 

                        any of the Sellers, any other party to the license, 

                        sublicense, agreement, or permission is in breach or 

                        default, and no event has occurred that with notice or 

                        lapse of time would constitute a breach or default or 

                        permit termination, modification, or acceleration 

                        thereunder; 

 

                                (D) neither the Target nor, to the Knowledge of 

                        any of the Sellers, any other party to the license, 

                        sublicense, agreement, or permission has repudiated any 

                        provision thereof; 

 

                                (E) with respect to each sublicense, the 

                        representations and warranties set forth in subsections 

                        (A) through (D) above are true and correct with respect 

                        to the underlying license; 
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                                (F) the underlying item of Intellectual Property 

                        is not subject to any outstanding injunction, judgment, 

                        order, decree, ruling, or charge; 

 

                                (G) no action, suit, proceeding, hearing, 

                        investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand is 

                        pending or, to the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, is 

                        threatened that challenges the legality, validity, or 

                        enforceability of the underlying item of Intellectual 

                        Property; and 

 

                                (H) the Target has not granted any sublicense or 

                        similar right with respect to the license, sublicense, 

                        agreement, or permission. 

 

                        (v) To the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, the Target 

                will not interfere with, infringe upon, misappropriate, or 

                otherwise come into conflict with, any Intellectual Property 

                rights of third parties as a result of the continued operation 

                of its businesses as presently conducted and as presently 

                proposed to be conducted. 

 

                        (vi) All Intellectual Property has been maintained in 

                confidence in accordance with protection procedures customarily 

                used in the industry to protect rights of like importance. All 

                former and current members of management and personnel of the 

                Target, including all former and current managers, employees, 

                agents, consultants and independent contractors who have 

                contributed to or participated in the conception and development 

                of the Intellectual Property (collectively, "Personnel"), have 

                executed and delivered to the Target a proprietary information 

                agreement, copies of which have been previously delivered to the 

                Buyer. No former or current Personnel has filed, asserted or, to 

                the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, threatened any claim 

                against the Target in connection with such Person's involvement 

                in the conception and development of any Intellectual Property. 

                To the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, none of the current 

                employees of the Target has any patents issued or applications 

                pending for any device, process, design or invention of any kind 

                now used or needed by the Target in the furtherance of its 

                business, which patents or applications have not been assigned 

                to the Target. 

 

                (n) Tangible Assets. The Target owns or leases all buildings, 

machinery, equipment, and other tangible assets necessary for the conduct of its 

business as presently conducted and as presently proposed to be conducted. Each 

such tangible asset is free from defects (patent and latent), has been 

maintained in accordance with normal industry practice, is in good operating 

condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear), and is suitable for the 

purposes for which it presently is used and presently is proposed to be used. 

 

                (o) Inventory. The inventory of the Target consists of raw 

materials and supplies, manufactured and purchased parts, goods in process, and 

finished goods, all of which is merchantable and fit for the purpose for which 

it was procured or manufactured, and none of which is slow-moving, obsolete, 

damaged, or defective, subject only to the reserve for inventory writedown set 

forth on the face of the Most Recent Balance Sheet (rather than in any notes 
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thereto) as adjusted for the passage of time through the Closing Date in 

accordance with the past custom and practice of the Target. 

 

                (p) Contracts. Section 4(p) of the Disclosure Schedule lists the 

following contracts and other agreements to which the Target is a party: 

 

                        (i) any agreement (or group of related agreements) for 

                the lease of personal property to or from any Person providing 

                for lease payments in excess of $25,000 per annum; 

 

                        (ii) any agreement (or group of related agreements) for 

                the purchase or sale of raw materials, commodities, supplies, 

                products, or other personal property, or for the furnishing or 

                receipt of services, the performance of which will extend over a 

                period of more than one year, result in a loss to the Target, or 

                involve consideration in excess of $25,000; 

 

                        (iii) any agreement concerning a partnership or joint 

                venture; 

 

                        (iv) any agreement (or group of related agreements), 

                other than the Loan Agreement, under which it has created, 

                incurred, assumed, or guaranteed any indebtedness for borrowed 

                money, or any capitalized lease obligation, in excess of 25,000 

                or under which it has imposed a Security Interest on any of its 

                assets, tangible or intangible; 

 

                        (v) any agreement concerning confidentiality or 

                noncompetition; 

 

                        (vi) any agreement with any of the Sellers and their 

                Affiliates (other than the Target); 

 

                        (vii) any profit sharing, stock option, stock purchase, 

                stock appreciation, deferred compensation, severance, or other 

                plan or arrangement for the benefit of its current or former 

                managers, officers, and employees; 

 

                        (viii) any collective bargaining agreement; 

 

                        (ix) any agreement for the employment of any individual 

                on a full-time, part-time, consulting, or other basis; 

 

                        (x) any agreement under which it has advanced or loaned 

                any amount to any of its managers, officers, or employees 

                outside the Ordinary Course of Business; 

 

                        (xi) any agreement under which the Target may be 

                required to pay any royalties, honoraria, fees or other payments 

                to any Person by reason of the Target's ownership, use, license, 

                sales or disposition of the Intellectual Property of such 

                Person; 
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                        (xii) any agreement under which the Target may be 

                entitled to royalties, honoraria, fees or other payments from 

                any Person by reason of such Person's ownership, use, license, 

                sale or disposition of the Intellectual Property of the Target; 

 

                        (xiii) any agreement under which the consequences of a 

                default or termination could have a material adverse effect on 

                the business, financial condition, operations, results of 

                operations, or future prospects of the Target; 

 

                        (xiv) any other agreement (or group of related 

                agreements) the performance of which involves consideration or 

                payments in excess of $25,000; or 

 

                        (xv) any amendment or modification in respect of any of 

                the foregoing. 

 

        The Sellers have delivered to the Buyer a correct and complete copy of 

each written agreement listed in Section 4(p) of the Disclosure Schedule (as 

amended to date) and a written summary setting forth the terms and conditions of 

each oral agreement referred to in Section 4(p) of the Disclosure Schedule. With 

respect to each such agreement: (A) the agreement is legal, valid, binding, 

enforceable, and in full force and effect; (B) the agreement will continue to be 

legal, valid, binding, enforceable, and in full force and effect on identical 

terms following the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby after 

receipt of all applicable consents, approvals or notices, which consents, 

approvals and notices are set forth in Section 4(p) of the Disclosure Schedule; 

(C) neither the Target nor, to the Knowledge of any of the Sellers (or Jon 

Filreis), any other party is in breach or default, and no event has occurred 

that, with notice or lapse of time, would constitute a breach or default, or 

permit termination, modification, or acceleration, under the agreement; and (D) 

neither the Target nor, to the Knowledge of any of the Sellers (or Jon Filreis), 

any other party has repudiated any provision of the agreement. 

 

                (q) Notes and Accounts Receivable. All notes and accounts 

receivable of the Target are reflected properly on its books and records, are 

valid receivables subject to no setoffs or counterclaims, are current and 

collectible, and will be collected in accordance with their terms at their 

recorded amounts, subject only to the reserve for bad debts set forth on the 

face of the Most Recent Balance Sheet (rather than in any notes thereto) as 

adjusted for the passage of time through the Closing Date in accordance with the 

past custom and practice of the Target. 

 

                (r) Powers of Attorney. Section 4(r) of the Disclosure Schedule 

lists all outstanding powers of attorney executed on behalf of the Target. 

 

                (s) Insurance. Section 4(s) of the Disclosure Schedule sets 

forth the following information with respect to each insurance policy (including 

policies providing property, casualty, liability, and workers' compensation 

coverage and bond and surety arrangements) to which the Target has been a party, 

a named insured, or otherwise the beneficiary of coverage at any time since its 

original date of organization: 

 

                        (i) the name, address, and telephone number of the 

                agent; 
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                        (ii) the name of the insurer, the name of the 

                policyholder, and the name of each covered insured; 

 

                        (iii) the policy number and the period of coverage; and 

 

                        (iv) a description of any retroactive premium 

                adjustments or other loss-sharing arrangements. 

 

        With respect to each such insurance policy: (A) the policy is legal, 

valid, binding, enforceable, and in full force and effect; (B) the policy will 

continue to be legal, valid, binding, enforceable, and in full force and effect 

on identical terms following the consummation of the transactions contemplated 

hereby; (C) neither the Target nor, to the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, any 

other party to the policy is in breach or default (including with respect to the 

payment of premiums or the giving of notices), and no event has occurred that, 

with notice or the lapse of time, would constitute such a breach or default, or 

permit termination, modification, or acceleration, under the policy; and (D) 

neither the Target nor, to the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, any other party 

to the policy has repudiated any provision thereof. The Target has been covered 

since the original date of its organization by insurance in scope and amount 

customary and reasonable for the business in which it has engaged during the 

aforementioned period. Section 4(s) of the Disclosure Schedule describes any 

self-insurance arrangements affecting the Target. 

 

                (t) Litigation. Section 4(t) of the Disclosure Schedule sets 

forth each instance in which the Target (i) is subject to any outstanding 

injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge or (ii) is a party or, to 

the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, is threatened to be made a party to any 

action, suit, proceeding, hearing, or investigation of, in, or before any court 

or quasi-judicial or administrative agency of any federal, state, local, or 

foreign jurisdiction or before any arbitrator. None of the actions, suits, 

proceedings, hearings, and investigations set forth in Section 4(t) of the 

Disclosure Schedule could result in any material adverse change in the business, 

financial condition, operations, results of operations, or future prospects of 

the Target. 

 

                (u) Product Warranty. Each product manufactured, sold, leased, 

or delivered by the Target has been in conformity in all material respects with 

all applicable contractual commitments and all express and implied warranties, 

and the Target does not have any Liability (and there is no Basis for any 

present or future action, suit, proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, 

complaint, claim, or demand against any of them giving rise to any Liability) 

for replacement or repair thereof or other damages in connection therewith, 

subject only to the reserve for product warranty claims set forth on the face of 

the Most Recent Balance Sheet (rather than in any notes thereto) as adjusted for 

the passage of time through the Closing Date in accordance with the past custom 

and practice of the Target. No product manufactured, sold, leased, or delivered 

by the Target is subject to any guaranty, warranty, or other indemnity beyond 

the applicable standard terms and conditions of sale or lease. Section 4(u) of 

the Disclosure Schedule includes copies of the standard terms and conditions of 

sale or lease for the Target (containing applicable guaranty, warranty, and 

indemnity provisions). 

 

                (v) Product Liability. The Target does not have any material 

Liability (and there is no Basis for any present or future action, suit, 

proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand against 

any of them giving rise to any material Liability) arising out 
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of any injury to individuals or property as a result of the ownership, 

possession, or use of any product manufactured, sold, leased, or delivered by 

the Target. 

 

                (w) Employees. No Seller has current plans to terminate his 

employment with the Target. To the Knowledge of any of the Sellers (or DeAnn 

Clark), as of the date of this Agreement, no other manager, executive, employee, 

or group of employees has any current plans to terminate employment with the 

Target, and as of the Closing Date, no significant group of employees will have 

any plans to terminate employment with the Target. The Target is not a party to 

or bound by any collective bargaining agreement, nor has it experienced any 

strikes, grievances, claims of unfair labor practices, or other collective 

bargaining disputes. The Target has not committed any unfair labor practice. 

None of the Sellers (or DeAnn Clark) has any Knowledge of any organizational 

effort presently being made or threatened by or on behalf of any labor union 

with respect to employees of the Target. The Target is not delinquent in 

payments to any of its employees for any wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses 

or other direct compensation for any services performed for it or amounts 

required to be reimbursed to such employees. The Target is in compliance in all 

material respects with all applicable laws respecting labor, employment, fair 

employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, workers' compensation, 

occupational safety, plant closings and wages and hours. The Target has withheld 

all amounts required by law or by agreement to be withheld from the wages, 

salaries and other payments to employees, and is not liable for any arrears of 

wages or any taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the 

foregoing. The Target is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund 

or to any governmental authority with respect to unemployment compensation 

benefits, social security or other benefits or obligations for employees (other 

than routine payments to be made in the normal course of business and consistent 

with past practice). There are no material pending claims against the Target 

under any workers' compensation plan or policy or for long term disability. 

There are no material controversies pending or, to the Knowledge of any of the 

Sellers (or DeAnn Clark), threatened between the Target and any of its current 

or former employees which have or could reasonably be expected to result in an 

Adverse Consequence. To the Knowledge of any of the Sellers (or DeAnn Clark), no 

employees are in any material respect in violation of any term of any employment 

contract, non-disclosure agreement, noncompetition agreement, or any restrictive 

covenant to a former employer relating to the right of any such employee to be 

employed by the Target because of the nature of the business conducted or 

presently proposed to be conducted by the Target or to the use of trade secrets 

or proprietary information of others. 

 

                (x) Employee Benefits. 

 

                        (i) Section 4(x) of the Disclosure Schedule lists each 

                Employee Benefit Plan that the Target maintains or to which the 

                Target contributes. 

 

                                (A) Each such Employee Benefit Plan (and each 

                        related trust, insurance contract, or fund) complies in 

                        form and in operation in all material respects with the 

                        applicable requirements of ERISA, the Code, and other 

                        applicable laws. 

 

                                (B) All required reports and descriptions 

                        (including Form 5500 Annual Reports, Summary Annual 

                        Reports and Summary Plan 
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                        Descriptions) have been filed or distributed 

                        appropriately with respect to each such Employee Benefit 

                        Plan. The requirements of Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title 

                        I of ERISA and of Code Section 4980B have been met with 

                        respect to each such Employee Benefit Plan that is an 

                        Employee Welfare Benefit Plan. 

 

                                (C) All contributions (including all employer 

                        contributions and employee salary reduction 

                        contributions) that are due have been paid to each such 

                        Employee Benefit Plan that is an Employee Pension 

                        Benefit Plan and all contributions for any period ending 

                        on or before the Closing Date that are not yet due have 

                        been paid to each such Employee Pension Benefit Plan or 

                        accrued in accordance with the past custom and practice 

                        of the Target. All premiums or other payments for all 

                        periods ending on or before the Closing Date have been 

                        paid with respect to each such Employee Benefit Plan 

                        that is an Employee Welfare Benefit Plan. 

 

                                (D) Each such Employee Benefit Plan that is an 

                        Employee Pension Benefit Plan meets the requirements of 

                        a "qualified plan" under Code Section 401(a) and has 

                        either received a favorable determination letter from 

                        the Internal Revenue Service or the remedial amendment 

                        period for such plan under Code Section 401(b) has not 

                        expired. 

 

                                (E) No such Employee Benefit Plan is either a 

                        Multiemployer Plan or subject to Title IV of ERISA or 

                        Code Section 412. 

 

                                (F) The Sellers have delivered to the Buyer 

                        correct and complete copies of the plan documents and 

                        summary plan descriptions, the most recent determination 

                        letter received from the Internal Revenue Service, the 

                        most recent Form 5500 Annual Report, and all related 

                        trust agreements, insurance contracts, and other funding 

                        agreements that implement each such Employee Benefit 

                        Plan. 

 

                        (ii) With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan that the 

                Target maintains or ever has maintained or to which it 

                contributes, ever has contributed, or ever has been required to 

                contribute: 

 

                                (A) There have been no Prohibited Transactions 

                        with respect to any such Employee Benefit Plan. 

 

                                (B) No Fiduciary has any Liability for breach of 

                        fiduciary duty or any other failure to act or comply in 

                        connection with the administration or investment of the 

                        assets of any such Employee Benefit Plan. 

 

                                (C) No action, suit, proceeding, hearing, or 

                        investigation with respect to the administration or the 

                        investment of the assets of any such Employee Benefit 

                        Plan (other than routine claims for benefits) is pending 

                        or, to the Knowledge of any of the Sellers (or DeAnn 

                        Clark), threatened. 
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                        (iii) The Target does not maintain, never has maintained 

                or contributed to, and never has been required to contribute to, 

                any Employee Welfare Benefit Plan providing medical, health, or 

                life insurance or other welfare-type benefits for current or 

                future retired or terminated employees, their spouses, or their 

                dependents (other than in accordance with Code Section 4980B). 

 

                        (iv) The vesting, payment of, or entitlement to any 

                benefits under, or the requirement of contributions to, or 

                funding to any such Employee Benefit Plans, will not be 

                accelerated as a result of the transactions contemplated by this 

                Agreement. No amount that could be received (whether in cash or 

                property or the vesting of property) as a result of the 

                consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 

                by any employee, officer or manager of the Target who is a 

                "disqualified individual" (as such term is defined in proposed 

                Treasury Regulation Section 1.280G-1) under any such Employee 

                Benefit Plan could be characterized as an "excess parachute 

                payment" (as defined in Code Section 280G(b)(1)). 

 

                (y) Guaranties. The Target is not a guarantor or otherwise is 

liable for any Liability or obligation (including indebtedness) of any other 

Person. 

 

                (z) Environment, Health, and Safety. 

 

                        (i) The Target (and its predecessors, if any) has 

                complied with all Environmental, Health, and Safety Laws in all 

                material respects, and no action, suit, proceeding, hearing, 

                investigation, charge, complaint, claim, demand, or notice has 

                been filed or commenced against it alleging any failure so to 

                comply. Without limiting the generality of the preceding 

                sentence, the Target (and its predecessors, if any) has obtained 

                and been in compliance with all of the terms and conditions of 

                all material permits, licenses, and other authorizations that 

                are required under, and has complied in all material respects 

                with all other limitations, restrictions, conditions, standards, 

                prohibitions, requirements, obligations, schedules, and 

                timetables that are contained in, all Environmental, Health, and 

                Safety Laws. 

 

                        (ii) The Target (and its predecessors, if any) does not 

                have any Liability and has never handled or disposed of any 

                substance, arranged for the disposal of any substance, exposed 

                any employee or other individual to any substance or condition, 

                or owned or operated any property or facility in any manner that 

                could form the Basis for any present or future action, suit, 

                proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or 

                demand against the Target giving rise to any Liability) for 

                damage to any site, location, or body of water (surface or 

                subsurface), for any illness of or personal injury to any 

                employee or other individual, or for any reason under any 

                Environmental, Health, and Safety Law. 

 

                        (iii) All properties and equipment used in the business 

                of the Target (and its predecessors, if any) have been free of 

                asbestos, PCB's, methylene 
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                chloride, trichloroethylene, 1,2-trans-dichloroethylene, 

                dioxins, dibenzofurans, and Extremely Hazardous Substances. 

 

                (aa) Certain Business Relationships with the Target. None of the 

Sellers and their respective Affiliates has been involved in any business 

arrangement or relationship, other than an employment relationship, with the 

Target within the past 12 months, and none of the Sellers and their respective 

Affiliates owns any asset, tangible or intangible, that is used in the business 

of the Target. 

 

                (bb) Disclosure. The representations and warranties contained in 

this Section 4 do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 

state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements and 

information contained in this Section 4 not misleading. 

 

        5. Pre-Closing Covenants. The Parties agree as follows with respect to 

the period between the execution of this Agreement and the Closing. 

 

                (a) General. Each of the Parties will use his or its 

commercially reasonable efforts to take all action and to do all things 

necessary, proper, or advisable in order to consummate and make effective the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including satisfaction, but not 

waiver, of the closing conditions set forth in Section 7 below). 

 

                (b) Notices and Consents. The Sellers will cause the Target to 

give any notices to third parties, and will cause the Target to use its 

commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any necessary third party consents in 

connection with the matters referred to in Section 4(c) above. Each of the 

Parties will (and the Sellers will cause the Target to) give any notices to, 

make any filings with, and use his or its commercially reasonable efforts to 

obtain any authorizations, consents, and approvals of governments, governmental 

agencies and other third parties in connection with the matters referred to in 

Section 3(a)(i), Section 3(b)(ii), and Section 4(c) above. 

 

                (c) Operation of Business. The Sellers will not cause or permit 

the Target to engage in any practice, take any action, or enter into any 

transaction outside the Ordinary Course of Business. Without limiting the 

generality of the foregoing, the Sellers will not cause or permit the Target to 

engage in any practice, take any action, or enter into any transaction of the 

sort described in Section 4(h) above without the prior written consent of the 

Buyer. 

 

                (d) Preservation of Business. The Sellers will use commercially 

reasonable efforts to cause the Target to keep its business and properties 

substantially intact, including its present operations, physical facilities, 

working conditions, and relationships with lessors, licensors, suppliers, 

customers, and employees. 

 

                (e) Full Access. Each of the Sellers will permit, and the 

Sellers will cause the Target to permit, representatives of the Buyer to have 

full access at all reasonable times to all premises, properties, personnel, 

books, records (including Tax records), contracts, and documents of or 

pertaining to the Target. 

 

                (f) Notice of Developments. The Sellers will give prompt written 

notice to the Buyer of any material adverse development causing a breach of any 

of the representations and warranties in Section 4 above. Each Party will give 

prompt written notice to the others of any 
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material adverse development causing a breach of any of his or its own 

representations and warranties in Section 3 above. No disclosure by any Party 

pursuant to this Section 5(f), however, shall be deemed to amend or supplement 

Annex I or the Disclosure Schedule or to prevent or cure any misrepresentation, 

breach of warranty, or breach of covenant. 

 

                (g) Exclusivity. None of the Sellers will (and the Sellers will 

not cause or permit the Target to) (i) solicit, initiate, or encourage the 

submission of any proposal or offer from any Person relating to the acquisition 

of any equity interests or other voting securities, or any substantial portion 

of the assets of the Target (including any acquisition structured as a merger, 

consolidation, share exchange or otherwise) or (ii) participate in any 

discussions or negotiations regarding, furnish any information with respect to, 

assist or participate in, or facilitate in any other manner any effort or 

attempt by any Person to do or seek any of the foregoing. None of the Sellers 

will vote his Class A Units in favor of any such acquisition. The Sellers will 

notify the Buyer within two (2) days if any Person makes any proposal, offer, 

inquiry, or contact with respect to any of the foregoing and will disclose the 

details of a proposal or offer, including the Person or Persons making it and 

the material terms of such proposal or offer. 

 

                (h) Restricted Units. Immediately prior to the Closing, the 

Target shall take all action necessary to cause all restrictions in respect of 

the Class A Units issued under the Target Plan to lapse. 

 

                (i) Tax Election. No Seller, or any manager or officer of the 

Target, shall make any election or take any other action on behalf of, or with 

respect to, the Target that is inconsistent with how the Target has filed its 

prior Tax Returns and would increase the Target's Liability for Taxes for any 

Taxable period (including a past, present or future Taxable period). 

 

                (j) Valuation of the Target's Assets for Income Tax Purposes. 

The Buyer and the Seller Representatives shall use commercially reasonable 

efforts to agree upon the value of each Target asset for income tax purposes 

and, if and upon reaching such agreement, shall attach as Schedule 2 hereto a 

written memorandum of such within five (5) business days of the date of this 

Agreement. If the Buyer and the Seller Representatives are unable to so agree 

within said five (5) day period, the Buyer and the Seller Representatives shall 

mutually select an independent "Big 5" accounting firm to perform such valuation 

on or prior to the Closing, and such firm's valuation shall be conclusive on all 

Parties hereto and shall be set forth as Schedule 2 hereto. Schedule 2 shall 

automatically become a part of this Agreement after it has been prepared in 

accordance with this Section 5(j). If an accounting firm is selected to perform 

a valuation in accordance with this Section 5(j), each of (i) the Buyer and (ii) 

the Sellers shall pay one-half of the fees and expenses of such firm for such 

valuation. No Party shall take any position for income tax purposes that is 

inconsistent in any material respect with Schedule 2. 

 

        6. Post-Closing Covenants. The Parties agree as follows with respect to 

the period following the Closing. 

 

                (a) General. In case at any time after the Closing any further 

action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, 

each of the Parties will take such further action (including the execution and 

delivery of such further instruments 
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and documents) as any other Party may reasonably request, all at the sole cost 

and expense of the requesting Party (unless the requesting Party is entitled to 

indemnification therefor under Section 8 below). The Sellers acknowledge and 

agree that from and after the Closing the Buyer will be entitled to possession 

of all documents, books, records (including Tax records), agreements, and 

financial data of any sort relating to the Target. 

 

                (b) Litigation Support. In the event and for so long as any 

Party actively is contesting or defending against any action, suit, proceeding, 

hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand in connection with 

(i) any transaction contemplated under this Agreement or (ii) any fact, 

situation, circumstance, status, condition, activity, practice, plan, 

occurrence, event, incident, action, failure to act, or transaction on or prior 

to the Closing Date involving the Target, each of the other Parties will 

cooperate with him or it and his or its counsel in the contest or defense, make 

available his or its personnel, and provide such testimony and access to his or 

its books and records as shall be necessary in connection with the contest or 

defense, all at the sole cost and expense of the contesting or defending Party 

(unless the contesting or defending Party is entitled to indemnification 

therefor under Section 8 below). 

 

                (c) Transition. None of the Sellers will take any action that is 

designed or intended to have the effect of discouraging any lessor, licensor, 

customer, supplier, or other business associate of the Target from maintaining 

the same business relationships with the Target after the Closing as it 

maintained with the Target prior to the Closing. Each of the Sellers will refer 

all customer inquiries relating to the business of the Target to the Target from 

and after the Closing. 

 

                (d) Confidentiality. Each of the Sellers will treat and hold as 

such all of the Confidential Information, refrain from using any of the 

Confidential Information, except in connection with this Agreement and in 

connection with such Seller's employment by the Target to the extent any such 

Seller remains an employee of the Target, and deliver promptly to the Buyer or 

destroy, at the request and option of the Buyer, all tangible embodiments (and 

all copies) of the Confidential Information that are in his possession to the 

extent any such Seller ceases to be an employee of the Target. In the event that 

any of the Sellers is requested or required (by oral question or request for 

information or documents in any legal proceeding, interrogatory, subpoena, civil 

investigative demand, or similar process) to disclose any Confidential 

Information, that Seller will notify the Buyer promptly of the request or 

requirement so that the Buyer may seek an appropriate protective order or waive 

compliance with the provisions of this Section 6(d). If, in the absence of a 

protective order or the receipt of a waiver hereunder, any of the Sellers is, on 

the advice of counsel, compelled to disclose any Confidential Information to any 

tribunal or else stand liable for contempt, that Seller may disclose the 

Confidential Information to the tribunal; provided, however, that the disclosing 

Seller shall use his reasonable efforts to obtain, at the request of the Buyer 

and at the Buyer's expense, an order or other assurance that confidential 

treatment will be accorded to such portion of the Confidential Information 

required to be disclosed as the Buyer shall designate. The foregoing provisions 

shall not apply to any Confidential Information that is generally available to 

the public immediately prior to the time of disclosure. 
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                (e) Stock Options. 

 

                        (i) As soon as reasonably practicable following the date 

                of this Agreement, the Board of Directors of the Buyer (or, if 

                appropriate, any committee thereof administering the 1996 Equity 

                Participation Plan of the Buyer (the "Buyer Plan") shall adopt 

                such resolutions or take such other actions as may be required 

                to adjust the terms of all outstanding Options, whether vested 

                or unvested, as necessary to provide that each Option 

                outstanding immediately prior to the Closing shall be amended 

                and converted into an option to acquire, on the same terms and 

                conditions as were applicable under such Option, the number of 

                shares of Buyer Common Stock (rounded down to the nearest whole 

                share) equal to (A) the number of Class A Units subject to such 

                Option immediately prior to the Closing multiplied by (B) the 

                Exchange Ratio, at an exercise price per share of Buyer Common 

                Stock (rounded up to the nearest whole cent) equal to (x) the 

                exercise price per Class A Unit otherwise purchasable pursuant 

                to such Option immediately prior to the Closing divided by (y) 

                the Exchange Ratio (each, as so adjusted, an "Adjusted Option"). 

 

                        (ii) Except to the extent required under the respective 

                terms of the Options, all restrictions or limitations on 

                transfer and vesting with respect to Options awarded under the 

                Target Plan, to the extent that such restrictions or limitations 

                shall not have already lapsed, and all other terms thereof, 

                shall remain in full force and effect after giving effect to the 

                transactions contemplated in Section 2 above. 

 

                        (iii) As soon as reasonably practicable following the 

                Closing, the Buyer shall prepare and file with the SEC a 

                registration statement on Form S-8 (or another appropriate form) 

                registering the number of shares of Buyer Common Stock subject 

                to the Adjusted Options and shall maintain the effectiveness of 

                such registration statement (and maintain the current status of 

                the prospectus contained therein) for so long as any such 

                Adjusted Options remain outstanding. 

 

                (f) Registration of Registrable Shares. 

 

                        (i) If the Closing occurs in calendar year 2001, within 

                forty-five (45) days after the Closing Date, the Buyer shall 

                file with the SEC a registration statement on any appropriate 

                form under the Securities Act with respect to the offering and 

                sale or other disposition of the Registrable Shares. If the 

                Closing occurs in calendar year 2002, the Buyer shall have up to 

                ninety (90) days to file such registration statement. The Buyer 

                shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to cause such 

                registration statement to become effective as soon as reasonably 

                practicable after such filing. The Sellers shall cooperate with 

                and provide assistance to the Buyer, as the Buyer may reasonably 

                request, in connection with any registration and sale of the 

                Registrable Shares. 

 

                        (ii) The Buyer shall (i) prepare and file with the SEC, 

                any amendments or supplements to such registration statement or 

                prospectus that may be necessary 
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                to keep such registration statement effective and to comply with 

                the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the offer 

                of the Registrable Shares covered by such registration statement 

                for a period of twelve months from the effective date of the 

                registration statement; (ii) prepare and promptly file with the 

                SEC and promptly notify the Sellers of the filing of such 

                amendment or supplement to such registration statement or 

                prospectus as may be necessary to correct any statement therein 

                or omission therefrom if, at any time when a prospectus relating 

                to the Registrable Shares is required to be delivered under the 

                Securities Act, any event with respect to the Buyer shall have 

                occurred as a result of which any prospectus would include an 

                untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material 

                fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; 

                (iii) in case the Sellers are required to deliver a prospectus, 

                prepare promptly such amendment or amendments to such 

                registration statement and such prospectus or prospectuses as 

                may be necessary to permit compliance with the requirements of 

                Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act; (iv) advise the Sellers 

                promptly after the Buyer shall receive notice or obtain 

                knowledge of the issuance of any stop order by the SEC 

                suspending the effectiveness of any such registration statement 

                or amendment thereto or of the initiation or threatening of any 

                proceedings for that purpose, and promptly use commercially 

                reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order or 

                to obtain its withdrawal if such stop order should be issued; 

                (v) use commercially reasonable efforts to qualify such 

                Registrable Shares for sale under the securities or "blue sky" 

                laws of such states within the United States as the Sellers may 

                reasonably designate, except that the Buyer shall not be 

                required in connection therewith or as a condition thereto to 

                qualify to do business in any such state or to take any action 

                that would subject it to general service of process in any such 

                jurisdiction where it is not then so subject; and (vi) furnish 

                to the Sellers, as soon as available, copies of any such 

                registration statement and each preliminary and final 

                prospectus, or supplement or amendment required to be prepared 

                with respect thereto, all in such quantities as they may from 

                time to time reasonably request. 

 

                        (iii) The Sellers agree that, upon receipt of any notice 

                from the Buyer of the happening of any event of the kind 

                described in Section 6(f)(ii), they will forthwith discontinue 

                the disposition of the Registrable Shares until they have 

                received copies of the supplemented or amended prospectus 

                contemplated by Section 6(f)(ii), or until the Sellers are 

                advised in writing by the Buyer that the use of the prospectus 

                may be resumed, and have received copies of any additional or 

                supplemental filings that are incorporated by reference in the 

                prospectus, and, if so directed by the Buyer, the Sellers will 

                deliver to the Buyer all copies, other than permanent file 

                copies, then in the Sellers' possession of the prospectus 

                covering the Registrable Shares current at the time of receipt 

                of such notice. 

 

                        (iv) If the Buyer takes any action to permit a public 

                offering or sale or other distribution of such Registrable 

                Shares, the Sellers shall furnish information to the Buyer 

                concerning the Sellers' holdings of securities of the Buyer and 

                the proposed method of sale or other disposition of the 

                Registrable Shares and such other information and undertakings 

                as shall be required in connection with the 
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                preparation and filing of any registration statement and any 

                amendments thereto covering all or part of the Registrable 

                Shares in order to assist the Buyer in complying with the 

                Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act. The Sellers 

                further agree to enter into such undertakings and take such 

                other action relating to the conduct of the proposed offering 

                that the Buyer may reasonably request as being necessary to 

                assist the Buyer in complying with the federal and state 

                securities laws and the rules or other requirements of the 

                National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. ("NASD") or 

                otherwise to effectuate the offering. 

 

                        (v) The Buyer shall pay all registration expenses 

                incident to the registration of the Registrable Shares 

                including, without limitation, all registration, filing and NASD 

                fees, all fees and expenses of complying with securities or blue 

                sky laws, all word processing, duplicating and printing 

                expenses, messenger and delivery expenses, and the fees and 

                disbursements of counsel for the Buyer and of its independent 

                public accountants, including the expenses of any special audits 

                or "cold comfort" letters required by or incident to such 

                performance and compliance. With respect to sales of Registrable 

                Shares, the Sellers shall pay all underwriting discounts and 

                commissions and fees of underwriters, selling brokers, dealer 

                managers or similar securities industry professionals relating 

                to the distribution of the Registrable Shares, and the fees and 

                disbursements of counsel retained by the Sellers and transfer 

                taxes, if any. 

 

                (g) Business Location. It is the intent of the Parties that the 

business of the Target will continue to be conducted in the greater metropolitan 

Phoenix area; provided, however, that the Buyer may after the Closing in its 

sole discretion move the business of the Target to any other area. 

 

                (h) Employment Matters. With respect to employee retirement, 

welfare and fringe benefit plans, policies or programs of the Buyer (the "Buyer 

Employee Plans"), each Person who was an employee of the Target at the Closing 

(the "Target Employee") is allowed to participate in or entitled to the 

following after the Closing: (i) the Buyer will provide the Target Employee with 

service credit in an amount equal to the service credit accrued prior to the 

Closing, if any, under the Target's plans, policies, programs, agreements and 

arrangements, and each Target Employee will be so recognized for purposes of 

participation, eligibility and vesting, but not for purposes of benefit accrual, 

under the Buyer Employee Plans and (ii) the Buyer will use commercially 

reasonable efforts to cause its benefit providers to waive all waiting periods 

and pre-existing condition requirements under any Buyer Employee Plan that has 

any such requirements or restrictions. Without limiting the foregoing, the Buyer 

will assume any accrued but unused vacation days, and any earned but unused sick 

days, credited to each Target Employee under the Target's applicable vacation 

and sick leave policies as of the Closing; it being understood that each Target 

Employee will accrue vacation days and earn sick days for service following the 

Closing in accordance with the applicable vacation and sick leave policies of 

the Buyer. 

 

                (i) Intellectual Property. At all times after the Closing Date, 

each Seller shall assist the Buyer in every proper way to obtain and prosecute 

all patent applications in which such Seller is an inventor thereunder. The 

Buyer shall (i) compensate such Seller at a reasonable rate 
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if such Seller is not an employee of the Buyer at the time he is rendering such 

assistance and (ii) reimburse all reasonable expenses of such Seller in 

connection with his assistance. 

 

        7. Conditions to Obligation to Close. 

 

                (a) Conditions to Obligation of the Buyer. The obligation of the 

Buyer to consummate the transactions to be performed by it in connection with 

the Closing is subject to satisfaction of the following conditions: 

 

                        (i) the representations and warranties set forth in 

                Section 3(a) and Section 4 above shall be true and correct in 

                all material respects at and as of the Closing Date; 

 

                        (ii) the Sellers shall have performed and complied with 

                all of their covenants hereunder in all material respects 

                through the Closing; 

 

                        (iii) the Target shall have procured all of the third 

                party consents specified in Section 5(b) above; 

 

                        (iv) no action, suit, or proceeding shall be pending or 

                threatened before any court or quasi-judicial or administrative 

                agency of any federal, state, local, or foreign jurisdiction or 

                before any arbitrator wherein an unfavorable injunction, 

                judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge would (A) prevent 

                consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this 

                Agreement, (B) cause any of the transactions contemplated by 

                this Agreement to be rescinded following consummation, (C) 

                affect adversely the right of the Buyer to own the Class A Units 

                and to control the Target, or (D) affect adversely the right of 

                the Target to own its assets and to operate its businesses (and 

                no such injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge 

                shall be in effect); 

 

                        (v) the Sellers shall have delivered to the Buyer a 

                certificate dated the Closing Date to the effect that (A) each 

                of the conditions specified above in Section 7(a)(i)-(iv) is 

                satisfied in all respects; (B) all deferred wages, salaries, 

                commissions, bonuses or other direct compensation set forth on 

                Section 4(w) of the Disclosure Schedule have been paid in full 

                by the Sellers; and (C) all fees and expenses owing to the 

                Target's investment advisors have been paid in full by the 

                Sellers; 

 

                        (vi) the Sellers shall have delivered to the Buyer a 

                certificate dated as of the Closing Date certified by the Seller 

                Representatives attaching duly authorized resolutions (or 

                similar document) of the members of the Target approving this 

                Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby; 

 

                        (vii) the Buyer shall have received from counsel to the 

                Sellers an opinion in form and substance as set forth in Exhibit 

                C attached hereto, addressed to the Buyer, and dated as of the 

                Closing Date; 

 

                        (viii) the Buyer shall have received, effective as of 

                the Closing, the resignation of each manager (solely in his 

                capacity as manager) of the Target; 
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                        (ix) the Buyer shall have received waiver letters in 

                form and substance as set forth in Exhibit D attached hereto 

                from individuals holding at least 95% of the outstanding 

                Options; 

 

                        (x) the Buyer shall have received reasonable assurances 

                that the Target employees listed on Annex II will become 

                employees of the Buyer following the Closing on terms mutually 

                agreeable to the Buyer and such employees; 

 

                        (xi) each of the Sellers listed in Section A of Annex 

                III shall have executed a Non-Compete Agreement in form and 

                substance as set forth in Exhibit E-1 attached hereto, and each 

                of the Sellers listed in Section B of Annex III shall have 

                executed a Non-Compete Agreement in form and substance as set 

                forth in Exhibit E-2; 

 

                        (xii) the Seller Representatives and the Escrow Agent 

                shall have executed an Escrow Agreement in form and substance as 

                set forth in Exhibit F attached hereto (the "Escrow Agreement"); 

                and 

 

                        (xiii) all actions to be taken by the Sellers in 

                connection with consummation of the transactions contemplated 

                hereby and all certificates, opinions, instruments, and other 

                documents required to effect the transactions contemplated 

                hereby will be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to 

                the Buyer. 

 

The Buyer may waive any condition specified in this Section 7(a) if it executes 

a writing so stating at or prior to the Closing. 

 

                (b) Conditions to Obligation of the Sellers. The obligation of 

the Sellers to consummate the transactions to be performed by them in connection 

with the Closing is subject to satisfaction of the following conditions: 

 

                        (i) the representations and warranties set forth in 

                Section 3(b) above shall be true and correct in all material 

                respects at and as of the Closing Date; 

 

                        (ii) the Buyer shall have performed and complied with 

                all of its covenants hereunder in all material respects through 

                the Closing; 

 

                        (iii) no action, suit, or proceeding shall be pending or 

                threatened before any court or quasi-judicial or administrative 

                agency of any federal, state, local, or foreign jurisdiction or 

                before any arbitrator wherein an unfavorable injunction, 

                judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge would (A) prevent 

                consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this 

                Agreement or (B) cause any of the transactions contemplated by 

                this Agreement to be rescinded following consummation (and no 

                such injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge 

                shall be in effect); 
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                        (iv) the Buyer shall have delivered to the Sellers an 

                officer's certificate to the effect that each of the conditions 

                specified above in Section 7(b)(i)-(iii) is satisfied in all 

                respects; 

 

                        (v) the Buyer shall have delivered to the Sellers an 

                officer's certificate attaching resolutions duly adopted by its 

                board of directors approving this Agreement and the transactions 

                contemplated hereby; 

 

                        (vi) the Sellers shall have received from counsel to the 

                Buyer an opinion in form and substance as set forth in Exhibit G 

                attached hereto, addressed to the Sellers, and dated as of the 

                Closing Date; and 

 

                        (vii) all actions to be taken by the Buyer in connection 

                with consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and 

                all certificates, opinions, instruments, and other documents 

                required to effect the transactions contemplated hereby will be 

                reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Seller 

                Representatives. 

 

The Seller Representatives may waive any condition specified in this Section 

7(b) if they execute a writing so stating at or prior to the Closing. 

 

        8. Remedies for Breaches of This Agreement. 

 

                (a) Indemnification by the Sellers. Each Seller agrees 

subsequent to the Closing to indemnify and hold the Buyer and its Affiliates, 

successors and assigns and persons serving as officers, directors, partners, 

managers, stockholders, members, employees and agents thereof (individually a 

"Buyer Indemnified Party" and collectively the "Buyer Indemnified Parties") 

harmless from and against any Adverse Consequences that may be sustained or 

suffered by any of them arising out of or based upon any of the following 

matters: 

 

                        (i) fraud, intentional misrepresentation or the willful 

                breach of any representations, warranties or covenants of the 

                Sellers under this Agreement or in any certificate, schedule, 

                annex or exhibit delivered pursuant hereto (collectively, "Fraud 

                Claims"); 

 

                        (ii) any Liability arising from any breach of the 

                representations and warranties set forth in Sections 3(a)(i), 

                3(a)(iv), 3(a)(v), 4(a), 4(b) and 4(f) (collectively, "Ownership 

                Claims"); 

 

                        (iii) any Liability for Taxes arising from the Target's 

                income, activities, assets, events, circumstances and 

                transactions on or prior to the Closing (to the extent such 

                Liability for Taxes (other than Taxes required to be reflected 

                on Tax Returns due prior to the Closing Date) exceeds $30,000) 

                or any breach of the representations and warranties set forth in 

                Sections 4(k) and 4(x) hereof or the covenants set forth in 

                Sections 2(b), 5(i) and 9 hereof (collectively, "Tax Claims"); 
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                        (iv) any Liability arising from any breach of the 

                environmental representations and warranties set forth in 

                Section 4(z) hereof (collectively, "Environmental Claims"); 

 

                        (v) any Liability arising from acts or omissions of any 

                of the Seller Representatives or any disputes among the Sellers 

                or between the Sellers and the Seller Representatives for the 

                allocation of the Purchase Price or otherwise (collectively, 

                "Allocation Claims"); and 

 

                        (vi) other than Fraud Claims, Ownership Claims, Tax 

                Claims, Environmental Claims and Allocation Claims, any other 

                breach of any representation, warranty or covenant of the 

                Sellers under this Agreement or in any schedule, annex or 

                exhibit delivered pursuant hereto, or by reason of any claim, 

                action or proceeding asserted or instituted growing out of any 

                matter or thing constituting a breach of such representations, 

                warranties or covenants (collectively, "General Claims"). 

 

                (b) Limitations on Indemnification by the Sellers. Anything 

contained in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Liability of 

the Sellers to provide any indemnification to any Buyer Indemnified Party and 

the right of the Buyer Indemnified Parties to indemnification under Section 8(a) 

shall be subject to the following provisions: 

 

                        (i) No claims for indemnification shall be made under 

                this Agreement against the Sellers, and no indemnification shall 

                be payable to any Buyer Indemnified Party, with respect to 

                General Claims after the date that is two years following the 

                Closing (except for those claims that were initiated prior to 

                such two-year limitation). 

 

                        (ii) No claims for indemnification shall be made under 

                this Agreement against the Sellers, and no indemnification shall 

                be payable to any Buyer Indemnified Party, with respect to any 

                Tax Claim or Environmental Claim after expiration of all 

                applicable statutes of limitation with respect to the Tax Claim 

                or Environmental Claim, as applicable. 

 

                        (iii) In no event shall the maximum aggregate Liability 

                of the Sellers under Section 8(a) with respect to General 

                Claims, Environmental Claims and Tax Claims exceed $13,161,529; 

                provided, however, that this Section 8(a)(iii) shall not apply 

                to any obligation or covenant of the Sellers to pay or reimburse 

                money to the Buyer that is expressly set forth in this 

                Agreement. 

 

                        (iv) The Sellers shall not be liable under Section 8(a) 

                with respect to General Claims, Environmental Claims and Tax 

                Claims until the amount otherwise due to the Buyer Indemnified 

                Parties exceeds $100,000 in the aggregate, in which case the 

                Sellers will be liable to the Buyer Indemnified Parties for the 

                full amount due (excluding all amounts below $100,000); 

                provided, however, that this Section 8(a)(iv) shall not apply to 

                any obligation or covenant of the Sellers to pay or reimburse 

                money to the Buyer that is expressly set forth in this 

                Agreement. 
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                        (v) Claims for indemnification with respect to Fraud 

                Claims, Ownership Claims and Allocation Claims made under this 

                Agreement by any Buyer Indemnified Party shall not be subject to 

                any of the limitations set forth in this Section 8(b). 

 

                (c) Indemnification by the Buyer. The Buyer agrees to indemnify 

and hold the Sellers harmless from and against any Adverse Consequences that may 

be sustained or suffered by any or all of them arising out of or based upon any 

of the following matters: 

 

                        (i) fraud, intentional misrepresentation or the willful 

                breach of any representations, warranties or covenants of the 

                Buyer under this Agreement or in any certificate, schedule, 

                annex or exhibit delivered pursuant hereto; 

 

                        (ii) any breach of any representation, warranty or 

                covenant made by the Buyer in this Agreement or in any 

                certificate delivered by the Buyer hereunder, or by reason of 

                any claim, action or proceeding asserted or instituted growing 

                out of any matter or thing constituting such a breach; and 

 

                        (iii) the operation of the business of the Target 

                following the Closing Date; except to the extent such Adverse 

                Consequences are attributable to acts or circumstances occurring 

                prior to the Closing Date. 

 

                (d) Limitation on Indemnification by the Buyer. Anything 

contained in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, no claim for 

indemnification shall be made under this Agreement against the Buyer, and no 

indemnification shall be payable to the Sellers with respect to claims asserted 

pursuant to Section 8(c) above, after the date that is two years following the 

Closing (except for those claims that were initiated prior to such two-year 

limitation). In no event shall the maximum aggregate Liability of the Buyer 

under Section 8(c) exceed $13,161,529. In addition, the Buyer shall not be 

liable under Section 8(c) until the amount otherwise due to the Sellers exceeds 

$100,000 in the aggregate, in which case the Buyer will be liable to the Sellers 

for the full amount due (excluding all amounts below $100,000). Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, claims for indemnification with respect to fraud, intentional 

misrepresentation or the willful breach of any representations, warranties or 

covenants of the Buyer under this Agreement or in any certificate, schedule, 

annex or exhibit delivered pursuant hereto shall not be subject to any of the 

limitations set forth in this Section 8(d). 

 

                (e) Notice; Defense of Claims. An indemnified party shall make 

claims for indemnification hereunder by giving written notice thereof to the 

indemnifying party promptly on discovery and in any event within the period in 

which indemnification claims can be made hereunder. If indemnification is sought 

for a claim or Liability asserted by a third party, the indemnified party shall 

also give written notice thereof to the indemnifying party promptly after it 

receives notice of the claim or Liability being asserted, but the failure to do 

so shall not relieve the indemnifying party from any Liability except to the 

extent that it is materially prejudiced by the failure or delay in giving such 

notice. Such notice shall summarize the basis for the claim for indemnification 

and any claim or Liability being asserted by a third party. Within twenty (20) 

days after receiving such notice the indemnifying party shall give written 

notice to the indemnified party stating whether it disputes the claim for 

indemnification and whether it will 
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defend against any third party claim or Liability at its own cost and expense. 

If the indemnifying party fails to give notice that it disputes an 

indemnification claim within twenty (20) days after receipt of notice thereof, 

it shall be deemed to have accepted and agreed to the claim, which shall become 

immediately due and payable. The indemnifying party shall be entitled to direct 

the defense against a third-party claim or Liability with counsel selected by it 

(subject to the consent of the indemnified party, which consent shall not be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed) as long as the indemnifying party is 

conducting a good faith and diligent defense. The indemnified party shall at all 

times have the right to fully participate at its own expense in the defense of a 

third-party claim or Liability, directly or through counsel; provided, however, 

that if the named parties to the action or proceeding include both the 

indemnifying party and the indemnified party and the indemnified party is 

advised that representation of both parties by the same counsel would be 

inappropriate under applicable standards of professional conduct, the 

indemnified party may engage separate counsel at the expense of the indemnifying 

party. If no such notice of intent to dispute and defend a third-party claim or 

Liability is given by the indemnifying party, or if such good faith and diligent 

defense is not being or ceases to be conducted by the indemnifying party, the 

indemnified party shall have the right, at the expense of the indemnifying 

party, to undertake the defense of such claim or Liability (with counsel 

selected by the indemnified party), and to compromise or settle it, with consent 

of the indemnifying party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or 

delayed. If the third party claim or Liability is one that by its nature cannot 

be defended solely by the indemnifying party, then the indemnified party shall 

make available such information and assistance as the indemnifying party may 

reasonably request and shall cooperate with the indemnifying party in such 

defense, at the expense of the indemnifying party. 

 

                (f) Security for the Sellers' Indemnification Obligations. As 

security for the agreement by the Sellers to indemnify the Buyer as described in 

this Section 8, each Seller hereby instructs the Buyer to set aside and deposit 

into escrow with Computershare Trust Company, Inc, as escrow agent (the "Escrow 

Agent"), in accordance with the Escrow Agreement the Held Back Consideration. 

The Buyer may set off against the Held Back Consideration any indemnification 

claims for which the Sellers may be responsible pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

                (g) Currency Exchange. For purposes of the Held Back 

Consideration as security for the indemnification provisions set forth in this 

Agreement, the value given to each share of Buyer Common Stock held as Held Back 

Consideration that is used at any time to satisfy indemnification claims of the 

Buyer shall be $17.00 (the "Currency Exchange"). In the event that the market 

price of the Buyer Common Stock increases or decreases while there is Held Back 

Consideration subject to the Escrow Agreement, the Sellers shall retain the 

Currency Exchange value per share for purposes of fulfilling any indemnification 

obligation from the Held Back Consideration. 

 

                (h) Held Back Consideration Not Exclusive. Each Buyer 

Indemnified Party shall have the right to satisfy its indemnification claims out 

of the escrow created by the Escrow Agreement and pursuant to the terms thereof, 

and the Sellers shall have no right to satisfy any indemnification claims of any 

Buyer Indemnified Party outside of the Escrow Agreement; provided, however, that 

the Held Back Consideration shall not be the Buyer's exclusive source of 

indemnification from the Sellers pursuant to this Section 8. The foregoing 

indemnification provisions are in addition to, and not in derogation of, any 

statutory, equitable, or common law 
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remedy any Party may have for breach of representation, warranty, or covenant. 

Each of the Sellers hereby agrees that he will not make any claim for 

indemnification against the Target by reason of the fact that he was a manager, 

officer, employee, or agent of the Target or was serving at the request of the 

Target as a partner, manager, trustee, director, officer, employee, or agent of 

another entity (whether such claim is for judgments, damages, penalties, fines, 

costs, amounts paid in settlement, losses, expenses, or otherwise and whether 

such claim is pursuant to any statute, charter document, bylaw, operating 

agreement, contract or otherwise) with respect to any action, suit, proceeding, 

complaint, claim, or demand brought by the Buyer against such Seller (whether 

such action, suit, proceeding, complaint, claim, or demand is pursuant to this 

Agreement, applicable law, or otherwise). 

 

        9. Tax Matters. The following provisions shall govern the allocation of 

responsibility as between the Buyer and the Sellers for certain tax matters 

following the Closing Date: 

 

                (a) Characterization of the Transaction. The Parties agree that 

the transaction will be reported on all applicable Tax Returns in a manner 

consistent with the following: 

 

                        (i) No Party will take a position on a Tax Return 

                contrary to the covenants and representations set forth in this 

                Agreement, including those set forth below in this Section 9(a); 

 

                        (ii) Each Seller will treat the sale of the Class A 

                Units as a sale or exchange of a partnership interest pursuant 

                to Code Section 741, except as otherwise provided in Code 

                Section 751; 

 

                        (iii) The Buyer will treat the purchase of the Class A 

                Units as an acquisition of all of the assets of the Target; 

 

                        (iv) The Target will terminate pursuant to Code Section 

                708 as a result of, and immediately upon, the acquisition of the 

                Class A Units; and 

 

                        (v) The Buyer shall have no obligation for the federal 

                and state income Taxes payable with respect to the transactions 

                of the Target that accrued on or prior to the Closing Date, and 

                the Sellers shall have no obligation for the federal and state 

                income Taxes payable with respect to the transactions of the 

                Target that accrue after the Closing Date. 

 

                (b) Tax Periods Ending on or Before the Closing Date. The 

Sellers shall prepare or cause to be prepared and file or cause to be filed all 

income Tax Returns for the Target for all periods ending on or prior to the 

Closing Date but due thereafter. The Sellers shall permit the Buyer to review 

and comment on each such Tax Return described in the preceding sentence prior to 

filing. All such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent with past 

practice and, without the Buyer's written consent (which may be granted or 

withheld in its sole and absolute discretion), no positions shall be taken, 

elections made, or method adopted that is inconsistent with positions taken, 

elections made, or methods used in preparing and filing similar Tax Returns in 

prior periods (including, but not limited to, positions, elections or methods 

that would have the effect of deferring income or gains to a period after the 

Closing or accelerating 
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deductions or losses to a period prior to the Closing). The Buyer shall prepare 

or cause to be prepared and file or cause to be filed all non-income Tax Returns 

for the Target for all periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date that are 

due to be filed after the Closing Date. The Buyer shall permit the Seller 

Representatives to review and comment on each such Tax Return described in the 

preceding sentence prior to filing. All such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a 

manner consistent with past practice and, on such Tax Returns, no positions 

shall be taken, elections made, or method adopted that is inconsistent with 

positions taken, elections made, or methods used in preparing and filing similar 

Tax Returns in prior periods, unless counsel to the Buyer advises it that taking 

a position, making or following an election or using a method consistent with 

Tax Returns filed for prior periods is not supported by law or is likely to 

expose the Target or the Buyer to penalties. 

 

                (c) Tax Periods Beginning Before and Ending After the Closing 

Date. The Buyer shall prepare or cause to be prepared and file or cause to be 

filed any non-income Tax Returns of the Target for Tax periods that begin before 

the Closing Date and end after the Closing Date. All such Tax Returns shall be 

prepared in a manner consistent with past practice and, on such Tax Returns, no 

positions shall be taken, elections made, or method adopted that is inconsistent 

with positions taken, elections made, or methods used in preparing and filing 

similar Tax Returns in prior periods, unless counsel to the Buyer advises it 

that taking a position, making or following an election or using a method 

consistent with Tax Returns filed for prior periods is not supported by law or 

is likely to expose the Target or the Buyer to penalties. 

 

                (d) Cooperation on Tax Matters. 

 

                        (i) The Buyer, the Target and the Sellers shall 

                cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by 

                the other party, in connection with the filing of Tax Returns 

                pursuant to this Section 9 and any audit, litigation or other 

                proceeding with respect to Taxes. Such cooperation shall include 

                the retention and (upon the other party's reasonable request) 

                the provision of records and information that are reasonably 

                relevant to any such audit, litigation or other proceeding and 

                making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to 

                provide additional information and explanation of any material 

                provided hereunder. The Target and the Sellers shall (A) retain 

                all books and records with respect to Tax matters pertinent to 

                the Target relating to any Taxable period beginning before the 

                Closing Date until the expiration of the statute of limitations 

                (and, to the extent notified by the Buyer or the Sellers, any 

                extensions thereof) of the respective Taxable periods, and to 

                abide by all record retention agreements entered into with any 

                taxing authority, and (B) give the Buyer reasonable written 

                notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such 

                books and records and, if the other party so requests, the 

                Target or the Sellers, as the case may be, shall allow the other 

                party to take possession of such books and records. 

 

                        (ii) The Buyer and the Sellers shall, upon request, use 

                commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any certificate or 

                other document from any governmental authority or any other 

                Person as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or eliminate any 

                Tax that could be imposed (including, but not limited to, with 

                respect to the transactions contemplated hereby). 
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                (e) Tax Sharing Agreements. The Sellers hereby represent and 

covenant that there are no tax sharing agreements or similar agreements with 

respect to or involving the Target and that the Target has no Liability with 

respect to such an agreement. 

 

                (f) Certain Taxes. All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, 

registration and other such Taxes and fees (including any penalties and 

interest) incurred in connection with the Seller's sale of their respective 

Units shall be paid by the Sellers when due, and the Sellers will, at their own 

expense, file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to 

all such transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other Taxes 

and fees, and, if required by applicable law, the Buyer will, and will cause its 

Affiliates to, join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other 

documentation. 

 

                (g) Indemnification Payments. Any payments by a Party pursuant 

to Section 8 shall be considered an adjustment to the Purchase Price for all 

income and local tax purposes. 

 

        10. Seller Representatives. 

 

                (a) Appointment. As used in this Agreement, the "Seller 

Representatives" means Richard S. Torkington, Dean L. Cook and David W. Corman 

or any person appointed as a successor Seller Representative pursuant to Section 

10(b) below. The written approval of at least two of the three Seller 

Representatives is required for any action of the Seller Representatives under 

this Agreement or the Escrow Agreement. 

 

                (b) Election and Replacement. From and after the date hereof 

until the date when all obligations under this Agreement have been discharged 

(including all indemnification obligations under Section 8 hereof), the Sellers 

representing a majority in interest of the Class A Units may, from time to time 

upon written notice to the Seller Representatives and the Buyer, remove any of 

the Seller Representatives (including any appointed by the Buyer) or appoint a 

new Seller Representative to fill any vacancy created by the death, 

incapacitation, resignation or removal of a Seller Representative. Furthermore, 

if any Seller Representative dies, becomes incapacitated, resigns or is removed 

by the Sellers representing a majority in interest of the Class A Units, the 

Sellers shall promptly appoint a successor Seller Representative to fill the 

vacancy so created. If the Sellers representing a majority in interest of the 

Class A Units are required to but have not appointed a successor Seller 

Representative within twenty (20) days from a request by the Buyer to appoint a 

successor Seller Representative, the Buyer shall have the right to appoint a 

Seller Representative to fill any vacancy so created from the managers of the 

Target prior to the Closing Date, and shall advise the Seller Representatives of 

such appointment by written notice. A copy of any appointment by the Sellers of 

any successor Seller Representative shall be provided to the Buyer promptly 

after it shall have been effected. 

 

                (c) Authority. In addition to any other authority granted to the 

Seller Representatives herein, after the Closing Date the Seller Representatives 

shall be authorized to enter into and perform their obligations under the Escrow 

Agreement, and to discuss, negotiate, resolve and fully and finally settle on 

behalf of the Sellers any claims for indemnification by the Buyer against the 

Sellers under Section 8 hereof and any disputes arising out of this Agreement 

and to take any action and to make and deliver any certificate, notice, consent 

or instrument required or permitted to be made or delivered under this Agreement 

or under the documents referred to in 
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this Agreement (an "Instrument") that the Seller Representatives determine in 

their discretion to be necessary, appropriate or desirable, and, in connection 

therewith, to hire or retain, at the sole expense of the Sellers, such counsel, 

investment bankers, accountants, and other professional advisors as they 

determine in their sole and absolute discretion to be necessary, advisable or 

appropriate in order to carry out and perform their rights and obligations 

hereunder. Any party receiving an Instrument from the Seller Representatives 

shall have the right to rely in good faith upon such Instrument, and to act in 

accordance with the Instrument without independent investigation. 

 

                (d) No Liability of the Buyer. The Buyer shall have no Liability 

to any of the Sellers or otherwise arising out of the acts or omissions of the 

Seller Representatives or any disputes among the Sellers or between the Sellers 

and the Seller Representatives. The Buyer may rely entirely on its dealings 

with, and notices to and from, the Seller Representatives to satisfy any 

obligations it might have under this Agreement or otherwise to the Sellers. The 

Sellers shall indemnify the Buyer for any Adverse Consequences suffered as a 

result of the Buyer's good faith reliance on the acts or omissions of the Seller 

Representatives. 

 

        11. Termination. 

 

                (a) Termination of Agreement. The Parties may terminate this 

Agreement as provided below: 

 

                        (i) the Buyer and the Seller Representatives may 

                terminate this Agreement by mutual written consent at any time 

                prior to the Closing; 

 

                        (ii) the Buyer may terminate this Agreement by giving 

                written notice to the Seller Representatives at any time prior 

                to the Closing (A) in the event any of the Sellers has breached 

                any representation, warranty, or covenant contained in this 

                Agreement in any material respect, the Buyer has notified the 

                Seller Representatives of the breach, and the breach has 

                continued without cure for a period of 10 days after the notice 

                of breach or (B) if the Closing shall not have occurred on or 

                before January 15, 2002, by reason of the failure of any 

                condition precedent under Section 7(a) hereof (unless the 

                failure results primarily from the Buyer itself breaching any 

                representation, warranty, or covenant contained in this 

                Agreement); and 

 

                        (iii) the Seller Representatives may terminate this 

                Agreement by giving written notice to the Buyer at any time 

                prior to the Closing (A) in the event the Buyer has breached any 

                representation, warranty, or covenant contained in this 

                Agreement in any material respect, the Seller Representatives 

                have notified the Buyer of the breach, and the breach has 

                continued without cure for a period of 10 days after the notice 

                of breach or (B) if the Closing shall not have occurred on or 

                before January 15, 2002, by reason of the failure of any 

                condition precedent under Section 7(b) hereof (unless the 

                failure results primarily from any of the Sellers themselves 

                breaching any representation, warranty, or covenant contained in 

                this Agreement). 
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                (b) Effect of Termination. If any Party terminates this 

Agreement pursuant to Section 11(a) above, all rights and obligations, except 

any rights and obligations related to Confidential Information, of the Parties 

hereunder shall terminate without any Liability of any Party to any other Party 

(except for any Liability of any Party then in breach). 

 

        12. Miscellaneous. 

 

                (a) Nature of Certain Obligations. 

 

                        (i) The covenants of each of the Sellers in Section 2(a) 

                above concerning the sale of his Class A Units to the Buyer and 

                the representations and warranties of each of the Sellers in 

                Section 3(a) above concerning the transaction are several 

                obligations. This means that the particular Seller making the 

                representation, warranty, or covenant will be solely responsible 

                to the extent provided in Section 8 above for any Adverse 

                Consequences the Buyer may suffer as a result of any breach 

                thereof. 

 

                        (ii) The remainder of the representations, warranties, 

                and covenants in this Agreement are joint and several 

                obligations. This means that each Seller will be responsible to 

                the extent provided in Section 8 above for the entirety of any 

                Adverse Consequences the Buyer may suffer as a result of any 

                breach thereof. 

 

                (b) Legend. All share certificates representing shares of Buyer 

Common Stock delivered to the Sellers hereunder shall bear a legend 

substantially as follows: 

 

                THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN 

                REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE 

                "SECURITIES ACT") OR QUALIFIED UNDER ANY APPLICABLE STATE 

                SECURITIES LAWS (THE "STATE ACTS"), HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR 

                INVESTMENT AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED OR 

                OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT PURSUANT TO A REGISTRATION 

                STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND QUALIFICATION UNDER THE 

                STATE ACTS OR EXEMPTIONS FROM SUCH REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION 

                REQUIREMENTS (INCLUDING, IN THE CASE OF THE SECURITIES ACT, THE 

                EXEMPTION AFFORDED BY RULE 144). 

 

                (c) Press Releases and Public Announcements. No Party shall 

issue any press release or make any public announcement relating to the subject 

matter of this Agreement without the prior written approval of the Buyer and the 

Seller Representatives; provided, however, that any Party may make any public 

disclosure it believes in good faith is required by applicable law or any 

listing or trading agreement concerning its publicly-traded securities (in which 

case the disclosing Party will use its commercially reasonable efforts to advise 

the other Parties prior to making the disclosure). 
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                (d) No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall not 

confer any rights or remedies upon any Person other than the Parties and their 

respective successors and permitted assigns. 

 

                (e) Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the documents 

referred to herein) constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties and 

supersedes any prior understandings, agreements, or representations by or among 

the Parties, written or oral, to the extent they related in any way to the 

subject matter hereof. 

 

                (f) Succession and Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding 

upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties named herein and their respective 

successors and permitted assigns. No Party may assign either this Agreement or 

any of his rights, interests, or obligations hereunder without the prior written 

approval of the Buyer and the Seller Representatives; provided, however, that 

the Buyer may (i) assign any or all of its rights and interests hereunder to one 

or more of its Affiliates and (ii) designate one or more of its Affiliates to 

perform its obligations hereunder (in any or all of which cases the Buyer 

nonetheless shall remain responsible for the performance of all of its 

obligations hereunder). 

 

                (g) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which 

together will constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

                (h) Headings. The section headings contained in this Agreement 

are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or 

interpretation of this Agreement. 

 

                (i) Notices. All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other 

communications hereunder will be in writing. Any notice, request, demand, claim, 

or other communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given three business days 

after it is sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, 

postage prepaid, and addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below: 

 

                If to the Sellers or Seller Representatives: 

 

                      Dean L. Cook 

                      848 East 10th Street 

                      Mesa, AZ  85203 

 

                      David W. Corman 

                      882 South Coral Key Avenue 

                      Gilbert, AZ  85233 

 

                      Richard S. Torkington 

                      5447 East Capri Avenue 

                      Mesa, AZ  85206 
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               Copy to: 

 

                      Snell & Wilmer 

                      One Arizona Center 

                      Phoenix, AZ 85004-2202 

                      Fax No.: (602) 382-6070 

                      Attn:  Terry Roman, Esq. 

 

               If to the Buyer: 

 

                      ViaSat, Inc. 

                      6155 El Camino Real 

                      Carlsbad, CA 92009-1699 

                      Fax No.: (760) 929-3926 

                      Attn:  Keven K. Lippert, Esq. 

 

               Copy to: 

 

                      Latham & Watkins 

                      12636 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300 

                      San Diego, CA 92130-2071 

                      Fax No.: (858) 523-5450 

                      Attn:  Craig M. Garner, Esq. 

 

Any Party may send any notice, request, demand, claim, or other communication 

hereunder to the intended recipient at the address set forth above using any 

other means (including personal delivery, expedited courier, messenger service, 

telecopy, telex, ordinary mail, or electronic mail). Each such notice, request, 

demand, claim, or other communication shall be deemed to have been duly given 

(i) if by fax, when such fax has been transmitted to the fax number set forth in 

this Section 12(i) and evidence of receipt is received or (ii) if given by any 

other means, upon delivery or refusal of delivery at the address set forth in 

this Section 12(i). Any Party may change the address to which notices, requests, 

demands, claims, and other communications hereunder are to be delivered by 

giving the other Parties notice in the manner herein set forth. 

 

                (j) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and 

construed in accordance with the domestic laws of the State of California 

without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule 

(whether of the State of California or any other jurisdiction) that would cause 

the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of 

California. 

 

                (k) Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or waiver of any 

provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless the same shall be in writing 

and signed by the Buyer and the Seller Representatives. No waiver by any Party 

of any default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or covenant hereunder, 

whether intentional or not, shall be deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent 

default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or covenant hereunder or 

affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or subsequent such 

occurrence. 
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                (l) Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that 

is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not 

affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions 

hereof or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in 

any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. 

 

                (m) Expenses. Each of the Parties will bear his or its own costs 

and expenses (including legal fees and expenses) incurred in connection with 

this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. The Sellers agree that 

the Target has not borne and will not bear any of the Sellers' costs and 

expenses (including any of their investment advisor fees, legal fees and 

expenses) in connection with this Agreement or any of the transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

 

                (n) Termination of the Voting Trust Agreement. Each of the 

Sellers who are a party to that certain Voting Trust Agreement dated as of March 

27, 2000 hereby agrees that such Voting Trust Agreement shall be terminated as 

of the Closing Date. 

 

                (o) Construction. The Parties have participated jointly in the 

negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or 

question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed 

as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall 

arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any of 

the provisions of this Agreement. Any reference to any federal, state, local, or 

foreign statute or law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and 

regulations promulgated thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise. The 

word "including" shall mean including without limitation. The Parties intend 

that each representation, warranty, and covenant contained herein shall have 

independent significance. If any Party has breached any representation, 

warranty, or covenant contained herein in any respect, the fact that there 

exists another representation, warranty, or covenant relating to the same 

subject matter (regardless of the relative levels of specificity) that the Party 

has not breached shall not detract from or mitigate the fact that the Party is 

in breach of the first representation, warranty, or covenant. 

 

                (p) Incorporation of Exhibits, Annexes, and Schedules. The 

Exhibits, Annexes, and Schedules identified in this Agreement are incorporated 

herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

                (q) Specific Performance. Each of the Parties acknowledges and 

agrees that the other Parties would be damaged irreparably in the event any of 

the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their 

specific terms or otherwise are breached. Accordingly, each of the Parties 

agrees that the other Parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions 

to prevent breaches of the provisions of this Agreement and to enforce 

specifically this Agreement and the terms and provisions hereof in any action 

instituted in any court of the United States or any state thereof having 

jurisdiction over the Parties and the matter (subject to the provisions set 

forth in Section 12(r) below), in addition to any other remedy to which they may 

be entitled, at law or in equity. 

 

                (r) Mediation/Arbitration. If a dispute arises out of or relates 

to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, the Buyer and the Seller 

Representatives shall negotiate in good faith to settle such dispute, 

controversy or claim within fifteen (15) calendar days of notice 
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thereof. If the Buyer and the Seller Representatives are unable to resolve such 

dispute, controversy or claim arising out of this Agreement or the performance, 

breach or termination thereof within fifteen (15) calendar days, it shall be 

settled by arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of 

the American Arbitration Association. The place of arbitration shall be San 

Diego, California. The arbitration shall be conducted by a neutral arbitrator 

selected by mutual agreement of the Buyer and the Seller Representatives within 

ten days after notice by either party to the other requesting such arbitration. 

If the Buyer and the Seller Representatives fail to agree within ten days on the 

selection of the arbitrator, an arbitrator shall be promptly appointed by the 

American Arbitration Association. Prior to issuing a final arbitration award, 

the arbitrator shall provide the Buyer and the Seller Representatives with a 

preliminary ruling and allow the Buyer and the Seller Representatives a 

reasonable period (not to exceed five (5) business days) to respond in writing 

to the preliminary ruling. Judgment upon the arbitration award rendered may be 

entered in any court having jurisdiction. The prevailing party shall be entitled 

to all costs of arbitration including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' 

fees and out-of-pocket expenses. The Parties further agree that they shall be 

entitled to discovery in the same manner as though the dispute were within the 

jurisdiction of the Superior Court of the State of California. Except as 

otherwise required by law (or by the fiduciary duties of the Buyer's directors), 

all information resulting from or otherwise pertaining to any dispute shall be 

nonpublic and handled by the Buyer, the Seller and their respective agents in 

such a way as to prevent the public disclosure of such information. 
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        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement on 

as of the date first above written. 

 

BUYER:                                      SELLERS: 

 

VIASAT, INC., a Delaware corporation 

 

By: /s/ Gregory D. Monahan                  By: /s/ Michael R. Lyons 

   --------------------------------            --------------------------------- 

Name:  Gregory D. Monahan                   Name:    Michael R. Lyons 

Title: Vice President-Administration,       Address: 1140 W. Mesquite Street 

       General Counsel and Secretary                 Gilbert, AZ 85233 

 

 

SELLERS: 

 

By: /s/ Bill T. Agar                        By: /s/ John M. Pietz 

   --------------------------------            -------------------------------- 

Name:    Bill T. Agar                       Name:    John M. Pietz 

Address: 1493 South Brentwood Court         Address: 1016 East 9th Street 

         Chandler, AZ 85248                          Mesa, AZ 85203 

 

By: /s/ Kenneth V. Buer                     By: /s/  Edwin J. Stanfield 

   --------------------------------            -------------------------------- 

Name:    Kenneth V. Buer                    Name:    Edwin J. Stanfield 

Address: 1297 East Eli Court                Address: 19440 Via De Olivos 

         Gilbert, AZ 85296                           Queen Creek, AZ 85242 

 

By: /s/ Dean L. Cook                        By: /s/  Richard S. Torkington 

   --------------------------------            -------------------------------- 

Name:    Dean L. Cook                       Name:    Richard S. Torkington 

Address: 848 East 10th Street               Address: 5447 East Capri Avenue 

         Mesa, AZ 85203                              Mesa, AZ 85206 

 

By: /s/ David W. Corman                     By: /s/ John E. Davis 

   --------------------------------            -------------------------------- 

Name:    David W. Corman                    Name:    John E. Davis 

Address: 882 South Coral Key Avenue         Address: 323 Cazador Lane 

         Gilbert, AZ 85233                           San Clemente, CA 92673 

 

By: /s/ Deborah S. Dendy                    By: /s/ Richard Kraemer 

   --------------------------------            -------------------------------- 

Name:    Deborah S. Dendy                   Name:    Richard Kraemer 

Address: 1610 East Laura Lane               Address: 2796 Grande Valley Drive 

         Tempe, AZ 85283                             Las Vegas, NV 89135 

 

By: /s/ Phillip J. Denisuk 

   -------------------------------- 

Name:    Phillip J. Denisuk 

Address: 1816 West Marlboro Drive 

         Chandler, AZ 85224 

 

By: /s/ Christopher D. Grondahl 

   -------------------------------- 

Name:    Christopher D. Grondahl 

Address: 1062 East Sheffield Avenue 

         Chandler, AZ 85225 
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                         INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT 

 

We consent to the use in this current report on Form 8-K of ViaSat, Inc. of our 

report dated February 12, 2001 relating to the financial statements of U.S. 

Monolithics, L.L.C. for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999. 

 

 

NELSON LAMBSON & CO., PLC 

 

Mesa, Arizona 

December 19, 2001 

 



 

                                                                EXHIBIT 99.1 

 

NEWS                                                            December17, 2001 

 

                                                                Contact: 

                                                                Barb Mason 

                                                                ViaSat Inc. 

                                                                760-476-2633 

                                                                www.viasat.com 

 

                        VIASAT TO ACQUIRE US MONOLITHICS 

 

        CARLSBAD, CA -- ViaSat Inc. (Nasdaq:  VSAT) will acquire US Monolithics, 

LLC (USM),  a  privately  held  company  focused  on  designing  high  frequency 

broadband  technology,  for cash and stock with an  aggregate  current  value of 

approximately  $30 million (based on current market  prices).  ViaSat will issue 

approximately 1.1 million shares of ViaSat common stock in the transaction.  The 

acquisition  will be completed in two steps.  ViaSat completed the first step by 

acquiring 100% of the preferred units of USM (representing  approximately 35% of 

USM's  outstanding  units) held by WildBlue  Communications  -- a privately held 

Ka-band broadband satellite  communications service provider.  ViaSat expects to 

complete the second step by acquiring  the common units of USM early in the next 

quarter, subject to customary closing conditions. 

 

        Founded in 1998,  USM is  primarily  focused on  developing  proprietary 

gallium arsenide (GaAs) millimeter wave Integrated  Circuits  (MMICs).  USM is a 

MMIC designer with strong talent in the packaging and  integration of subsystems 

including  power  amplifiers,   block  upconverters  and  entire   transceivers, 

especially  in  complex   high-frequency   applications.   USM  is  a  "fabless" 

chip-maker,  meaning  it uses a wide  range  of  commercial  GaAs  foundries  to 

manufacture its products.  For more background information relating to USM go to 

www.usmonolithics.com. 

 

        "This acquisition  complements  virtually all of ViaSat's  satellite and 

defense  radio  systems and  products,"  said Mark  Dankberg,  ViaSat  chairman, 

president and CEO. "USM extends  ViaSat's  existing  strengths in digital signal 

processing  and  networking  software into highly  innovative  and integrated RF 

designs up to and including  Ka-band and military EHF  frequencies.  We have the 

opportunity to improve our product offerings almost across the board 

 

                                    --more-- 
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as well as increase  our  competitiveness  in winning  significant  new military 

defense and commercial broadband projects." 

 

        Dave Corman,  chairman,  president and CEO of USM, stated,  "We are very 

excited to join ViaSat.  They have a technology  and business  culture where our 

employees  can  thrive,  and  there are many  opportunities  for us to apply our 

talents to help program performance and lower product costs." 

 

        "This is an excellent  fit of  technology  and culture.  The USM team is 

focused on improving  the  cost/performance  ratio in an area where the industry 

needs  improvements to hit the price targets for satellite  service  providers," 

said Rick  Baldridge,  ViaSat COO.  Baldridge  also  stated,  "We expect the new 

subsidiary to become  accretive on a quarterly  basis within the first year with 

strong performance in year two and beyond." 

 

        In  connection  with this  acquisition,  ViaSat  also  restructured  its 

agreement with WildBlue for the development and manufacture of satellite  modems 

and satellite modem termination  systems (SMTS) for the planned WildBlue Ka-band 

broadband  satellite  system.  Under the terms of this  restructured  agreement, 

ViaSat will develop and produce complete  consumer/SOHO  satellite terminals and 

SMTSs for the  WildBlue  service,  which  substantially  increases  the scope of 

ViaSat's responsibility for this system. 

 

        ViaSat  produces  advanced  digital  satellite   telecommunications  and 

wireless  signal  processing  equipment for commercial  and government  markets. 

ViaSat has a full line of VSAT products for data and voice applications.  ViaSat 

is a market leader in Ka-band  satellite  systems,  from user terminals to large 

gateways for both  geosynchronous  and low earth orbit  systems.  Other products 

include  network  security  devices,  tactical  data radios,  and  communication 

simulators.  ViaSat has locations in Carlsbad,  CA, and Norcross, GA, along with 

its Comsat Laboratories division in Clarksburg, MD. Additional field offices are 

located in Boston, MA, the United Kingdom, Australia, Chile, China, and India. 

 

                                    --more-- 
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT 

 

        Portions  of  this  release  may  contain   forward-looking   statements 

regarding  future  events  and are  subject to risks and  uncertainties.  ViaSat 

wishes to  caution  you that there are some  factors  that  could  cause  actual 

results to differ  materially,  including  but not  limited  to:  risks that the 

acquisition  of USM may not be completed on the terms provided in the agreements 

or in this press release or at all; risks that the acquired  operations will not 

be  integrated  successfully,  or that the benefits  expected to result from the 

acquisition will not materialize;  risks that  technologies may not be developed 

according to anticipated schedules or may not perform according to expectations; 

economic  conditions;  the  competitive  environment  in  which  the  companies' 

operate;  and other factors  affecting the  communications  industry  generally. 

ViaSat  refers  you to the  documents  it  files  from  time  to time  with  the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, specifically the section titled Factors That 

May Affect Future Performance in ViaSat's Form 10-K. These documents contain and 

identify  other  important  factors  that could cause  actual  results to differ 

materially  from  those   contained  in  our   projections  or   forward-looking 

statements.  Stockholders  and other  readers are  cautioned  not to place undue 

reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date on 

which they are made. We undertake no obligation to update publicly or revise any 

forward-looking statements. 

 

Comsat Labs and Comsat  Laboratories  are  tradenames  of ViaSat,  Inc.  Neither 

Comsat Labs nor Comsat  Laboratories  is  affiliated  with  COMSAT  Corporation. 

"Comsat" is a registered trademark of COMSAT Corporation. 
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                          INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 

 

To the Members of 

U.S. Monolithics, L.L.C. 

 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of U.S. Monolithics, L.L.C. (an 

Arizona limited liability company) as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the 

related statements of operations, changes in members' equity and cash flows for 

the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 

Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audits. 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 

in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 

test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 

reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in 

all material respects, the financial position of U.S. Monolithics, L.L.C. as of 

December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 

for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America. 

 

 

NELSON LAMBSON & CO., PLC 

Mesa, Arizona 

February 12, 2001 

 



 

 

                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                                 BALANCE SHEETS 

                           December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

 

 

                                                            2000         1999 

                                                         ----------   ---------- 

                                                                 

                                     ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 

  Cash and cash equivalents                              $3,511,332   $   42,848 

  Accounts receivable                                        47,790      100,160 

  Due from members                                           20,353         -- 

  Prepaid expenses                                           28,818        4,658 

  Other assets                                                 --          1,978 

                                                         ----------   ---------- 

       Total current assets                               3,608,293      149,644 

PROPERTY, net                                             1,630,500      116,037 

                                                         ----------   ---------- 

                                                         $5,238,793   $  265,681 

                                                         ==========   ========== 

 

                        LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

  Current portion of obligations under capital leases    $  379,536   $   27,619 

  Accounts payable                                          110,830       28,189 

  Accrued liabilities                                       157,031       48,317 

  Deferred revenue                                             --          7,500 

                                                         ----------   ---------- 

       Total current liabilities                            647,397      111,625 

OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES, 

  less current portion                                      638,936       33,112 

                                                         ----------   ---------- 

       Total liabilities                                  1,286,333      144,737 

                                                         ----------   ---------- 

MEMBERS' EQUITY                                           3,952,460      120,944 

                                                         ----------   ---------- 

                                                         $5,238,793   $  265,681 

                                                         ==========   ========== 

 

 

   The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                            STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

                 For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

 

 

                                                      2000              1999 

                                                  -----------       ----------- 

                                                               

REVENUE                                           $   350,847       $   517,396 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES                 3,130,894           345,291 

                                                  -----------       ----------- 

      Operating income (loss)                      (2,780,047)          172,105 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) 

  Interest income                                     182,261              -- 

  Interest expense                                    (52,638)           (5,112) 

                                                  -----------       ----------- 

      Other income (expense), net                     129,623            (5,112) 

                                                  -----------       ----------- 

NET INCOME (LOSS)                                 $(2,650,424)      $   166,993 

                                                  ===========       =========== 

 

 

   The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                    STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITY 

                 For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

 

 

                                Class "A"      Class "B"       Offering 

                                  Units          Units          Costs          Total 

                               -----------    -----------    -----------    ----------- 

                                                                 

Balance at December 31, 1998   $    11,458    $      --      $      --      $    11,458 

  Capital contributions             14,718           --             --           14,718 

  Distributions to members         (72,225)          --             --          (72,225) 

  Net income                       166,993           --             --          166,993 

                               -----------    -----------    -----------    ----------- 

Balance at December 31, 1999       120,944           --             --          120,944 

  Capital contributions             17,160      6,500,000        (35,220)     6,481,940 

  Net loss                      (1,956,379)      (694,045)          --       (2,650,424) 

                               -----------    -----------    -----------    ----------- 

Balance at December 31, 2000   $(1,818,275)   $ 5,805,955    $   (35,220)   $ 3,952,460 

                               ===========    ===========    ===========    =========== 

 

 

 

   The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                            STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

                 For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

 

 

                                                                  2000          1999 

                                                              -----------    ----------- 

                                                                        

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

  Net income (loss)                                           $(2,650,424)   $   166,993 

  Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net 

   cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 

     Depreciation                                                 242,385         34,886 

     (Increase) decrease in: 

      Accounts receivable                                          52,370       (100,160) 

      Due from members                                            (20,353)          -- 

      Prepaid expenses                                            (24,160)        (4,658) 

      Other assets                                                  1,978         (1,553) 

     Increase (decrease) in: 

      Accounts payable                                             82,641         28,189 

      Accrued liabilities                                         108,714         48,317 

      Deferred revenue                                             (7,500)         7,500 

                                                              -----------    ----------- 

        Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    (2,214,349)       179,514 

                                                              -----------    ----------- 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

  Purchases of property                                          (621,149)       (68,044) 

                                                              -----------    ----------- 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

  Payments on obligations under capital leases                   (177,958)       (14,161) 

  Capital contributions                                         6,481,940         14,718 

  Distributions to members                                           --          (72,225) 

                                                              -----------    ----------- 

        Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     6,303,982        (71,668) 

                                                              -----------    ----------- 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents                       3,468,484         39,802 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of year                      42,848          3,046 

                                                              -----------    ----------- 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of year                       $ 3,511,332    $    42,848 

                                                              ===========    =========== 

 

 

   The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                         NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

                           December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

 

(1)     OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

        Operations 

 

        U.S.  Monolithics,  L.L.C. (the Company) was organized under the laws of 

the state of Arizona in November 1998. The Company engages in engineering design 

and  consulting in wireless  communications  and  microwave and  millimeter-wave 

technology. 

 

        Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

        For purposes of reporting the statements of cash flows, the Company 

considers all highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three 

months or less to be cash equivalents. 

 

        Accounts Receivable 

 

        Management considers all accounts receivable to be fully collectible. 

Accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts is provided in the accompanying 

financial statements. 

 

        The Company does not require collateral on accounts receivable balances. 

 

        Income Taxes 

 

        The Company is not a tax-paying entity for federal or state income tax 

purposes, and thus no income tax provision or liability for income taxes has 

been recorded in the accompanying financial statements. Instead, the members are 

taxed on their proportionate shares of the Company's taxable income. 

 

        Advertising 

 

        Advertising costs are expensed as they are incurred. There were no 

advertising expenses for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999. 

 

(2)     ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 

the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those 

estimates. 
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                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                         NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

                           December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

(3)     PROPERTY 

 

        Property is stated at cost and is depreciated using the straight-line 

method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging from 2-15 years. 

Depreciation expense was approximately $242,000 and $35,000 for the years ended 

December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. 

 

        Property consisted of the following at December 31: 

 

 

 

 

                                                      2000             1999 

                                                   -----------      ----------- 

                                                               

Office equipment and furniture                     $    32,510      $       764 

Test equipment                                       1,030,292             -- 

Computer equipment                                     252,538           27,119 

Computer software                                      591,289          125,037 

Construction-in-progress                                 3,139             -- 

                                                   -----------      ----------- 

   Total property                                    1,909,768          152,920 

     Less - Accumulated depreciation                  (279,268)         (36,883) 

                                                   -----------      ----------- 

   Property, net                                   $ 1,630,500      $   116,037 

                                                   ===========      =========== 

 

 

 

 

(4)     OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES 

 

        The Company has entered into computer equipment and software lease 

agreements which expire through October 2003. Amortization expense on these 

capital leases is included in depreciation expense. The gross amount of assets 

recorded under these capital leases was approximately $1,218,000 and $82,000 and 

the related accumulated amortization was approximately $151,000 and $19,000 as 

of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Future minimum lease payments on 

obligations under capital leases are scheduled as follows: 

 

 

 

Year Ending 

December 31 

                                                                    

   2001                                                               $  476,466 

   2002                                                                  451,634 

   2003                                                                  249,464 

                                                                      ---------- 

     Total future minimum lease payments                               1,177,564 

       Less - Amount representing interest                              (159,092) 

                                                                      ---------- 

     Present value of future minimum lease payments                    1,018,472 

       Less - Current portion                                           (379,536) 

                                                                      ---------- 

     Obligations under capital leases, less current portion           $  638,936 

                                                                      ========== 
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                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                         NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

                           December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

(5)     MEMBERS' EQUITY 

 

        Member Allocations and Distributions 

 

        Profits and losses are allocated to the members based on the number of 

units they own, as defined in the Operating Agreement. Allocations are made to 

Class A units first and then to Class B units. Losses can only be allocated to 

the extent that there is capital. At December 31, 2000, there were Class A and 

Class B units. 

 

        Class A Units Issued 

 

        In March 2000, the Company amended its operating agreement and increased 

its authorized units from 15,000 to 30,000,000. The Company then issued Class A 

units to certain employees. A total of 6,600,000 Class A units were issued at a 

purchase price of $17,160. These units represent approximately 22% of total 

Class A units. 

 

        Sale of Units 

 

        In March, July and October 2000, the Company sold 11,307,690, 3,230,770 

and 1,615,385 Class B units, respectively, to a third party investor. A total of 

16,153,845 Class B units was sold at a total sales price of $6,500,000. These 

units represent approximately 35% of the voting and economic interests in the 

Company. 

 

        Unit Split 

 

        In October 2000, the Company authorized a five for one unit split. 

Accordingly, all references in the financial statements to number of units have 

been restated to reflect this unit split. 

 

(6)     UNIT OPTION PLAN 

 

        In October 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 unit incentive plan, under 

which options may be granted to employees, advisors and consultants of the 

Company. The units available for grant of options under the plan are the 

Company's reserved but unissued Class A units. The aggregate number of units 

that may be issued pursuant to exercise of options granted under the plan is 

5,000,000 units. The exercise price for a unit may be any amount as determined 

by the managers and shall not be less than fair market value as determined by 

the managers on the date the option is granted. However, the managers may at 

their discretion, grant options with an exercise price less than fair market 

value on the date of the grant. An option's maximum term is ten years. The 

vesting period on options will be determined by the managers. 
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                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                         NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

                           December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

(6)     UNIT OPTION PLAN (continued) 

 

        The status of the plan was as follows at December 31, 2000 and for the 

year then ended: 

 

 

 

                                                        Number of   Option 

                                                          Units      Price 

                                                        ---------   ------ 

                                                               

        Outstanding at December 31, 1999                     --     $ -- 

        Granted                                           704,000    0.363 

        Exercised                                            --       -- 

                                                         --------   ------ 

        Outstanding at December 31, 2000                  704,000    0.363 

                                                         ========   ====== 

        Options exercisable at December 31, 2000             --       -- 

                                                         ========   ====== 

        Weighted average fair value per unit of options 

          granted during 2000                            $  0.363 

                                                         ======== 

 

 

        The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 in 

accounting for its unit option plan. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been 

recognized in 2000. Had compensation cost been determined on the basis of fair 

value pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, the 

Company's net loss would not have been materially effected. 

 

        The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the grant date 

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following assumptions were 

made in estimating fair value: 

 

 

                                                                

        Risk-free interest rate                                       6.0% 

        Expected life                                             10 years 

        Dividend yield                                                0.0% 

        Volatility                                                    0.0% 

 

 

(7)     OPERATING LEASES 

 

        The Company is obligated under non-cancelable operating leases for 

office space. The escalating monthly payments, including fees and taxes, 

required on this lease are currently approximately $9,100 and the leases expire 

in February 2003. Total rent expense was approximately $110,000 and $13,000 

during the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Future minimum 

lease payments under these leases are as follows: 

 

 

 

Year Ending 

December 31 

- ----------- 

                                                    

   2002                                               $146,828 

   2003                                                150,929 

   2004                                                 92,422 

                                                      -------- 

     Total future minimum lease payments              $390,179 

                                                      ======== 
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                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                         NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

                           December 31, 2000 and 1999 

 

(8)     SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 

        Cash paid for interest for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, 

was approximately $52,000 and $5,000, respectively. 

 

        The Company acquired approximately $1,136,000 and $82,000 in property 

through capital lease obligations during the years ended December 31, 2000 and 

1999, respectively. 

 

(10)    CONCENTRATIONS 

 

        Cash Deposits 

 

        The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, 

may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses 

in such accounts. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant 

credit risk on cash balances. At December 31, 2000, the Company had no uninsured 

bank balances. 

 

        Major customers 

 

        During the year ended December 31, 2000, two customers each comprised 

10% or more of the Company's total sales. Sales to these customers represented 

approximately 99% of total sales for the year. Accounts receivable due from 

these major customers at December 31, 2000 totaled approximately $48,000. 

 

        Major Suppliers 

 

        During the year ended December 31, 2000, two suppliers each comprised 

more than 10% of the Company's total purchases. Purchases from those suppliers 

represented approximately 19% and 11% of total purchases for the year ended 

December 31, 2000. 
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 99.3 

 

 

                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                                  BALANCE SHEET 

                               SEPTEMBER 30, 2001 

                                   (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

                                                                  

ASSETS 

 

Current assets: 

  Cash and cash equivalents                                         $   769,373 

  Accounts receivable, net                                              127,515 

                                                                    ----------- 

     Total current assets                                               896,888 

Property and equipment, net                                           1,592,708 

Other assets                                                             22,747 

                                                                    ----------- 

          Total assets                                              $ 2,512,343 

                                                                    =========== 

 

 

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY 

 

Current liabilities: 

  Accounts payable                                                  $   204,242 

  Accrued liabilities                                                   455,751 

  Note payable                                                          500,000 

  Current portion of capital leases                                     449,804 

                                                                    ----------- 

     Total current liabilities                                        1,609,797 

Obligations under capital leases                                        401,107 

                                                                    ----------- 

     Total liabilities                                                2,010,904 

 

     Members' equity                                                    501,439 

                                                                    ----------- 

               Total liabilities and members' equity                $ 2,512,343 

                                                                    =========== 

 

 

 



 

 

                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                                INCOME STATEMENT 

                  FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2001 

                                   (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

                                                           

      Revenue                                                $   700,622 

 

      General and administrative expenses                      4,135,911 

                                                             ----------- 

 

      Operating (loss)                                        (3,435,289) 

 

      Interest income                                             64,160 

      Interest expense                                           (79,892) 

                                                             ----------- 

 

      Net income (loss)                                      $(3,451,021) 

                                                             =========== 

 

 

 



 

 

                            U.S. MONOLITHICS, L.L.C. 

                             STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

                  FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2001 

                                   (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

                                                                  

Cash flows from operating activities: 

 

  Net (loss)                                                        $(3,451,021) 

  Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) 

    to net cash used in operating activities: 

    Depreciation                                                        324,673 

  Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in: 

 

    Accounts receivable                                                 (59,372) 

    Other current assets                                                 28,818 

    Other assets                                                        (22,747) 

    Accounts payable                                                    114,910 

    Accrued liabilities                                                 298,720 

                                                                    ----------- 

     Net cash (used in) operating activities                         (2,766,019) 

                                                                    ----------- 

 

Cash flows from investing activities: 

 

  Purchases of property and equipment                                  (163,158) 

                                                                    ----------- 

     Net cash used in investing activities                             (163,158) 

                                                                    ----------- 

 

Cash flows from financing activities: 

 

  Payments on obligations under capital leases                         (312,782) 

  Borrowings  under short-term debt                                     500,000 

                                                                    ----------- 

     Net cash provided by financing activities                          187,218 

                                                                    ----------- 

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                          (2,741,959) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                      3,511,332 

                                                                    ----------- 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                          $   769,373 

                                                                    =========== 

 

 

 


